
  
 
 
 
 

AGENDA 
 

REGULATION COMMITTEE 
 
 

Wednesday, 7th September, 2011, at 10.00 
am 

Ask for: Andrew Tait 

Council Chamber, Sessions House, County 
Hall, Maidstone 

Telephone 01622 694342 

   
Tea/Coffee will be available15 minutes before the start of the meeting. 

 
Membership (17) 
 
Conservative (15): Mr M J Harrison (Chairman), Mr A D Crowther (Vice-Chairman), 

Mr A H T Bowles, Mr R E Brookbank, Mr C J Capon, Mr H J Craske, 
Mr J M Cubitt, Mr J A Davies, Mr T Gates, Mr S Manion, 
Mr R F Manning, Mr J M Ozog, Mr R A Pascoe, Mr J N Wedgbury  
Mr M J Whiting 
 

Liberal Democrat (1): Mr S J G Koowaree 
 

Independent (1) Mr R J Lees 
 

 
 

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS 
(During these items the meeting is likely to be open to the public) 

 
 

1. Substitutes  

2. Declarations of Interests by Members in items on the Agenda for this meeting.  

3. Minutes ( 1 - 22) 

 (a) Committee: 17 May 2011 
(b) Member Panel: 13 June 2011 

28 June 2011 
12 July 2011 
19 July 2011 

  
 

4. Dates of meetings in 2012  

 Tuesday, 24 January 2012 
Tuesday, 15 May 2012 
Wednesday, 5 September 2012 
  
 



5. Transport Appeals Terms of Reference - Verbal Update  

6. Transport Appeal Statistics ( 23 - 26) 

7. Update on Village Green Issues ( 27 - 32) 

8. Update on the Definitive Map Team casework ( 33 - 56) 

9. Gating Orders - Un-named footpath to the rear of Henley Fields, Tenterden ( 57 - 
60) 

10. Update on Planning Enforcement Issues ( 61 - 90) 

11. Other Items which the Chairman decides are Urgent  

 

EXEMPT ITEMS 

(At the time of preparing the agenda there were no exempt items.  During any such items 
which may arise the meeting is likely NOT to be open to the public) 

 
Peter Sass 
Head of Democratic Services  
(01622) 694002 
 

 
Tuesday, 30 August 2011 
 
 
Please note that any background documents referred to in the accompanying papers 
maybe inspected by arrangement with the officer responsible for preparing the relevant 
report. 
 



 

KENT COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

 

REGULATION COMMITTEE 
 
MINUTES of a meeting of the Regulation Committee held in the Council Chamber, 
Sessions House, County Hall, Maidstone on Tuesday, 17 May 2011. 
 
PRESENT: Mr M J Harrison (Chairman) Mr A D Crowther (Vice-Chairman) 
Mr R Brookbank, Mr C J Capon, Mr H J Craske, Mr J M Cubitt, Mr J A Davies, 
Mr K A Ferrin, MBE (Substitute for Mr A H T Bowles), Mr T Gates, 
Mr S J G Koowaree, Mr R J Lees, Mr S Manion, Mr R F Manning, Mr J M Ozog, 
Mr J N Wedgbury  Mr M J Whiting 
 
ALSO PRESENT: Mr P J Homewood   
 
IN ATTENDANCE: Mr G Rudd (Assistant Democratic Services Manager), 
Mr C Wade (Countryside Access Principal Case Officer), Miss M McNeir (Public 
Rights Of Way and Commons Registration Officer), Mrs S Thompson (Head of 
Planning Applications Group), Mr R Gregory (Principal Planning Officer - 
Enforcement)  Mr A Tait (Democratic Services Officer) 
 
 

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS 
 
10. Terms of Reference  
(Item 3) 
 
The Committee noted its new Term of Reference (b): 
 
“all Commons Registration functions under Part 1 of the Commons Act 2006 and the 
Commons Registration (England) Regulations 2008.”  
 
11. Minutes  
(Item 4) 
 
RESOLVED that the Minutes of the Committee meeting held on 25 January 2011, the 
Member Panel meetings held on 8 February 2011 and 22 February 2011 and the 
Mental Health Guardianship Panel meeting held on 21 January 2011 are correctly 
recorded and that they be signed by the Chairman.   
 
12. Update on Home to School Transport Appeals (Oral Report)  
(Item 5) 
 
(1)  Mr S C Manion and Mr J N Wedgbury made declarations of Personal Interest 
as their children were or were about to receive transport assistance.  
 
(2)  The Assistant Democratic Services Manager tabled a brief report setting out 
the number of Home to School Transport Appeals heard between 1 January and 30 
April 2011.  He also tabled a response from the Director of Governance and Law on a 
question of the legal basis for Transport appeals.  
 

Agenda Item 3

Page 1



 

(3)  The Committee noted that any review of Home to School Transport policy 
would be commissioned by the Education, Learning and Skills Policy Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee.  
 
(4)  RESOLVED that the report be noted.  
 
13. Update from the Commons Registration Team  
(Item 6) 
 
(1)  The Public Rights of Way and Commons Registration Officer informed the 
Committee that a half day seminar for District Councils was being arranged on the 
topic of Village Greens.  She would inform all Members of the Committee of the 
details once they were finalised.   
 
(2)  RESOLVED that:-  
 

(a) the report be received; and  
 
(b) a proposal be initiated under section 19 of the Commons Act 2006 to 

correct an error in the Register of Village Greens in relation to VG235 at 
Wittersham. 

 
 
14. Update on recent Public Rights of Way cases  
(Item 7) 
 
(1)  The Public Rights of Way Principal Case Officer updated the Committee on 
the cases of the Claimed Public Footpaths on the former Bayham Estate in 
Tunbridge Wells and on the proposed diversion of Public Footpath SD284 at West 
Kingsdown.  
 
(2)  RESOLVED that the report be received 
 
15. Update on Planning Enforcement Issues  
(Item 8) 
 
(1)  Mr P J Homewood was present for this item pursuant to Committee Procedure 
Rule 2.24 and spoke. 
 
(2)  The Head of Planning Applications Group reported the receipt of a letter of 
response from the Minister for Decentralisation, The Rt Hon Greg Clark MP to 
representations made by the County Council seeking improved planning enforcement 
powers in the context of the Localism Bill.   The Chairman offered to provide each 
Member of the Committee with a copy of the letter.  
 
(3)  The Committee agreed to endorse the Head of Planning Applications Group’s 
draft Policy 1 (set out in Paragraph 13 of the report) for inclusion within the Emerging 
Minerals and Waste Development Framework.  
 
(4)  RESOLVED that:- 
 

Page 2



 

(a) the Head of Planning Applications Group’s draft Policy 1 (set out in 
Paragraph 13 of the report) be endorsed for inclusion within the 
Emerging Minerals and Waste Development Framework; and  

 
(b) the actions taken or contemplated on the respective cases set out in 

paragraphs 5 to 26 of the report be endorsed, together with those 
contained within Schedules 1, 2 and 3  as set out in Appendices 1, 2 
and 3 of the report. 

 
 

EXEMPT ITEMS 
(Open Access to Minutes) 

(Members resolved under Section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972 
that the public be excluded from the meeting for the following business on the 
grounds that it involved the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined 
in paragraphs 5 and 6 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.) 

 
16. Enforcement Strategy for Four Gun Field, Otterham Quay Lane, Upchurch  
(Item 11) 
 
(1)  The Head of Planning Applications Group reported the latest enforcement 
strategy concerning the Four Gun Field site in Otterham Quay Lane, Upchurch.  
 
(2) RESOLVED that the enforcement strategy outlined in paragraphs 7 to 20 of 

the report be endorsed, with particular emphasis on the aspects set out in 
paragraphs 18 and 19.  

 
 
 

Page 3



Page 4

This page is intentionally left blank



 

KENT COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

 

REGULATION COMMITTEE MEMBER PANEL 
 
MINUTES of a meeting of the Regulation Committee Member Panel held in the Kings 
Hall, Herne Bay on Monday, 13 June 2011. 
 
PRESENT: Mr M J Harrison (Chairman), Mr A D Crowther (Vice-Chairman), 
Mr S J G Koowaree, Mr R J Lees  Mr R A Pascoe 
 
ALSO PRESENT: Mrs J P Law 
 
IN ATTENDANCE: Mr C Wade (Countryside Access Principal Case Officer), 
Miss M McNeir (Public Rights Of Way and Commons Registration Officer)  Mr A Tait 
(Democratic Services Officer) 
 

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS 
 
9. Application to register land at Hartley Woods, Hartley as a new Village 
Green (Voluntary Registration)  
(Item 3) 
 
(1)  The Public Rights of Way Officer briefly explained that a large part of Hartley 
Woods in the ownership of Southwark LB had been registered in 2009.  As a 
consequence, Hartley PC had offered to voluntarily register the remainder of the land 
which was under its ownership.  
 
(2)  As this was a voluntary registration, the only matters for the Panel to consider 
were whether the applicants actually owned the land; and whether use of the land 
would be by people living in a locality.   
 
(3)  The necessary checks had proved that Hartley PC was indeed the landowner, 
whilst it was appropriate that the locality should be defined as the civil parish of 
Hartley.  
 
(4)  On being put to the vote, the recommendations of the Head of Countryside 
Service were unanimously agreed.  
 
(5)  RESOLVED that the applicant be informed that the application to register the 

land at Hartley Woods in Hartley has been accepted, and that the land subject 
to the application be formally registered as a Village Green.  

 
 
10. Application to register land known as The Downs at Herne Bay as a new 
Town Green  
(Item 4) 
 
(1)  Members of the Panel visited the application site shortly before the meeting.   
Mr P Rose, the applicant and Ms R McIntyre were present.  
 
(2)  Mrs J N Law was present for this item pursuant to Committee Procedure 2.24.    

Page 5



 

 
(3)  Also present at the meeting were Mr P Rose (applicant) and Ms R McIntyre 
(supporter), Mrs J Taylor (Legal Services – Canterbury CC) and Mrs R Doyle 
(Canterbury CC Portfolio Holder for Environment and Street Scene).  
 
(4)  The Public Rights of Way Officer introduced the application, which had been 
made under Section 15 of the Commons Act 2006.  She informed the Panel that it 
had been accompanied by more than 1000 user evidence questionnaires, three 
letters of support and a petition containing 70 signatures.   
 
(5)  Ownership of the land was predominantly by Canterbury City Council who had 
objected that the land was not capable of being registered.    
 
(6)  In 1970 the Commons Commissioner had determined that the land (which at 
that time was mainly owned by Herne Bay Urban District Council) should not be 
registered.  
 
(7)  The Public Rights of Way Officer briefly explained that there was no dispute 
that the land had been used for lawful sports and pastimes by a significant number of 
inhabitants in the locality of Herne Bay for a period of over twenty years up to the 
date of the application.  The outstanding issue was whether it has been used “as of 
right”. 
 
(8)  The Public Rights of Way Officer explained that in order for use of the land to 
have been “as of right”; use would have needed to be without force, stealth or 
permission.  It was clear that neither force nor stealth had been used.  The critical 
question was whether it had been used without permission. 
 
(9)  In order to ascertain whether use had been with or without permission, it was 
necessary to investigate the purposes for and powers under which it had been 
acquired.   The City Council’s records were incomplete in this regard, although it 
claimed that the land had mainly been acquired under the Public Health Act 1875 as 
open space for the use and enjoyment of the public.    
 
(10)  The Public Rights of Way Officer said that such land as had been acquired 
under the 1875 Act would, in her and Counsel’s opinion, be incapable of registration 
as use would have been “by right” rather than “as of right.”   She added that the 
applicant disputed this interpretation of the Law and that it had never been tested in 
the Courts.  
 
(11)   The Public Rights of Way Officer then said that the applicant had argued that it 
would be wrong to place reliance on entries in the Register of Council-owned land 
which referred to “presumably Public Health Act 1875.”   
 
(12)   The Public Rights of Way Officer concluded her presentation by saying that 
Counsel had advised that there were a large number of unanswered questions in 
respect of how the land was held by the City Council. The best solution would be to 
hold a Non-Statutory Public Inquiry as this would enable the individual parcels of land 
to be examined in more detail.   She therefore recommended accordingly.   
 
(13)  Mrs Law asked whether the petition was used as evidence as some of the 
signatories lived outside the locality of Herne Bay.  The Public Rights of Way Officer 

Page 6



 

replied that the petition was merely a request to Canterbury City Council to support 
the application. It was the User Evidence forms which had enabled the locality to be 
identified.  
 
(14)  Mrs J Taylor (Canterbury City Council) explained that the parcels of land had 
originally been acquired by Herne Bay Urban District Council.  The records had been 
damaged during the floods of 1953.   
 
(15)  Mr Pascoe asked why the Byelaws were considered to be important. The 
Public Rights of Way Officer replied that their significance was that they purported to 
show that the land had been acquired under the Public Health Act 1875.   
 
(16)  Mr Rose (applicant) requested the Panel to register the land as a Village 
Green without going to a non-statutory Inquiry.   In support of this request, he said 
that his legal advisor disputed that land acquired under the Public Health Act 1875 
could not be registered as a Village Green.   
 
(17)  Mr Rose then said that he also disputed that the land was held under the 1875 
Act.  He quoted Vivian Chapman QC in support of his view that it was incumbent on 
Canterbury CC to prove that it held the land under the 1875 Act and that the Panel 
should not allow the City Council to assert that this might be the case and then claim 
that the applicant needed to disprove it.  In this instance, the City Council could only 
demonstrate that 3% of the land in question was held under that Act.  
 
(18)  Mr Rose continued by saying that the City Council itself agreed that 50% of 
the application was not held under the 1875 Act. It was either not registered to the 
Council, or it was registered as a “long user” or had been acquired under the Coast 
Protection Act.   
 
(19)  Mr Rose then said that although the City Council claimed that it owned the 
other 50% of the land by virtue of the 1875 Act, it had failed to provide the necessary 
evidence to this effect in the 21 months since the application had been made.  It was 
therefore unlikely that they would ever be able to do so.   
 
(20)  Mr Rose spoke in detail about the various parcels of land. He provided the 
Panel with a laminated map, accepting the Chairman’s observation that one of the 
title numbers was incorrect.  
 
(21)  Members of the Panel considered that they did not have sufficient detailed 
evidence to make a decision at this point and unanimously agreed the Head of 
Countryside Access Service’s recommendations. 
 
(22)  RESOLVED that a non-statutory Public Inquiry be held into the case to clarify 

the issues.  
 
 
 

Page 7



Page 8

This page is intentionally left blank



 

KENT COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

 

REGULATION COMMITTEE MEMBER PANEL 
 
MINUTES of a meeting of the Regulation Committee Member Panel held in the 
Council Chamber, Ashford Borough Council on Tuesday, 28 June 2011. 
 
PRESENT: Mr M J Harrison (Chairman), Mr A D Crowther (Vice-Chairman), 
Mr H J Craske  Mr T Gates 
 
IN ATTENDANCE: Mr C Wade (Countryside Access Principal Case Officer), 
Miss M McNeir (Public Rights Of Way and Commons Registration Officer)  Mr A Tait 
(Democratic Services Officer) 
 

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS 
 
11. Application to register land at Princes Parade, Seabrook as a new Town 
Green  
(Item 4) 
 
(1)  Members of the Panel visited the site of the application prior to the meeting. 
The visit was attended by the applicant, Mrs D Maskell; the Local Member, Mr C J 
Capon and three other local residents.  
 
(2)  The Public Rights of Way Officer introduced the application, explaining that it 
had been made by Mrs D Maskell under the Commons Act 2006.  The application 
had been supported by 57 user evidence questionnaires.  The land was owned by 
Shepway DC, who had objected because, in their view, there had not been 20 years 
continuous use of the site by a significant number of residents, and because use had 
not been “as of right.”  
 
(3)  The Public Rights of Way Officer set out the legal tests that needed to be met 
if registration were to take place.  She said that the land had been used for the 
purposes of lawful sports and pastimes by a significant number of inhabitants of the 
East Ward of the Hythe Town Council administrative area (the “locality”). In addition, 
such use as there had been had been “as of right” and had taken place up to the 
date of application.      
 
(4)  The Public Rights of Way Officer informed the Panel that most (86%) of the 
site had been fenced off during 2002/03 for the purpose of dredging operations.  
Although legislation had been passed which exempted closure of the site during 
periods of statutory enactments (such as the outbreak of Foot and Mouth disease), 
this event did not qualify for such an exemption.  The same applied to the eastern 
end of the site, which had been closed off in the mid 1990s and also during 2002 
during construction of the car park.  The public footpaths and their abutting grass 
verges were incapable of registration.  For these reasons, she recommended that the 
land in question should not be registered as a Village Green.  
 
(5)  Mrs D Maskell (Applicant) said that in her view, the Commons Act could be 
interpreted to enable the Panel to disregard the period when Shepway DC had 
erected fencing to be disregarded.  This was because the Law used the term “any 

Page 9



 

enactment” when it permitted the Registration Authority to do so. The site had been 
fenced off to enable Shepway DC to carry out its duties under the Health and Safety 
at Work Act 1974.  She pointed out that Shepway DC’s bundle itself claimed that the 
work was undertaken in such a way as to allow some public access to part of the site 
at all times.   
 
(6)  Mrs Maskell then said that the user questionnaires indicated that the site had 
been used immediately after removal of the fencing, demonstrating its continued 
accessibility.   
 
(7)  Mrs Maskell showed the Panel an aerial photograph and identified a green 
strip most of the way around the site and a triangular area at one end.  She said that 
these areas were not Public Rights of Way and were therefore capable of 
registration.  
 
(8)  Mrs Maskell concluded her presentation by saying that the Panel Members 
should have particular regard to the term “any enactment” in the Commons Act 2006, 
bearing in mind that the only reason that Shepway DC had fenced the area off was to 
enable it to carry out its statutory duties rather than to exclude the public for any other 
reason.    
 
(9)  Mr Timothy Moreshead (Landmark Chambers) spoke on behalf of Shepway 
District Council.  He said that the District Council agreed with the recommendation 
but that it still considered that use had not been by a significant number of people in a 
locality.   
 
(10)  Mr Moreshead  disagreed with Mrs Maskell’s legal interpretation of the term 
“any enactment” by saying that Parliament had intended this term to cover those 
periods when it had taken the use of the land out of the control of the landowner 
rather than whenever the landowner(s) were carrying out their legal duties.  
 
(11)   On being put to the vote, the recommendations of the Head of Countryside 
Access were carried unanimously. 
 
(12) RESOLVED that the applicant be informed that the application to register the 

land at Princes Parade, Seabrook as a new Town Green has not been 
accepted.  

 
 
12. Application to register land at Westwell Lane, Westwell as a new Town 
Green  
(Item 5) 
 
(1)  Members of the Panel had visited the application site prior to the meeting. The 
visit was attended by Mr R Butcher (Westwell Parish Council) and Mr D Robey, the 
local ward Member from Ashford Borough Council.  
 
(2)  The Public Rights of Way Officer introduced the application, which had been 
made by Westwell Parish Council under the Commons Registration Act 2006.  
Attempts (including consultation with the Parish Council and the Land Registry 
Office) to identify the landowner had failed and no response had been received to 
consultation.   

Page 10



 

 
(3)  The Public Rights of Way Officer briefly outlined the legal tests which the 
application needed to meet in order for registration to take place.  These had all been 
met and she was therefore recommending that registration should take place.  
 
(4)  The Panel unanimously agreed the Head of Countryside Access’ 
recommendations and informed the appellants that there was no need for them to 
make representations.  
 
(5)  RESOLVED that the applicants be informed that the application to register the 
land at Westwell Lane, Westwell as a new Village has been accepted, and that the 
land subject to the application be formally registered as a Village Green.   
 
13. Application to register land known as Pilgrims Way, Canterbury as a new 
Village Green  
(Item ) 
 
(1)  Members of the Panel had visited the application site prior to the meeting. The 
visit was attended by Mr S Bax (applicant), Mrs J Taylor (Canterbury City Council) 
and some 11 members of the public. These included Rev Walling from Barton 
Residents Association.  
 
(2)  Correspondence from Dr S Bax in response to the report had been circulated 
to the Panel before the meeting.   Correspondence from Mr M J Northey (Local 
Member) in support of the application was tabled. 
 
(3)  The Public Rights of Way Officer introduced the application, which had been 
made under the Commons Act 2006.  It had been accompanied by 8 user evidence 
questionnaires.  The land in question had been acquired by Canterbury City Council 
in 1926 under the Allotments Act.  
 
(4)  The Public Rights of Way Officer reported that Canterbury City Council had 
objected to the application on the grounds that the land had not been used by a 
significant number of the residents of the locality for the purposes of lawful sports and 
pastimes over the required period.  It had refused permission for a BMX track to be 
built in 1997 and had removed BMX jumps erected by local youths in 2001.  
 
(5)  The Public Rights of Way Officer set out the legal tests that needed to be met 
in order for registration to take place.  She said that, in her view, use had been as of 
right for a period of twenty years up to the date of the application.  
 
(6)  The Public Rights of Way Officer then said that the user evidence 
questionnaires and evidence provided by the City Council had indicated that use of 
the land had been trivial and sporadic. For this reason, it could not be said that use 
had been for lawful sports and pastimes or by a significant number of inhabitants of a 
particular locality or neighbourhood within a locality. Accordingly, she recommended 
that the application should not be accepted. 
 
(7)  Mr Murphy, a local resident said that he had lived opposite the site since 1985.  
he had played ball games since 1986. Numerous people had used the site, including 
an elderly lady who used to walk her dog.   He asked the Panel to ensure that this 
part of Canterbury remained open for recreational use by local residents.  

Page 11



 

 
(8)  Dr S Bax (applicant) said that the only question that now needed to be 
addressed was whether use had been by a sufficient number of local people for the 
landowners to have been made aware that the land was in use. A number of people 
had observed use which was more widespread than the report suggested, because it 
had only taken actual claimed usefully into account - although observed use had 
been reported.   
 
(9)  Dr Bax produced an aerial photograph taken in 1998, which he said indicated 
that the grass had been trimmed and footpaths laid out.  Other photographs 
suggested that the land had been walked on and that the City Council had been 
aware of this to such an extent that it had cut the grass at least once a year since 
1987.  
 
(10)  Dr Bax concluded his presentation by saying that use of the land had been 
sufficient for Canterbury City Council to have been aware of it. However, it had 
chosen not to take steps to put a stop to this use. He therefore suggested that the 
Panel should either confirm the Village Green status or defer the application to 
enable a non-statutory public inquiry to examine the “significant usage” question in 
greater detail.  The land was needed as an open space for local residents. 
 
(11)  The Public Rights of Way Officer commented on Dr Bax’ presentation by 
saying that the Members of the Panel were not allowed to take the question of the 
need for open space into consideration.   Nor could it now consider the new evidence 
provided by the aerial photograph and the user questionnaire from Mr and Mrs 
Murphy. The applicant had been asked to provide such information on 10 December 
2010. This would have been the appropriate time for this to have been given to the 
officers.   It was important to note the judgement of the Supreme Court that the use of 
the land needed to be of such amount and in such manner to indicate to the City 
Council that it was of general use by the community.  
 
(12)  Mrs J Taylor (Canterbury City Council) said that she was satisfied with the 
recommendation to not accept the application.  She said that four allotment owners 
had given evidence that there had been very little use.  Two ladies had walked their 
dogs on the land for a period but this had stopped. Since that time, use had been 
very occasional indeed, which was the reason that the City Council had not noticed it.  
On the one occasion in 2001 that the land had been widely used as a BMX track, the 
City Council had asked the boys to leave.   
 
(13)  Dr Bax summed up his case by saying that its primary point was whether the 
landowner would have known that use was taking place.  In his view there was 
enough evidence to demonstrate that the City Council should have been aware. 
 
(14)  The Chairman assured Dr Bax that his request for consideration of the 
application to be deferred pending a non-statutory public inquiry would be recorded in 
the Minutes. 
 
(15)  On being put to the vote, the recommendations of the Head of Countryside 
Access were unanimously agreed. 
 
(16)  RESOLVED that the applicant be informed that the application to register the 
land at Pilgrims Way, Canterbury as a new Village Green has not been accepted.  

Page 12



 

 
 

Page 13



Page 14

This page is intentionally left blank



 

KENT COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

 

REGULATION COMMITTEE MEMBER PANEL 
 
MINUTES of a meeting of the Regulation Committee Member Panel held in the 
Shepway District Council on Tuesday, 12 July 2011. 
 
PRESENT: Mr M J Harrison (Chairman), Mr A D Crowther (Vice-Chairman), 
Mr T Gates, Mr S J G Koowaree  Mr R J Lees 
 
ALSO PRESENT: Mr T Prater 
 
IN ATTENDANCE: Mr C Wade (Countryside Access Principal Case Officer), 
Mrs L Wilkins (Definitive Map Team Leader)  Mr A Tait (Democratic Services Officer) 
 

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS 
 
14. Claimed Public Footpath from Valebrook Close to Public Footpath HF43, 
Folkestone  
(Item 3) 
 
(1)  The Panel Members visited the site prior to the meeting. This visit was also 
attended by Mr T Prater (applicant) and by Mr T Boxell (landowner).  
 
(2)  The Countryside Access Principal Case Officer set out the legal tests for the 
application.  Section 53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 enabled the County 
Council to add a route to the Definite Map and Statement when it had evidence to 
show that a public right of way either subsisted or was reasonably alleged to subsist.  
 
(3)  Section 31 of the Highways Act 1980 stated that in order for the land in 
question to be dedicated as a public footpath, it needed to have been actually 
enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full period of 20 years 
unless there was sufficient evidence that there was no intention during that period to 
dedicate it.   The qualifying period for this application was from 1988 to 2008, which 
was the year that the landowner had erected barbed wire fencing around the 
perimeter of the land.  
 
(4)  The Countryside Access Principal Case Officer then said that there was also a 
Common Law provision if it could be demonstrated that the public had used the route 
for so long and in such a manner that the landowner must have been aware that that 
the public were acting in the belief that the right of way had been dedicated but had 
taken no steps to disabuse them.  He explained that the word “disabuse” meant 
informing the public that they had no such right.  This could be done verbally or 
through the erection of notices and fences.  
 
(5)  The Definitive Map Team Leader set out the documentary evidence she had 
examined in order to fully investigate the application.  This consisted of the Tithe 
Maps (@ 1840), The First Edition Ordnance Survey Map and book of Reference (@ 
1860), the Finance Act 1910 and Valuer’s Field Book,  Borough Maps and Draft 
Maps, the Provisional Maps for Hythe and Folkestone, the Definitive Map (1952), the 
Draft Revised Map (1970), the Definitive Map (1987), Ordnance Survey Maps, and 

Page 15



 

numerous aerial photographs.  None of these documents had been of any assistance 
as they did not record the claimed route.  
 
(6)  The Definitive Map Team Leader said she had consulted Shepway DC, 
Folkestone TC,   Local District Councillors (except for Mr Prater, the applicant), the 
Ramblers’ Association, the Open Spaces Society and the British Horse Society.  
None of these had replied except for the Open Spaces Society, who strongly 
supported the claim on the grounds that the area had been walked for many years by 
local people and others.  
 
(7)  The Definitive Map Team Leader went on to summarise the content of the 14 
user evidence forms.  These had set out their various reasons for use and the 
frequency. They also referred to the natural obstructions and the clearance of the 
land by the landowners in 2006 when new drainage ditches had been installed.  
Despite the appearance of rubble on the land, most people had claimed that they had 
continued to walk the route until 2008, when a barbed wire fence was erected to 
prevent access from Valebrook Close.  Nearly all the witnesses referred to the 
fingerpost, which one witness claimed had been erected by Shepway DC between 20 
and 25 years earlier (at a time when the District Council had responsibility for the 
maintenance of public rights of way).  
 
(8)  The Definitive Map Team Leader had also contacted all the registered 
landowners, including Mr T Boxell who had spoken on all their behalves.  He had 
informed her that he had checked with his solicitor whether any rights had been 
recorded. When this proved not to have been the case, he had fenced the land in 
order to claim adverse possession over the unregistered section (adjacent to No 65 
Valebrook Close).   He had also confirmed that none of the landowners had ever put 
up any notices or taken other action to deter public use; nor had they ever given 
anyone permission to use the claimed route.  He had also provided the County 
Council with an EDF Map and Land Registry Plan (2006), neither of which recorded a 
right of way along the claimed route – but which did show the recorded footpaths.  
 
(9)   The neighbouring landowners had also been consulted by the Definitive Map 
Team Leader.  Mr and Mrs Wilson, the owners of 65 Valebrook Close had stated that 
they had last attempted to use the claimed route some twenty years earlier.  They 
had commented that since that time, they had been unable to recall much use of the 
route, which had been boggy and overgrown.    
 
(10)  The Ministry of Defence (MoD) owned the land south of 65 Valebrook Close 
(taking in the first part of the claimed route).  They had confirmed that the first section 
adjacent to no. 65 had been the subject of a Deed of Grant with GHS (Contractors) 
Ltd in 1964 in respect of a private right of way on foot and with vehicles for 
agricultural purposes.  
 
(11)  The Definitive Map Team Leader referred to the Common Law provisions and 
said that in her view, although a fingerpost had been erected by Shepway DC, this 
had been in error and could not be seen as a dedication of the way by the landowner.   
 
(12)  The Definitive Map Team Leader then moved on to consider the statutory and 
legal tests.   She said that the year 2008 should be used as the “date of challenge” 
because this was the year when the landowner had put up the fencing around the 
site.  The material period was therefore 1988 to 2008.   

Page 16



 

 
(13)  The Definitive Map Team Leader said that use of the claimed route had not 
been with force, in secret or with permission, and therefore had been “as of right”. 
However, an analysis of the user evidence forms indicated that there was no actual 
defined route.   Instead, a variety of routes had been used, depending on the ground 
conditions and destination.  Only two users had stated that they had used the 
claimed route, and their use was stated as rarely and occasionally.   In support of this 
view, she quoted Ross Crail QC who had said “If people have crossed land in the 
same general direction but by varying routes, their uses can not be aggregated and 
attributed to a single route.”   
 
 
(14)  The Definitive Map Team Leader then explained that the law required a right 
of way to have a fixed terminus.  This could be a public highway/ footpath or a public 
place.   In the case of the claimed route, it was evident that the section adjacent to 65 
Valebrook Close was just one small part of a multitude of different routes taken by 
the public.  
 
(15)  The Definitive Map Team Leader concluded her presentation by saying that 
although the landowner had not taken steps to disabuse the public of their right to 
walk the route, the fact that only two witnesses had given evidence that they had 
walked the actual route in question had led her to recommend that the claimed path 
should not be added to the Definitive Map.  
 
(16)  Mr T Boxell (landowner) said that had there been a route, he would have 
erected a stile. The reason he had put up the fence in 2008 had been in order to 
prevent fly tipping on his land as well as to challenge public use of it.  This was 
necessary because he had applied for permission to build houses on it.  
 
(17)  Mr T Prater addressed the Panel in his capacity as the applicant rather than as 
the Local Member. He said he had brought the application forward on behalf of a 
number of residents of Valebrook Close.  In support of his application, he referred to 
the plans produced in support of the Deed of Grant between the MoD and GHS 
(Contractors) Ltd in 1964.  These had marked the claimed route as “Right of Way”.  
He believed that this was the reason that the fingerpost had been erected at a later 
stage.  
 
(18)  Mr Prater then said that Public Footpath HF43 did not appear to lead 
anywhere. He accepted the possibility that it might have led to the former Rectory, 
but said that this was unlikely as it could not be defined as a public place.  It seemed 
more probable that HF43 was intended to link up with Valebrook Close.  
 
(19)  The Countryside Access Principal Case Officer replied to Mr Prater by saying 
that public footpaths had indeed led to rectories in the 17th Century.   
 
(20)  The Chairman noted Mr Prater’s view that the claimed route would link HF43 
with Valebrook Close but pointed out that prior to the latter’s construction in the 
1960s there would have been no obvious destination.  
 
(21)  Both parties were invited to sum up their cases. Mr Boxell had nothing further 
to add. Mr Prater asked the Panel to bear in mind that the fingerpost had been in 
existence for some twenty years without challenge and that the paperwork relating to 

Page 17



 

the claimed route might have been lost. Local people believed that the path had 
existed and it seemed logical to believe that it was connecting Valebrook Close and 
HF43. 
 
(22)  On being put to the vote, the Head of Countryside Access’ recommendations 
were carried unanimously. 
 

(23) RESOLVED that the applicant be informed that the County Council is not 
prepared to modify the Definitive Map and Statement by adding a Public 
Footpath running between Valebrook Close and Public Footpath HF43 as 
shown in Appendix A of the report.  

 
 
 

Page 18



 

KENT COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

 

REGULATION COMMITTEE MEMBER PANEL 
 
MINUTES of a meeting of the Regulation Committee Member Panel held in the 
Riverside Centre, Dickens Road, Gravesend DA12 2JYon Tuesday, 19 July 2011. 
 
PRESENT: Mr M J Harrison (Chairman), Mr A D Crowther (Vice-Chairman), 
Mr R Brookbank, Mr R J Lees  Mr T Prater 
 
ALSO PRESENT: Mr R A Pascoe  Mr B J Sweetland 
 
IN ATTENDANCE: Mr C Wade (Countryside Access Principal Case Officer), 
Miss M McNeir (Public Rights Of Way and Commons Registration Officer)  Mr A Tait 
(Democratic Services Officer) 
 

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS 
 
15. Application to register land at St Andrew's Gardens, Gravesend as a new 
Town Green  
(Item 3) 
 
(1)  The Members of the Panel had visited the site prior to the meeting.  The visit 
was attended by Mrs C Brown (Urban Gravesham - the applicant) and Mr J Foxwell.  
 
(2)  Correspondence from Mr H R Craske had been circulated to the Members of 
the Panel prior to the meeting.  
 
(3)  The Public Rights of Way Officer introduced the application which had been 
made by Urban Gravesham under Section 15 of the Commons Act 2006.  It had 
previously been considered by the Panel on 16 November 2009, when it had been 
decided to refer it to a non-statutory public inquiry.  The Inquiry had taken place in 
May 2010 and the Inspector’s report had been published in July 2010.  Following 
submissions received from the Applicant and comments upon them from the 
Objector, the Inspector had published a second report in April 2011 re-affirming her 
findings.  
 
(4)  The Public Rights of Way Officer set out the legal tests that had to be met in 
order for the application to succeed.  The Inspector had concluded that use of the site 
had been by a significant number of the inhabitants of the locality for the purposes of 
lawful sports and pastimes for a period of at least 20 years.    
 
(5)   The Public Rights of Way Officer explained that the Inspector had focussed on 
the question of whether use of the site had been “as of right.”  She had concluded 
that it had not been used by force or stealth.  The question of whether use had been 
with permission had been far more complicated.  She had established that although 
most of the land was owned by Gravesham Borough Council, this ownership had 
been acquired at various times under various powers.  Because one of those powers 
had been Section 164 of the Public Health Act 1875 (for the purposes of public walks 
and pleasure grounds), those parts of the site had been used “by right” rather than 

Page 19



 

“as of right.”  The Inspector had therefore concluded that the site was incapable of 
registration in its entirety. 
 
(6)  The Public Rights of Way Officer referred to Appendix B of the report, which 
showed the powers under which the land had been acquired by the Borough Council.  
She said that the Inspector had considered the application afresh in respect of each 
individual section of the site.  Those acquired under Section 164 of the Public Health 
Act 1875 were not capable of registration for the reasons set out in (5) above.   The 
same principle applied in respect of land at the eastern end of the site, which the 
Borough Council had originally acquired for other purposes, but which had later been 
formally appropriated for use as public walks and pleasure grounds.  
 
(7)  The Public Rights of Way Officer said that the Inspector had then applied the 
legal tests to parcels of land that came under a further three categories. These were: 
land which had been acquired and held for other purposes (such as street 
improvement works); land acquired for unknown purposes; and land to which 
Gravesham Borough Council could not prove formal ownership.   
 
(8)  The Public Rights of Way Officer referred to Appendix C of the report in order 
to identify which parcels of land the Inspector had decided should not be registered 
because there had been no or insufficient evidence of use for recreational purposes 
(lawful sports and pastimes).  The Inspector had also concluded that some of the 
surfaced paths could not be registered because use of them would have been by a 
“rights of way” type user rather than for general recreation.   This left six small and 
unconnected parcels of land which the Inspector had recommended should be 
registered. These were identified in Appendix D to the report.   
 
(9)  Mr B J Sweetland (Local Member) informed the Panel that although he was a 
Member of Gravesham Borough Council, he was speaking in his capacity as a local 
representative.  He said that he, the local MP and the local Borough Councillors all 
thoroughly supported the application.   He believed that the site should be registered 
in its entirety because (in principle) the application had passed the necessary tests.  
The site in question represented the last good view of the Thames and common 
sense demanded its registration.  He was personally aware that it had been used by 
the public for the last thirty years.  
 
(10)  The Chairman ruled that Mr Sweetland should not refer to the planning history 
of the site in his presentation because this was an irrelevant consideration for the 
Panel.  He also explained that the Panel was fulfilling a quasi-judicial function, which 
meant that it had to consider the application on the basis of the Law as it stood rather 
than in the light of what it might wish the Law to be.  
 
(11)  Mrs C Brown (Urban Gravesham) addressed the Panel as the applicant.  She 
said that she wished to take issue with the Inspector’s findings because on the one 
hand she had concluded that the entire site had been used for lawful sports and 
pastimes; on the other hand, though, she had then considered the same question 
again when she had moved on to consider which component parts of the site had 
been used “as of right” or “by right.”   
 
(12)  Mrs Brown went on to say that the Inspector had ruled out some of the areas 
on the grounds that they were unsuitable for recreation.  She said that conclusions 
such as these were, in her view, based on the Inspector’s own personal preferences 

Page 20



 

rather than on fact. She gave as an example, areas which the Inspector had 
described as “too steep” on the basis of two witnesses stating that they had not 
played football on it.  The Inspector had not asked questions about these areas of 
other witnesses. Mrs Brown then listed a number of activities which she felt the 
Inspector should have established and then taken into account.  These included 
gathering conkers, BMX riding, eating and drinking, metal detecting and courting.   
She also considered that the conclusion that the paths were used as “public rights of 
way” uses rather than for recreational purposes to be erroneous. This was because 
the path went to the boundary fence of Thames House, where people congregated to 
sit, eat and drink.    
 
(13)  Mrs Brown then referred to the land at the eastern end of the site. The 
Inspector had concluded that this land had been “formally appropriated” for public 
walks and pleasure.  She said that this conclusion had been reached on the basis of 
a ministerial letter received by the Borough Council in 1960 and delegated powers 
used by Officers.  She believed this conclusion to be mistaken as there was no 
record of such appropriation in the Council Minutes and Officers did not receive 
delegated powers until the enactment of the Local Government Act 1972.  
 
(14)  Mrs Brown concluded her presentation by saying that her Counsel had 
advised that there was no binding authority to support the view that land held for the 
purposes of public walks and pleasure was not capable of registration as a Town or 
Village Green.  
 
(15)  The Public Rights of Way Officer advised the Panel that once the Inspector 
had made the decision that the site needed to be considered section by section, she 
had no option but to consider whether each of these sections individually passed the 
legal tests.  It was the applicant’s responsibility (rather than the Inspector’s) to 
provide evidence of use for lawful sports and pastimes.  The Panel should therefore 
make its decision on the basis of what the Inspector had been able to establish 
during the Inquiry rather than on what the applicant was now claiming to be the case.  
There was nothing to prevent the applicant from coming forward with a fresh 
application at a later stage if she considered that she had sufficient evidence to make 
a material difference to the Inspector’s findings.    
 
(16)  Mr T Prater moved that the entire application site be registered as a Town 
Green. This motion fell as there was no seconder.  
 
(17)  Mr A D Crowther moved, seconded by Mr R J Lees that the recommendations 
of the Head of Countryside Access be agreed.   
 
(18)  The Democratic Services Officer advised that the motion set out in (17) above 
could not be amended by asking the Panel to register the entire site. As the 
recommendation was to not register some 80% of the site, such an amendment 
would represent a negation.  If the Panel wished to register the entire site, it could do 
so by voting against the motion – at which point it would be in a position to decide 
what it wished to do in respect of the application.  
 
(19)  On being put to the vote, the Motion set out in (17) above was carried by 4 
votes to 1.  
 

Page 21



 

(20)  RESOLVED that for the reasons set out in the Inspector’s report dated 28 July 
2010, the applicant be informed that the application to register land known as St 
Andrew’s Gardens at Gravesend had been accepted in part, and that the areas 
shown edged in black at Appendix D to the report be registered as a Town Green.      
 
 

Page 22



 
 

By:  Head of Democratic Services & Local Leadership 
 
To:  Regulation Committee 7 September 2011 
 
Subject: Home To School Transport  
 
Classification: Unrestricted 
 

 
Summary:  To provide Members with a brief overview on Home to School 

Transport appeal statistics for the period between 1 April 2011 and 
31 August 2011  

 

 
1. Introduction 
 
The Chairman has requested that the Committee receive a brief update on Home to 
School Transport Appeals.  
 
2. Transport Appeal Statistics – 2011 
 
 (2.1) For the period between 1 April 2011 to 31 August 2011 a total of 18 
Home-to-School Transport appeals were submitted to 5 Transport Appeal Panel 
meetings.  8 were successful, (44%) at least in part (eg, time-limited assistance). 
 
 (2.2) 4 of the appellants had Local Member representation at their appeals and 
9 different Members sat on the Transport Appeal Panels. 
 
         (2.3) There are 21 appeals to date at various stages of the appeals process 
which will need to be heard by the Transport Appeals Panel. There is also a 
hazardous walk to be assessed. 
 
3. Statistic Details 
 
 (3.1) Details relating to the Admissions and Transport Home to School 
Transport appeals for Mainstream Pupils and Additional Educational Needs Teams 
in respect of Statemented Pupils are shown in the attached Appendix. 
 

4. Recommendations 
 
 (4.1) Members are asked to note this report. 
 
 

 
Geoff Rudd 
Assistant Democratic Services Manager (Appeals) 
Tel No: (01622) 694358 
e-mail:  geoffrey.rudd@kent.gov.uk 
 
 

Agenda Item 6

Page 23



 
 

 
 

Appendix  
 

MAINSTREAM HOME TO SCHOOL TRANSPORT APPEALS  
(ADMISSIONS AND TRANSPORT) 

 
1 APRIL 2011 – 31 AUGUST 2011 

 

Grounds for Appeal Upheld Not Upheld Total % Upheld 

Denominational 0 1 1  0 

Distance 0 1 1         0 

Not Attending NAS 5          2 7 71 

16+ 2 1 3 67 

Hazardous Routes 0 0 0 0 

Other 0 0 0 0 

Low Income Criteria 0 1 1 0 

TOTALS 7 6 13 54 

 
APPEALS BY AREA:    WEST:   1  -  MID:   3 -   EAST:   5   -   O/S KENT:   4  
 
 

STATEMENTED PUPILS HOME TO SCHOOL TRANSPORT APPEALS  
(ADDITIONAL EDUCATION NEEDS) 

 
1 JANUARY 2011 – 30 APRIL 2011 

 

Grounds for Appeal Upheld Not Upheld Total % Upheld 

Denominational 0 0 0 0 

Distance 0 2     2 0 

Not Attending NAS 1 2 3 33 

16+ 0 0 0 0 

Hazardous Routes 0 0 0 0 

Other 0 0 0 0 

Low Income Criteria 0 0 0 0 

TOTALS 1 4 5 20 

 
APPEALS BY AREA:    WEST:   1   -   MID:   2-   EAST:   2 -   O/S KENT:   0  
 

Page 24



 
 

 

Page 25



Page 26

This page is intentionally left blank



Update from the Commons Registration Team
______________________________________________________________________

A report by the Head of Countryside Access to Kent County Council’s Regulation 
Committee on Wednesday 7th September 2011. 

Recommendation:

I recommend that Members receive this report. 
________________________________________________________________________

Progress with Village Green applications 

1. Members have requested that a summary of the current position of applications to 
register Town and Village Greens be provided at meetings of the Regulation 
Committee. A copy of the Schedule of Village Green applications is therefore attached 

at Appendix A.

2. Since the last Regulation Committee meeting in May, five applications have been 
determined by Member Panel, which brings the total to 12 applications having been 
determined this year. This has greatly assisted in reducing the backlog of applications 
awaiting resolution; this time last year there were 28 applications outstanding, whilst 
currently there are now just 15. There has also been a slight reduction in the number 
of applications received this year, with an application being received on average every 
six weeks rather than last year’s rate of one per month. 

3. There are four Public Inquiries in relation to Village Green applications due to take 
place over the next few months. One is currently under way (week commencing 5th

September) at Whitstable, and another is due to take place next week (week 
commencing 12th September) at Broadstairs. Further Inquiries are scheduled to take 
place in Cranbrook in October and in Herne Bay in November. 

Commons Act 2006 – Pilot project 

4. Work continues on updating the Registers of Common Land and Village Greens, both 
in terms of KCC-initiated proposals to correct known errors in the Registers and 
applications received from members of the public to make certain amendments to the 
Registers. Two recent cases of note, which were reported to the last Regulation 
Committee meeting in May, involve Village Greens at Seasalter (VG128) and 
Wittersham (VG235).

5. Members will recall that the County Council has been dealing with an application from 
Mrs. A. Wilks to amend the Register of Village Greens for VG128 at Seasalter by 
increasing the registered extent of the Village Green. The necessary consultation 
processes have been completed and, in consequence, 45 objections have been 
received to the application. These objections originate from landowners affected by 
the application. As required by the relevant Regulations1, the matter has now been 
referred to the Planning Inspectorate. There has been no information from the 
Planning Inspectorate as to how it intends to proceed with the determination of this 
application, but it is expected that, given the volume of objections, a Public Inquiry is

                                                     
1
 The Commons Registration (England) Regulations 2008 

Agenda Item 7

Page 27



likely to be held into the matter. Further updates will be provided to the Committee in 
due course. 

6. Also at the Committee’s last meeting in May, authority was sought (and obtained) to 
commence work on a proposal to correct the Register of Village Greens for VG235 at 
Wittersham. This was due to an entry made in the Register referring to an exchange of 
land agreement which it is now known was invalid and had no lawful effect. The 
proposal is therefore to restore the Register to its original position and delete the 
reference to the exchange of land agreement. The necessary consultation procedures 
are currently under way, with a deadline for responses of 12th September 2011. As 
with the Seasalter case, the matter will ultimately be referred to the Planning 
Inspectorate for decision and the outcome will be reported to the Committee in due 
course.

7. On a more general note, after many months of uncertainty, there now appears to be 
some progress on determining the future of this legislation. It will be recalled that the 
purpose of the pilot project has been to test the provisions contained in Part 1 of the 
Commons Act 2006 in a limited number of areas in order to help shape the form of a 
national implementation of the legislation.

8. No formal announcement has yet been made, but it is understood from colleagues at 
DEFRA that the Minister has approved a decision to continue with the implementation 
of this legislation. At this stage, it is likely that this will continue on a piecemeal basis, 
with the legislation being rolled out to a further group of volunteer local authorities in 
2013. Further information on this will be reported to the Committee when it becomes 
available.

Consultation on the registration of new Town or Village Greens 

9. DEFRA has recently launched a consultation on proposals to reform the system for 
registering new Town or Village Greens under section 15 of the Commons Act 2006. A 
full copy of the consultation document is available at: 
http://www.defra.gov.uk/consult/2011/07/25/town-village-greens.
Alternatively, a hard copy of the document is also available on request from the Public 
Rights of Way and Commons Registration Officer. 

10. The reforms are being proposed in response to growing concerns regarding the 
volume, nature, cost and impact of Village Green applications, and the Government’s 
desire to achieve an improved balance between protecting valuable open space and 
enabling development to occur. The consultation has been launched at the same time 
as the publication for consultation by the Department for Communities and Local 
Government of a draft National Planning Policy Framework, which includes a 
commitment to introduce a new Green Spaces Designation through the planning 
system.

11. Although the consultation document includes an option which involves no change to 
the current system, the Government has indicated that it does not believe that this is 
an appropriate response to the problems identified with the current system. The 
reforms proposed are therefore set out below. 

12. The first proposal is to refine the current system, by giving Commons Registration 
Authorities more powers to reject weak or vexatious applications at an early stage,

Page 28



providing a system whereby landowners can make a declaration that any use of their 
land for recreational purposes is with their permission, and introducing a ‘character 
test’ to consider whether the land in question is recognisably similar to the popular 
perception of a traditional green. 

13. The latter element of this proposal would involve the addition of a new, more 
subjective test to the existing legal tests set out in section 15 of the Commons Act 
2006. It has been proposed in response to the increasing number of Village Green 
applications which involve land that do not have the traditional characteristics of a 
Village Green; for example, school playing fields, woodlands, beaches etc. The new 
test proposed would mean that only land which is open, unenclosed and uncultivated 
would be capable of registration. It would therefore limit registration to land with a 
more traditional appearance of a Village Green. However, the concern with this is that 
it would lead to applications involving valued open space that had been subject of long 
recreational usage being rejected on the basis of non-conformity with the character 
test.

14. The next proposal is to create a link between the planning system and the village 
green registration system. Currently, the two are mutually exclusive which means that 
sites earmarked for development can still be the subject of a subsequent application 
for Village Green status (thereby thwarting any proposed development if successful) 
and, similarly, planning permission can be granted and development commenced on 
the land before the outcome of an outstanding Village Green application is known. The 
reform being proposed would prevent a Village Green application from being made in 
relation to any land in respect of which there was a pending application for planning 
permission.

15. The third proposal involves the introduction of a fee for dealing with Village Green 
applications. The reason for this proposal is to reflect the substantial costs to 
Commons Registration Authorities in dealing with Village Green applications, but also 
to increase commitment from applicants and thereby deter spurious applications. The 
proposal is to charge a fee of up to £1000, which would be refundable if the 
application were to be successful. 

16. The introduction of a fee is arguably the most controversial of the proposed reforms. 
On the one hand, it would allow Commons Registration Authorities to recoup some of 
the costs of dealing with the application (but not where it is successful) and 
encourages only properly constructed applications to be made, thereby reducing the 
burden on Commons Registration Authorities. However, the disadvantage of this 
option is that it may well deter worthwhile applications from communities without the 
means to pay the necessary fee, and could give rise to a perception that the authority 
is pre-disposed to reject the application in order to retain the fee. 

17. Members’ views on the consultation are welcomed. The deadline for response to 
DEFRA is 17th October 2011. Officers will be compiling a response to be sent to 
DEFRA via the Cabinet Member for Customer and Communities. 

Recommendation

18. I RECOMMEND Members receive this report. 

Page 29



Background documents: 
Appendix A – Schedule of Village Green applications 

Contact Officer: 
Melanie McNeir 
Public Rights of Way and Commons Registration Officer 
Countryside Access Service 
Tel: 01622 221628 
Email: melanie.mcneir@kent.gov.uk

Page 30



APPENDIX A: 

Schedule of Village Green applications 

Applications resolved by the Regulation Committee since last report
(17th May 2011) 

Description Parish Member(s) Outcome
Land at Hartley Woods Hartley Mr. D. Brazier ACCEPTED and registered 

as VG257 on 13/06/11 

The Allotment Field, 
Barton Estate 

Canterbury Mr. M. Northey REJECTED on 28/06/11 

Land at Princes Parade Hythe Mr. C. Capon REJECTED on 28/06/11 

Land at Westwell Lane Westwell Mr. R. King ACCEPTED and registered 
as VG258 on 28/06/11 

St Andrew’s Gardens Gravesend Mr. B. Sweetland 
Mr. J. Cubitt 

ACCEPTED IN PART ONLY 
and registered as VG259 on 
19/07/11

Forthcoming Public Inquiries 

Description Parish Member(s) Details
Grasmere Pastures at 
Whitstable

Whitstable Mr. M. Harrison 
Mr. M. Dance 

Commences 05/09/11 at 
Whitstable Castle 

Broadstairs Cricket 
Ground 

Broadstairs Mr. B. Hayton 
Mr. R. Bayford 

Commences 12/09/2011 at 
the Broadstairs Campus of 
Christ Church University 

Land known as Long Field 
at Angley Road* 

Cranbrook Mr. R. Manning Commences 11/10/11 at 
Unity Hall, Hawkhurst 

The Downs Herne Bay Mrs. J. Law Commences 28/11/11 at St. 
Andrew’s Hall, Hampton 

*Note that this case has been referred to the Planning Inspectorate for determination due to KCC’s 
interest in the outcome of the application. The Inquiry is being held by the Planning Inspectorate. 

Outstanding applications to be resolved 

Description Parish Member(s) Status 
Round Wood at 
Walderslade 

Boxley Mr. P. Carter On hold at applicant’s 
request 

Dawbourne Wood Tenterden Mr. M. Hill Under investigation 

Seaton Meadow Wickhambreaux Mr. M. Northey Under investigation 

Land at Woodland Road Lyminge Ms. S. Carey Under investigation 

Land known as 
Fisherman’s Beach 

Hythe Mr. C. Capon Under investigation 

Land at Mountfield Road Meopham Mr. M. Snelling Under investigation 

Playing Field Marden Mrs. P. Stockell Under investigation 

Scrapsgate Open Space Minster-on-Sea Mr. A. Crowther Under investigation 

The former airfield Lympne Ms. S. Carey Awaiting investigation 

Rammell Field Cranbrook Mr. R. Manning Awaiting investigation 

Chaucer Field (at the 

University of Kent campus)

Canterbury Mr. G. Gibbens Awaiting investigation 

Sandgate Escarpment Sandgate Mr. T. Prater Awaiting investigation 

Page 31



Page 32

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

From:   Director of Customer and Communities 
To:  Regulation Committee 7 September 2011 
 
Subject: Update on the Definitive Map Team Casework 
 
Classification: Unrestricted 
 

 
Summary:   A report updating the Regulation Committee on the Definitive 
Map Team casework. 
 

 
Background – Register of cases 
 
1.1  At the Regulation Committee on 18 May 2010 I provided an update on 
the schedule of outstanding public rights of way (PROW) cases and the work 
of the Definitive Map Team. 
 
1.2 A hard copy of the Register of Applications to amend the Definitive 
Map and Statement (DMS) and Register of Diversion Applications is 
circulated with this report. The registers are also available on line at :  
https://shareweb.kent.gov.uk/Documents/environment-and-planning/public-
rights-of-way/claims%20(website).pdf    and  
 
https://shareweb.kent.gov.uk/Documents/environment-and-planning/public-
rights-of-way/diversion-schedule-for-web.pdf 
 
1.3 The production of a register of applications to amend the DMS was a 
requirement of the Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000.  The registers 
are regularly updated to reflect progress with case load. 
 
 
1.4 The substantial progress made in recent years has been continued and 
currently the there are 30 unallocated diversion applications and 9 unallocated 
applications to amend the DMS of Kent. The average wait between receipt of 
an application and allocation to an officer is currently 24 months for diversions 
and 18 months for amendments to the DMS. 
The May 2010 report identified a number of pressures that had the potential to 
increase the backlog of cases. Fortunately there has been no appreciable 
increase in the submission of applications in the last twelve months primarily 
as: 
 

• the construction sector appears static. The threat of construction as 
with Village Greens is frequently a catalyst for the public to seek to 
claim public rights of way that have been in use for 20 years, often 
specifically with the aim of thwarting or delaying development. 

 

• work to introduce a continuous right of access on foot around the coast  
of England has slowed and will rely on the creation of a linear strip of 
access land rather than the creation of public rights of way 

Agenda Item 8

Page 33



 

 

• the implementation of a statutory right for landowners to apply for the 
diversion of PROW has not yet been revisited by Government. 

 
 
2.1 April 2010 to March 2011 saw 31 public path orders confirmed and 8 
definitive map modification orders confirmed and the resolution of high profile 
cases at Adisham and Bayham Estate.  5 cases were referred to the 
Secretary of State with the Definition Team appearing at 4 public inquiries. 
Preparation of submission documents for public inquiries and appearance at 
inquiries continues to place a significant burden on the team.  The recently 
closed public inquiry into the diversion of footpath MT392 at Shipbourne 
lasting 7 days, spanning two months and involving 2 venues. 
  
2.2  The coming year will see the team continue to process cases and to 
work towards the production of a new edition of the DMS. However, the team 
are not immune to the savings1 that must be found by the Countryside Access 
Service in the next three financial years. It is therefore intended to place 
greater emphasis on firstly completing the production of the new edition of the 
DMS; and processing applications to divert and extinguish PROW as the 
costs incurred through this work may be recharged. 
 
2.3 Additionally planning authorities in Kent are being approached with a 
view to the team processing Town and Country Planning Act 1990 diversions 
and extinguishments orders on their behalf. The full cost of such work can be 
recharged to the applicant. Agreement is already in place to undertake this 
work on behalf of Ashford Borough Council. Tunbridge Wells Borough, 
Dartford Borough, Dover District and Canterbury City Councils have all 
expressed an interest in a service agreement.. 
 
2.4 If successful it is hoped to offer this service to other authorities in the 
South East contributing to the SE7 memorandum of understanding2.  
 
2.5 It is anticipated through this approach that it will be possible to deliver 
the necessary savings while safeguarding the knowledge, experience and 
expertise that exists within the team.  
 
2.6 The change in emphasis will in all likelihood mean that less resource is 
dedicated to the statutory element of the team’s work: dealing with 
applications to amend the DMS and that the backlog in this area will grow. 
Cases will still be progressed in line with the County Council’s statement of 
priorities. 
 
Gating Orders 
 
3.1  Requests from the Kent Police, Community Safety Teams and the 
public for information about the gating of highways have been sporadic over 
the last 12 months. In the majority of instances there is insufficient evidence of 
the crime and anti-social behaviour being persistent, facilitated by the highway 

                                                 
2
  

Page 34



 

 

or likely to be prevented by the installation of gates. Additionally it has not 
been possible to overcome the legislative restrictions placed on the making of 
gating orders for instance an application to gate public footpath AU79 Ashford 
Churchyard could not be pursued as although crime and antisocial behaviour 
in the area was persistent and could clearly be linked to the footpath, the 
footpath provided the only means of access to residential property and as 
such the criteria set out in the legislation could not be met. This despite the 
full support of the residents enjoying the access. 
 
 
3.2  Proposals in Swale and Gravesham are currently being worked on with 
local Crime and Disorder Reduction Partnerships.  
Where possible practical interventions will be supported that retain public 
access while contributing to the reduction of crime and antisocial behaviour: 
for instance the introduction of vehicle barriers.  
 
 
Recommendations: 
 
4.1 I recommend that members receive this report. 
 
 
Contact Officer. 
 
Graham Rusling 01622 69 6995 
graham.rusling@kent.gov.uk 
 
 
 
1  £618K  in total over three financial years. 
 

2  Kent County Council, East Sussex County Council, Brighton and Hove 

City Council, Hampshire County Council, Medway Council, Surrey County 

Council and West Sussex County  Council make up SE7. 

All seven councils have signed a Memorandum of Understanding with the 

aim of achieving savings while improving the quality of local services.  

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 35



Page 36

This page is intentionally left blank



S
e
ri

a
l

N
o

.
A

re
a

L
o

c
a
ti

o
n

O
S

 G
r
id

 

R
e
fe

r
e
n

c
e

P
a
th

N
u

m
b

e
r

D
e
s
c
ri

p
ti

o
n

S
ta

tu
s
 C

la
im

e
d

F
il
e
 R

e
f

D
a
te

A
c
c
e

p
te

d
C

u
rr

e
n

t 
P

o
s
it

io
n

C
a
s
e
 O

ff
ic

e
r

F
in

a
l

O
u

tc
o

m
e

1
6
5

E
a
s
t

W
h
it
s
ta

b
le

C
la

im
e
d
 B

ri
d
le

w
a
y
, 
C

a
rl
to

n
 R

o
a
d

B
ri
d
le

w
a
y

P
R

O
W

/C
C

/C
1
6
5

U
n
d
e
r

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n

C
h
ri
s
 W

a
d
e

1
6
6

E
a
s
t

F
o
lk

e
s
to

n
e

T
R

 2
0
3
1
 3

6
4
5

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

, 
G

re
e
n
 W

a
lk

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/S
H

/C
1
6
5

1
1
/0

3
/1

9
9
8

D
e
c
lin

e
d
 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 

a
n
 O

rd
e
r 

- 
n
o
 

a
p
p
e
a
l 
re

c
e
iv

e
d

S
o
n
ia

 C
o
v
e
n
tr

y
C

a
s
e

c
o
m

p
le

te

1
7
1
A

W
e
s
t

B
a
y
h
a
m

A
b
b
e
y

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

 a
t 
B

a
y
h
a
m

 

A
b
b
e
y

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/T
W

/C
1
7
1
A

0
3
/0

9
/1

9
9
8

O
rd

e
rs

 n
o
t 

c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d

fo
llo

w
in

g
 a

 P
u
b
lic

 

In
q
u
ir
y

C
h
ri
s

W
a
d
e
/M

e
la

n
ie

M
c
N

e
ir

C
a
s
e

c
o
m

p
le

te

1
7
4

W
e
s
t

S
p
e
ld

h
u
rs

t
T

Q
 5

5
8
0
 4

2
1
5

W
T

6
5

C
la

im
e
d
 a

m
e
n
d
m

e
n
t 
to

 F
o
o
tp

a
th

 

W
T

6
5

P
R

O
W

/T
W

/C
1
7
4

2
1
/0

1
/1

9
9
9

N
o
 g

ro
u
n
d
s
 o

f 

A
p
p
e
a
l 
re

c
e
iv

e
d

L
a
u
ra

 W
ilk

in
s

C
a
s
e

c
o
m

p
le

te

1
8
4

E
a
s
t

C
h
ilh

a
m

 &
 

C
h
a
rt

h
a
m

T
R

 0
8
5
4
 5

3
9
9

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

, 
M

ill
 L

a
n
e
 t
o
 

T
h
ru

x
te

d
 L

a
n
e

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/A
S

 &
 

C
C

/C
1
8
4

0
9
/0

3
/2

0
0
0

O
rd

e
rs

 C
o
n
fi
rm

e
d
 

b
y
 S

e
c
re

ta
ry

 o
f 

S
ta

te

L
a
u
ra

 W
ilk

in
s

C
a
s
e

c
o
m

p
le

te

1
9
5

E
a
s
t

B
e
th

e
rs

d
e
n

T
Q

 9
2
0
0
 

4
0
3
8
, 
T

Q
 

9
1
9
7
 4

0
5
9
, 

T
Q

 9
2
1
9
 4

0
5
3

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

, 
W

is
s
e
n
d
e
n
 

R
o
a
d
 t
o
 A

W
2
5
8
 &

 A
W

2
5
7

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/A
S

/C
1
9
5

2
2
/0

2
/2

0
0
1

U
n
d
e
r

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n

S
o
n
ia

 C
o
v
e
n
tr

y

2
0
3

E
a
s
t

W
h
it
s
ta

b
le

T
R

 0
4
6
9
 6

4
8
4
 

to
 T

R
 0

6
2
2
 

6
4
7
8

C
la

im
e
d
 d

e
le

ti
o
n
 o

f 
F

o
o
tp

a
th

 

C
W

5
7
 -

 S
e
a
s
a
lt
e
r

P
R

O
W

/C
C

/C
2
0
3

0
1
/0

8
/2

0
0
1

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e
, 

o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
s

re
c
e
iv

e
d
 -

 c
a
s
e
 

s
u
b
m

it
te

d
 t
o
 

S
e
c
re

ta
r y

 o
f 
S

ta
te

 -

P
u
b
lic

 I
n
q
u
ir
y
 t
o
 

b
e
 h

e
ld

 o
n
 1

8
 

J
a
n
u
a
ry

 2
0
1
2

C
h
ri
s

W
a
d
e
/M

a
ri
a

M
c
L
a
u
c
h
la

n

2
0
5

E
a
s
t

W
h
it
s
ta

b
le

T
R

 1
0
6
 6

6
3

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

, 
N

e
ls

o
n
 R

o
a
d
 

to
 S

h
a
ft
s
b
u
ry

 R
o
a
d

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/C
C

/C
2
0
5

0
1
/1

1
/2

0
0
1

O
rd

e
r 

n
o
t 

c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d
 b

y
 

S
e
c
re

ta
r y

 o
f 
S

ta
te

 

fo
llo

w
in

g
 P

u
b
lic

 

In
q
u
ir
y

L
a
u
ra

 W
ilk

in
s

C
a
s
e

c
o
m

p
le

te

2
0
7

E
a
s
t

M
a
rg

a
te

T
R

 3
3
7
 6

9
3

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

, 
B

ro
o
k
e
 

A
v
e
n
u
e
 t
o
 B

ri
d
le

w
a
y
 T

M
2
2

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/T
H

/C
2
0
7

1
6
/1

1
/2

0
0
1

D
e
c
lin

e
d
 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 

a
n
 O

rd
e
r 

- 
n
o
 

A
p
p
e
a
l 
re

c
e
iv

e
d

L
a
u
ra

 W
ilk

in
s

C
a
s
e

c
o
m

p
le

te

2
0
8

E
a
s
t

D
u
n
k
ir
k

T
R

 0
8
5
 5

8
9

C
la

im
e
d
 B

ri
d
le

w
a
y
, 
 A

2
 t
o
 

B
ri
d
le

w
a
y
 Z

R
5
2
9

B
ri
d
le

w
a
y

P
R

O
W

/S
W

/C
2
0
8

2
2
/0

1
/2

0
0
2

C
a
s
e
 w

it
h
d
ra

w
n

L
a
u
ra

 W
ilk

in
s

C
a
s
e

c
o
m

p
le

te

2
0
9

W
e
s
t

B
o
ro

u
g
h

G
re

e
n

T
Q

 6
1
5
6
 &

 T
Q

 

6
1
5
7

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

, 
C

ro
u
c
h
 L

a
n
e
 

to
 r

e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 g

ro
u
n
d

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/T
M

/C
2
0
9

1
1
/0

3
/2

0
0
2

A
p
p
e
a
l 
d
is

m
is

s
e
d

S
o
n
ia

 C
o
v
e
n
tr

y
C

a
s
e

c
o
m

p
le

te

F
o
r 

fu
rt

h
e
r 

in
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 p

le
a
s
e
 c

a
ll 

0
1
6
2
2
 2

2
1
5
6
8

R
e
g

is
te

r 
o

f 
A

p
p

li
c
a
ti

o
n

s
 u

n
d

e
r 

S
e
c
ti

o
n

 5
3
(5

) 
o

f 
th

e
 W

il
d

li
fe

 a
n

d
 C

o
u

n
tr

y
s
id

e
 A

c
t 

1
9
8
1

L
a
s
t 
u
p
d
a
te

d
 -

 0
8
 A

u
g
u
s
t 
2
0
1
1

Page 37



2
1
2

W
e
s
t

E
d
e
n
b
ri
d
g
e

T
Q

 4
3
9
2
 4

6
3
2

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

, 
C

ro
u
c
h
 H

o
u
s
e

R
o
a
d
 t
o
 S

p
ri
n
g
fi
e
ld

 R
o
a
d

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/S
E

/C
2
1
2

2
6
/0

4
/2

0
0
2

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e
 a

n
d
 

c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d

S
o
n
ia

 C
o
v
e
n
tr

y
C

a
s
e

c
o
m

p
le

te

2
1
4

W
e
s
t

R
y
a
rs

h
 t
o
 

B
ir
lin

g
T

Q
 6

5
9
0
 6

1
4
4

M
R

1
4
5
 &

 

M
R

6
0
A

C
la

im
e
d
 u

p
g
ra

d
in

g
 o

f 
B

ri
d
le

w
a
y
 

M
R

1
4
5
 a

n
d
 R

U
P

P
 M

R
6
0
A

B
y
w

a
y

P
R

O
W

/T
M

/C
2
1
4

3
1
/1

0
/2

0
0
2

A
p
p
e
a
l 
re

je
c
te

d
M

e
la

n
ie

 M
c
N

e
ir

C
a
s
e

c
o
m

p
le

te

2
1
7

E
a
s
t

W
h
it
s
ta

b
le

T
R

 5
0
7
0
 5

7
1
5

C
la

im
e
d
 B

y
w

a
y
, 
P

e
a
n
 H

ill
 t
o
 

F
o
x
e
s
 C

ro
s
s
 R

o
a
d

B
y
w

a
y

P
R

O
W

/C
C

/C
2
1
7

0
7
/1

1
/2

0
0
2

D
e
c
lin

e
d
 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 

a
n
 O

rd
e
r

L
a
u
ra

 W
ilk

in
s

C
a
s
e

c
o
m

p
le

te

2
2
2

E
a
s
t

W
h
it
s
ta

b
le

T
R

 1
2
7
 6

5
8

C
W

3
8

C
la

im
e
d
 d

o
w

n
g
ra

d
in

g
 o

f 
p
a
rt

 o
f 

C
W

3
8

P
R

O
W

/C
C

/C
2
2
2

2
8
/0

3
/2

0
0
3

A
t 
A

p
p
e
a
l 
- 

C
a
s
e
 

w
it
h
 t
h
e
 P

la
n
n
in

g
 

In
s
p
e
c
to

ra
te

C
h
ri
s
 W

a
d
e

2
2
4

W
e
s
t

H
e
a
d
c
o
rn

T
Q

 8
3
4
 4

4
3

K
H

2
6
4

C
la

im
e
d
 u

p
g
ra

d
in

g
 o

f 
K

H
6
2
4

B
y
w

a
y

P
R

O
W

/M
A

/C
2
2
4

1
4
/0

4
/2

0
0
3

A
p
p
e
a
l 
d
is

m
is

s
e
d

C
h
ri
s
 W

a
d
e

C
a
s
e

c
o
m

p
le

te

2
2
5

W
e
s
t

S
n
o
d
la

n
d

T
Q

 6
8
5
5
 6

2
1
5

M
R

5
9
4

C
la

im
e
d
 B

y
w

a
y
, 
P

ilg
ri
m

s
 W

a
y
 t
o
 

P
a
d
d
le

s
w

o
rt

h
 R

o
a
d

B
y
w

a
y

P
R

O
W

/T
M

/C
2
2
5

0
1
/0

5
/2

0
0
3

O
rd

e
r 

c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d
 

b
y
 S

e
c
re

ta
ry

 o
f 

S
ta

te

M
a
ri
a

M
c
L
a
u
c
h
la

n
C

a
s
e

c
o
m

p
le

te

2
2
6

W
e
s
t

E
d
e
n
b
ri
d
g
e

T
Q

 4
4
6
0
 4

6
5
5

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

, 
E

d
e
n
b
ri
d
g
e
 

T
o
w

n
 S

ta
ti
o
n
 t
o
 R

a
ilw

a
y
 

C
o
tt
a
g
e
s

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/S
E

/C
2
2
6

0
6
/0

8
/2

0
0
3

A
p
p
e
a
l 
d
is

m
is

s
e
d

S
o
n
ia

 C
o
v
e
n
tr

y

C
a
s
e

c
o
m

p
le

te
 -

 

N
o
ti
c
e
s

s
e
rv

e
d

in
c
o
rr

e
c
tl
y
 a

t 

A
p
p
e
a
l

2
2
7

W
e
s
t

B
re

d
g
a
r

T
Q

 8
6
4
 6

0
3

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

, 
D

e
a
n
s
 B

o
tt
o
m

 

F
a
rm

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/M
A

/C
2
2
7

0
6
/0

8
/2

0
0
3

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e
, 

o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
s

re
c
e
iv

e
d
 -

 P
u
b
lic

 

In
q
u
ir
y
 t
o
 b

e
 h

e
ld

 

o
n
 1

0
 J

a
n
u
a
ry

 

2
0
1
2

M
a
ri
a

M
c
L
a
u
c
h
la

n

2
2
8

E
a
s
t

D
o
v
e
r

T
R

 3
6
7
7
 5

0
9
1

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

, 
T

e
le

g
ra

p
h
 

R
o
a
d
 t
o
 C

o
w

d
ry

 S
q
u
a
re

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/D
O

/C
2
2
8

2
8
/0

7
/2

0
0
3

D
e
c
lin

e
d
 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 

a
n
 O

rd
e
r

S
o
n
ia

 C
o
v
e
n
tr

y
C

a
s
e

c
o
m

p
le

te

2
3
0

E
a
s
t

O
s
p
ri
n
g
e

T
Q

 9
9
5
 5

8
7
 

Z
R

3
5
9

C
la

im
e
d
 a

m
e
n
d
m

e
n
t 
o
f 
F

o
o
tp

a
th

 

Z
R

3
5
9

P
R

O
W

/S
W

/C
2
3
0

2
7
/1

0
/2

0
0
3

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e
 a

n
d
 

c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d

M
a
ri
a

M
c
L
a
u
c
h
la

n

C
a
s
e

c
o
m

p
le

te

2
3
2

W
e
s
t

H
a
rt

lip
T

Q
 8

4
2
0
 6

4
9
5

Z
R

6
8
5

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

, 
M

ill
 L

a
n
e
 t
o
 

L
o
w

e
r 

H
a
rt

lip
 R

o
a
d

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/S
W

/C
2
3
2

1
6
/1

0
/2

0
0
3

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e
 &

 

c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d

M
a
ri
a

M
c
L
a
u
c
h
la

n

C
a
s
e

c
o
m

p
le

te

2
3
3

E
a
s
t

L
o
w

e
r 

H
a
ls

to
w

T
Q

 8
6
1
0
 6

7
1
1

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

, 

W
e
s
tm

o
re

la
n
d
 D

ri
v
e
 t
o
 

C
u
m

b
e
rl
a
n
d
 D

ri
v
e

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/S
W

/C
2
3
3

1
1
/1

1
/2

0
0
3

D
e
e
d
 o

f 

D
e
d
ic

a
ti
o
n
 -

 

c
o
m

p
le

te

M
a
ri
a

M
c
L
a
u
c
h
la

n
C

a
s
e

c
o
m

p
le

te

2
3
4

W
e
s
t

H
a
rt

le
y

T
Q

 6
1
0
3
 6

8
4
2

S
D

3
3
4

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

, 
C

a
x
to

n
 R

o
a
d
 

to
 G

o
rs

e
w

o
o
d
 R

o
a
d

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/S
E

/C
2
3
4

1
5
/1

2
/2

0
0
3

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e
 &

 

c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d

M
a
ri
a

M
c
L
a
u
c
h
la

n

C
a
s
e

c
o
m

p
le

te

2
3
5

E
a
s
t

H
a
rt

lip
T

Q
 v

a
ri
o
u
s

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

s
, 
lo

ts
 1

-1
4

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/S
W

/C
2
3
5

0
9
/1

2
/2

0
0
3

D
e
c
lin

e
d
 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 

a
n
 O

rd
e
r 

- 
n
o
 

A
p
p
e
a
l 
re

c
e
iv

e
d

M
a
ri
a

M
c
L
a
u
c
h
la

n
C

a
s
e

c
o
m

p
le

te

2
3
6

W
e
s
t

L
u
d
d
e
s
d
o
w

n
T

Q
 6

7
7
 6

6
8
 t
o
 

T
Q

 6
7
8
 6

6
7

N
S

2
4
3

C
la

im
e
d
 B

y
w

a
y
, 
R

U
P

P
 N

S
2
4
3

B
y
w

a
y

P
R

O
W

/G
R

/C
2
3
6

2
3
/0

2
/2

0
0
4

A
p
p
e
a
l 
d
is

m
is

s
e
d

M
e
la

n
ie

 M
c
N

e
ir

C
a
s
e

c
o
m

p
le

te

2
3
8

W
e
s
t

D
u
n
to

n
 G

re
e
n

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

, 
fr

o
m

 

u
n
d
e
rp

a
s
s
 o

p
p
o
s
it
e
 D

u
n
to

n
 

G
re

e
n
 P

ri
m

a
ry

 S
c
h
o
o
l 
to

 

F
o
o
tp

a
th

 S
R

1
0
5

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/S
E

/C
2
3
8

0
7
/0

5
/2

0
0
4

U
n
d
e
r

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n

M
e
la

n
ie

 M
c
N

e
ir

Page 38



2
3
9

W
e
s
t

H
a
d
lo

w
T

Q
 6

2
8
9
 5

0
1
7

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

, 
T

h
e
 F

re
e
h
o
ld

 

to
 C

a
rp

e
n
te

rs
 L

a
n
e

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/T
M

/C
2
3
9

2
5
/0

6
/2

0
0
4

D
e
c
lin

e
d
 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 

a
n
 O

rd
e
r 

- 
n
o
 

A
p
p
e
a
l 
re

c
e
iv

e
d

M
e
la

n
ie

 M
c
N

e
ir

C
a
s
e

c
o
m

p
le

te

2
4
0

W
e
s
t

S
e
v
e
n
o
a
k
s

T
Q

 5
2
3
5
2
3
 t
o
 

T
Q

 5
2
8
5
1
9

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

, 
H

u
b
b
a
rd

s
 H

ill
 

to
 G

ra
c
io

u
s
 L

a
n
e

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/S
E

/C
2
4
0

0
4
/0

8
/2

0
0
4

O
rd

e
r 

c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d

M
e
la

n
ie

 M
c
N

e
ir

C
a
s
e

c
o
m

p
le

te

2
4
2

E
a
s
t

C
h
ilh

a
m

T
R

 0
7
7
 5

2
6

A
E

1
8
 &

 

A
E

4
2
9

C
la

im
e
d
 u

p
g
ra

d
in

g
 o

f 
A

E
1
8
 &

 

A
E

4
2
9

B
y
w

a
y

P
R

O
W

/A
S

/C
2
4
2

0
1
/1

0
/2

0
0
4

U
n
d
e
r

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n

C
h
ri
s
 W

a
d
e

2
4
3

E
a
s
t

S
t 
M

a
rg

a
re

t's
 

B
a
y

T
R

 3
6
3
9
 4

4
6
6
 

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

, 
D

ro
v
e
w

a
y
 

G
a
rd

e
n
s
 t
o
 K

e
n
ilw

o
rt

h
 C

lo
s
e

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/D
O

/C
2
4
3

2
0
/1

0
/2

0
0
4

A
p
p
e
a
l 
re

je
c
te

d
M

e
la

n
ie

 M
c
N

e
ir

C
a
s
e

c
o
m

p
le

te

2
4
4

E
a
s
t

R
a
m

s
g
a
te

T
R

 3
8
8
 6

5
7

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

 a
c
ro

s
s
 p

la
y
in

g
 

fi
e
ld

s
 o

ff
 H

o
n
e
y
s
u
c
k
le

 R
o
a
d

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/T
H

/C
2
4
4

2
5
/1

0
/2

0
0
4

O
rd

e
rs

 m
a
d
e
 a

n
d
 

c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d

C
h
ri
s
 W

a
d
e

C
a
s
e

c
o
m

p
le

te

2
4
5

W
e
s
t

G
ra

v
e
s
h
a
m

N
U

3
1
A

, 
T

Q
 

6
4
2
 6

9
1
 t
o
 T

Q
 

6
4
4
 6

9
3

N
U

3
3
 T

Q
 6

4
4
 

6
9
3
 t
o
 T

Q
 6

5
2
 

6
9
2

N
S

3
1
A

,

N
S

3
3

C
la

im
e
d
 u

p
g
ra

d
in

g
 o

f 
N

U
3
1
A

 &
 

N
U

3
3

B
y
w

a
y

P
R

O
W

/G
R

/C
2
4
5

2
6
/1

0
/2

0
0
4

D
e
c
lin

e
d
 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 

a
n
 O

rd
e
r 

- 
N

o
 

A
p
p
e
a
l 
re

c
e
iv

e
d

C
h
ri
s
 W

a
d
e

C
a
s
e

c
o
m

p
le

te

2
4
6

E
a
s
t

W
h
it
s
ta

b
le

T
R

 0
6
2
7
 6

4
8
2
 

to
 0

9
8
0
 6

5
7
3

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

, 
R

e
e
v
e
s
 

B
e
a
c
h
 t
o
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

 C
W

8
2
 n

o
rt

h
 

o
f 
th

e
 S

p
o
rt

s
m

a
n
 P

u
b
lic

 H
o
u
s
e

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/C
C

/C
2
4
6

0
3
/1

1
/2

0
0
4

U
n
d
e
r

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n

C
h
ri
s

W
a
d
e
/S

o
n
ia

C
o
v
e
n
tr

y

2
4
8

E
a
s
t

W
h
it
s
ta

b
le

T
R

 1
2
9
5
 6

6
0
6

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

s
, 
G

ra
s
m

e
re

 

P
a
s
tu

re
s

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/C
C

/C
2
4
8

1
4
/1

2
/2

0
0
4

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e
 a

n
d
 

c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d

M
e
la

n
ie

 M
c
N

e
ir

C
a
s
e

c
o
m

p
le

te

2
4
9

E
a
s
t

T
e
n
te

rd
e
n

T
Q

 5
8
8
5
3
0
 t
o
 

T
Q

 1
3
5
4
0
0

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

s
, 
A

s
h
fo

rd
 

R
o
a
d
 t
o
 A

B
5
 a

n
d
 H

e
a
th

e
r 

D
ri
v
e
 

to
 f
o
o
tp

a
th

 l
e
a
d
in

g
 t
o
 A

2
8
 

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/A
S

/C
2
4
9

2
1
/0

1
/2

0
0
5

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e
 a

n
d
 

o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
s

re
c
e
iv

e
d

S
te

w
a
rt

 B
ig

g
s

S
O

S
 d

id
 n

o
t 

c
o
n
fi
rm

 t
h
e
 

O
rd

e
r

2
5
0

E
a
s
t

S
to

u
rm

o
u
th

T
R

 2
6
5
 6

3
3

C
la

im
e
d
 B

y
w

a
y
, 
W

e
s
t 

S
to

u
rm

o
u
th

 t
o
 f
o
rm

e
r 

B
2
0
4
6
 

th
ro

u
g
h
 H

e
ro

n
s
g
a
te

 F
a
rm

B
y
w

a
y

P
R

O
W

/C
C

/C
2
5
0

0
8
/0

2
/2

0
0
5

U
n
d
e
r

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n

M
e
la

n
ie

 M
c
N

e
ir

2
5
5

W
e
s
t

W
e
s
t

K
in

g
s
d
o
w

n
T

Q
 5

8
8
 6

0
6

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

 T
e
rr

y
's

 L
o
d
g
e
 

F
a
rm

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/S
E

/C
2
5
5

2
2
/0

7
/2

0
0
5

A
p
p
e
a
l 
re

je
c
te

d
S

te
w

a
rt

 B
ig

g
s

C
a
s
e

c
o
m

p
le

te

2
5
6

E
a
s
t

L
e
y
s
d
o
w

n
T

R
 0

4
3
 6

9
5

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

, 
W

in
g
 R

o
a
d
 t
o
 

M
u
s
w

e
ll 

M
a
n
o
r

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/S
W

/C
2
5
6

0
5
/0

8
/2

0
0
5

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e
 a

n
d
 

c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d

S
te

w
a
rt

 B
ig

g
s

C
a
s
e

c
o
m

p
le

te

2
5
7

E
a
s
t

S
a
n
d
g
a
te

T
R

 2
0
1
 3

5
1

H
F

6
4
,

H
F

6
5
, 
H

F
6
6

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

, 
E

n
c
o
m

b
e
 t
o
 

P
ro

s
p
e
c
t 
R

o
a
d

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/S
H

/C
2
5
7

1
5
/0

8
/2

0
0
5

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e
 a

n
d
 

c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d

M
a
ri
a

M
c
L
a
u
c
h
la

n
C

a
s
e

c
o
m

p
le

te

2
5
8

W
e
s
t

M
e
o
p
h
a
m

T
Q

 6
3
8
7
 6

4
8
6

N
S

3
6
0

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

, 
S

te
e
le

's
 L

a
n
e
, 

A
2
2
7
 -

 N
S

2
8
5

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/S
H

/C
2
5
8

2
3
/0

8
/2

0
0
5

O
rd

e
r 

c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d
 

b
y
 S

e
c
re

ta
ry

 o
f 

S
ta

te

M
a
ri
a

M
c
L
a
u
c
h
la

n
C

a
s
e

c
o
m

p
le

te

2
5
9

E
a
s
t

W
e
s
tg

a
te

-o
n
-

S
e
a

T
R

 3
1
5
5
 6

9
0
6

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

, 
A

lle
n
 A

v
e
n
u
e
 

to
 D

u
n
s
ta

n
 A

v
e
n
u
e

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/T
H

/C
2
5
9

2
7
/0

9
/2

0
0
5

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e
 a

n
d
 

c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d

S
o
n
ia

 C
o
v
e
n
tr

y

C
a
s
e

c
o
m

p
le

te

lin
k
e
d
 w

it
h
 

fi
le

P
R

O
W

/T
M

4
2

/1
2
8
3

Page 39



2
6
0

E
a
s
t

A
d
is

h
a
m

1
) 

T
R

 2
1
8
 5

3
3
 

2
) 

T
R

 2
2
2
 5

3
4
 

3
) 

T
R

 2
1
9
 5

2
6
 

4
) 

T
R

 2
2
3
 5

3
0

F
o
u
r 

c
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

s
F

o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/C
C

/C
2
6
0

1
0
/1

0
/2

0
0
5

O
rd

e
r 

c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d
 

b
y
 t
h
e
 S

e
c
re

ta
ry

 o
f

S
ta

te
, 
a
d
d
in

g
 3

 

fo
o
tp

a
th

s
 a

n
d
 1

 

b
ri
d
le

w
a
y

M
a
ri
a

M
c
L
a
u
c
h
la

n
C

a
s
e

c
o
m

p
le

te

2
6
1

W
e
s
t

M
a
rd

e
n

T
Q

 7
5
9
 4

4
8

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

, 
K

M
2
7
2
 t
o
 

B
a
tt
le

 L
a
n
e

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/M
A

/C
2
6
1

0
4
/1

1
/2

0
0
5

O
rd

e
r 

c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d

M
a
ri
a

M
c
L
a
u
c
h
la

n

C
a
s
e

c
o
m

p
le

te

2
6
2

W
e
s
t

B
ir
lin

g
T

Q
 6

6
7
 6

1
7

M
R

4
8

C
la

im
e
d
 u

p
g
ra

d
in

g
 o

f 
 M

R
4
8

B
y
w

a
y

P
R

O
W

/T
M

/C
2
6
2

0
4
/1

1
/2

0
0
5

D
e
c
lin

e
d
 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 

a
n
 O

rd
e
r 

- 
n
o
 

A
p
p
e
a
l 
re

c
e
iv

e
d

M
e
la

n
ie

 M
c
N

e
ir

C
a
s
e

c
o
m

p
le

te

2
6
3

W
e
s
t

W
ro

th
a
m

T
Q

 6
0
1
 5

9
2

M
R

2
3
1

C
la

im
e
d
 u

p
g
ra

d
in

g
 o

f 
M

R
2
3
1

B
y
w

a
y

P
R

O
W

/T
M

/C
2
6
3

0
4
/1

1
/2

0
0
5

D
e
c
lin

e
d
 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 

a
n
 O

rd
e
r 

- 
n
o
 

A
p
p
e
a
l 
re

c
e
iv

e
d

S
te

w
a
rt

 B
ig

g
s

C
a
s
e

c
o
m

p
le

te

2
6
4

W
e
s
t

B
ir
lin

g
T

Q
 6

6
5
 6

2
3

M
R

6
0

C
la

im
e
d
 u

p
g
ra

d
in

g
 o

f 
M

R
6
0

B
y
w

a
y

P
R

O
W

/T
M

/C
2
6
4

0
4
/1

1
/2

0
0
5

D
e
c
lin

e
d
 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 

a
n
 O

rd
e
r 

- 
n
o
 

A
p
p
e
a
l 
re

c
e
iv

e
d

M
e
la

n
ie

 M
c
N

e
ir

C
a
s
e

c
o
m

p
le

te

2
6
5

E
a
s
t

A
lk

h
a
m

T
R

 2
3
8
 4

2
8

E
R

7
6

C
la

im
e
d
 u

p
g
ra

d
in

g
 o

f 
E

R
7
6

B
y
w

a
y

P
R

O
W

/D
O

/C
2
6
5

0
7
/1

1
/2

0
0
5

D
e
c
lin

e
d
 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 

a
n
 O

rd
e
r 

- 
n
o
 

A
p
p
e
a
l 
re

c
e
iv

e
d

S
te

w
a
rt

 B
ig

g
s

C
a
s
e

c
o
m

p
le

te

2
6
6

E
a
s
t

A
lk

h
a
m

T
R

 2
6
9
 4

3
5

E
R

1
7
5

C
la

im
e
d
 u

p
g
ra

d
in

g
 o

f 
E

R
1
7
5

B
y
w

a
y

P
R

O
W

/D
O

/C
2
6
6

0
7
/1

1
/2

0
0
5

D
e
c
lin

e
d
 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 

a
n
 O

rd
e
r 

- 
n
o
 

A
p
p
e
a
l 
re

c
e
iv

e
d

M
a
ri
a

M
c
L
a
u
c
h
la

n
C

a
s
e

c
o
m

p
le

te

2
6
7

E
a
s
t

A
lk

h
a
m

T
R

 2
6
0
 4

2
3

E
R

1
7
7

C
la

im
e
d
 u

p
g
ra

d
in

g
 o

f 
E

R
1
7
7

B
y
w

a
y

P
R

O
W

/D
O

/C
2
6
7

0
7
/1

1
/2

0
0
5

D
e
c
lin

e
d
 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 

a
n
 O

rd
e
r 

- 
n
o
 

A
p
p
e
a
l 
re

c
e
iv

e
d

M
a
ri
a

M
c
L
a
u
c
h
la

n
C

a
s
e

c
o
m

p
le

te

2
6
8

E
a
s
t

A
lk

h
a
m

T
R

 2
6
8
 4

2
9

E
R

1
7
8

C
la

im
e
d
 u

p
g
ra

d
in

g
 o

f 
E

R
1
7
8

B
y
w

a
y

P
R

O
W

/D
O

/C
2
6
8

0
7
/1

1
/2

0
0
5

D
e
c
lin

e
d
 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 

a
n
 O

rd
e
r 

- 
n
o
 

A
p
p
e
a
l 
re

c
e
iv

e
d

M
a
ri
a

M
c
L
a
u
c
h
la

n
C

a
s
e

c
o
m

p
le

te

2
6
9

E
a
s
t

A
lk

h
a
m

T
R

 2
6
1
 4

3
2

E
R

1
8
4

C
la

im
e
d
 u

p
g
ra

d
in

g
 o

f 
E

R
1
8
4

B
y
w

a
y

P
R

O
W

/D
O

/C
2
6
9

0
7
/1

1
/2

0
0
5

D
e
c
lin

e
d
 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 

a
n
 O

rd
e
r 

- 
n
o
 

A
p
p
e
a
l 
re

c
e
iv

e
d

M
a
ri
a

M
c
L
a
u
c
h
la

n
C

a
s
e

c
o
m

p
le

te

2
7
0

E
a
s
t

A
lk

h
a
m

T
R

 2
7
1
 4

2
2

E
R

2
6
1

C
la

im
e
d
 u

p
g
ra

d
in

g
 o

f 
E

R
2
6
1

B
y
w

a
y

P
R

O
W

/D
O

/C
2
7
0

0
7
/1

1
/2

0
0
5

D
e
c
lin

e
d
 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 

a
n
 O

rd
e
r 

- 
n
o
 

A
p
p
e
a
l 
re

c
e
iv

e
d

M
a
ri
a

M
c
L
a
u
c
h
la

n
C

a
s
e

c
o
m

p
le

te

2
7
1

E
a
s
t

A
lk

h
a
m

T
R

 2
8
7
 4

0
0

E
R

8
9
 &

 

E
R

2
2
3

C
la

im
e
d
 u

p
g
ra

d
in

g
 o

f 
E

R
8
9
 &

 

E
R

2
2
3

B
y
w

a
y

P
R

O
W

/D
O

/C
2
7
1

2
9
/1

1
/2

0
0
5

D
e
c
lin

e
d
 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 

a
n
 O

rd
e
r 

- 
n
o
 

A
p
p
e
a
l 
re

c
e
iv

e
d

L
a
u
ra

 W
ilk

in
s

C
a
s
e

c
o
m

p
le

te

2
7
2

E
a
s
t

A
lk

h
a
m

T
R

 2
5
7
 4

1
8

E
R

1
7
9

C
la

im
e
d
 u

p
g
ra

d
in

g
 o

f 
E

R
1
7
9

B
y
w

a
y

P
R

O
W

/D
O

/C
2
7
2

2
9
/1

1
/2

0
0
5

D
e
c
lin

e
d
 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 

a
n
 O

rd
e
r 

- 
n
o
 

A
p
p
e
a
l 
re

c
e
iv

e
d

L
a
u
ra

 W
ilk

in
s

C
a
s
e

c
o
m

p
le

te

2
7
3

E
a
s
t

E
lli

n
g
e

T
R

 2
3
8
 4

2
8

E
R

1
8
6

C
la

im
e
d
 u

p
g
ra

d
in

g
 o

f 
E

R
1
8
6

B
y
w

a
y

P
R

O
W

/D
O

/C
2
7
3

2
9
/1

1
/2

0
0
5

D
e
c
lin

e
d
 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 

a
n
 O

rd
e
r 

- 
n
o
 

A
p
p
e
a
l 
re

c
e
iv

e
d

S
te

w
a
rt

 B
ig

g
s

C
a
s
e

c
o
m

p
le

te

2
7
4

E
a
s
t

W
e
s
t

H
o
u
g
h
a
m

T
R

 2
6
3
 3

9
3

E
R

2
2
4

C
la

im
e
d
 u

p
g
ra

d
in

g
 o

f 
E

R
2
2
4

B
y
w

a
y

P
R

O
W

/D
O

/C
2
7
4

2
9
/1

1
/2

0
0
5

U
n
d
e
r

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n

M
e
la

n
ie

 M
c
N

e
ir

2
7
5

W
e
s
t

L
e
n
h
a
m

T
Q

 9
0
4
 5

2
2

K
H

4
3
3

C
la

im
e
d
 u

p
g
ra

d
in

g
 o

f 
K

H
4
3
3

B
y
w

a
y

P
R

O
W

/M
A

/C
2
7
5

2
9
/1

1
/2

0
0
5

U
n
d
e
r

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n

M
e
la

n
ie

 M
c
N

e
ir

Page 40



2
7
6

W
e
s
t

Ig
h
th

a
m

T
Q

 6
0
6
 5

5
0

M
R

3
1
1

C
la

im
e
d
 u

p
g
ra

d
in

g
 o

f 
M

R
3
1
1

B
y
w

a
y

P
R

O
W

/T
M

/C
2
7
6

2
9
/1

1
/2

0
0
5

D
e
c
lin

e
d
 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 

a
n
 O

rd
e
r 

- 
w

it
h
in

 

A
p
p
e
a
l 
p
e
ri
o
d

M
e
la

n
ie

 M
c
N

e
ir

2
7
7

W
e
s
t

W
a
te

ri
n
g
b
u
ry

T
Q

 6
9
7
 5

4
4

M
R

5
0
1

C
la

im
e
d
 u

p
g
ra

d
in

g
 o

f 
M

R
5
0
1

B
y
w

a
y

P
R

O
W

/T
M

/C
2
7
7

2
9
/1

1
/2

0
0
5

U
n
d
e
r

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n

M
e
la

n
ie

 M
c
N

e
ir

2
7
8

E
a
s
t

W
o
rm

d
a
le

T
Q

 8
5
8
 6

3
5

Z
R

6
4

C
la

im
e
d
 u

p
g
ra

d
in

g
 o

f 
Z

R
6
4

B
y
w

a
y

P
R

O
W

/S
W

/C
2
7
8

2
9
/1

1
/2

0
0
5

U
n
d
e
r

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n

M
e
la

n
ie

 M
c
N

e
ir

2
7
9

W
e
s
t

H
a
w

k
h
u
rs

t
T

Q
 7

6
5
 2

8
3

W
C

2
3
0

C
la

im
e
d
 u

p
g
ra

d
in

g
 o

f 
W

C
2
3
0

B
y
w

a
y

P
R

O
W

/T
M

/C
2
7
9

2
9
/1

1
/2

0
0
5

U
n
d
e
r

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n

M
e
la

n
ie

 M
c
N

e
ir

2
8
0

E
a
s
t

C
a
p
e
l-
le

-

F
e
rn

e
T

R
 2

6
6
 3

8
8

E
R

2
2
6

C
la

im
e
d
 u

p
g
ra

d
in

g
 o

f 
E

R
2
2
6

B
y
w

a
y

P
R

O
W

/D
O

/C
2
8
0

1
6
/1

2
/2

0
0
5

D
e
c
lin

e
d
 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 

a
n
 O

rd
e
r 

- 
n
o
 

A
p
p
e
a
l 
re

c
e
iv

e
d

L
a
u
ra

 W
ilk

in
s

C
a
s
e

c
o
m

p
le

te

2
8
1

E
a
s
t

C
a
p
e
l-
le

-

F
e
rn

e
T

R
 2

7
6
 3

9
3

E
R

2
2
5

C
la

im
e
d
 u

p
g
ra

d
in

g
 o

f 
E

R
2
2
5

B
y
w

a
y

P
R

O
W

/D
O

/C
2
8
1

1
6
/1

2
/2

0
0
5

D
e
c
lin

e
d
 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 

a
n
 O

rd
e
r 

- 
n
o
 

A
p
p
e
a
l 
re

c
e
iv

e
d

L
a
u
ra

 W
ilk

in
s

C
a
s
e

c
o
m

p
le

te

2
8
2

E
a
s
t

W
e
s
te

rh
a
m

T
Q

 4
5
3
 5

6
8

E
R

2
2
5

C
la

im
e
d
 u

p
g
ra

d
in

g
 o

f 
P

u
b
lic

 

F
o
o
tp

a
th

s
, 
S

R
3
3
1
 (

p
a
rt

) 
a
n
d
 

S
R

3
3
2

B
ri
d
le

w
a
y

P
R

O
W

/S
E

/C
2
8
2

1
9
/1

2
/2

0
0
5

D
e
c
lin

e
d
 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 

a
n
 O

rd
e
r 

- 
A

p
p
e
a
l 

re
c
e
iv

e
d
. 
 C

a
s
e
 

w
it
h
 t
h
e
 P

la
n
n
in

g
 

In
s
p
e
c
to

ra
te

L
a
u
ra

 W
ilk

in
s

2
8
3

E
a
s
t

L
y
d
d

T
R

 0
5
5
 1

8
5

F
o
o
tp

a
th

s

H
L
4
, 
3
7
 &

 

3
8

R
e
s
tr

ic
te

d

B
y
w

a
y
s

H
L
3
9
, 
4
0
 &

 

4
1

C
la

im
e
d
 u

p
g
ra

d
in

g
 o

f 
F

o
o
tp

a
th

s
 

H
L
4
, 
3
7
 &

 3
8
 a

n
d
 R

e
s
tr

ic
te

d
 

B
y
w

a
y
s
 H

L
3
9
, 
4
0
 &

 4
1

B
y
w

a
y

P
R

O
W

/S
H

/C
2
8
3

2
6
/0

1
/2

0
0
6

D
e
c
lin

e
d
 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 

a
n
 O

rd
e
r 

- 
A

p
p
e
a
l 

w
it
h
d
ra

w
n

M
a
ri
a

M
c
L
a
u
c
h
la

n

C
a
s
e

c
o
m

p
le

te

2
8
4

E
a
s
t

S
a
n
d
w

ic
h

T
R

 3
2
5
 5

8
1

E
S

9
C

la
im

e
d
 a

m
e
n
d
m

e
n
t 
to

 F
o
o
tp

a
th

 

E
S

9
F

o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/D
O

/C
2
8
4

2
8
/0

2
/2

0
0
6

U
n
d
e
r

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n

S
o
n
ia

 C
o
v
e
n
tr

y

2
8
5

E
a
s
t

N
e
w

in
g
to

n
T

Q
 8

5
3
 6

4
5

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

 f
ro

m
 O

rc
h
a
rd

 

D
ri
v
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 R

e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 G

ro
u
n
d

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/S
W

/C
2
8
5

0
3
/0

3
/2

0
0
6

O
rd

e
rs

 m
a
d
e
 f
o
r 

a
n
 e

x
ti
n

g
u
is

h
m

e
n
t

a
n
d
 c

re
a
ti
o
n

L
a
u
ra

 W
ilk

in
s

2
8
6

W
e
s
t

M
a
rd

e
n

T
Q

 7
3
5
 4

3
7

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

 r
u
n
n
in

g
 a

lo
n
g
 

R
o
u
g
h
la

n
d
s
 L

a
n
e

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/M
A

/C
2
8
6

1
5
/0

3
/2

0
0
6

D
e
c
lin

e
d
 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 

a
n
 O

rd
e
r 

- 
A

p
p
e
a
l 

re
c
e
iv

e
d
. 
 C

a
s
e
 

w
it
h
 t
h
e
 P

la
n
n
in

g
 

In
s
p
e
c
to

ra
te

S
o
n
ia

 C
o
v
e
n
tr

y

2
8
7

W
e
s
t

W
e
s
t

K
in

g
s
d
o
w

n
T

Q
 5

7
5
 6

0
9

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

, 
T

in
k
e
rp

o
t 

L
a
n
e
 t
o
 S

D
2
8
3

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/S
E

/C
2
8
7

2
8
/0

3
/2

0
0
6

U
n
d
e
r

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n
 -

 

c
a
s
e
 l
in

k
e
d
 t
o
 

P
R

O
W

/S
E

/C
3
3
7

S
o
n
ia

 C
o
v
e
n
tr

y

2
8
8

W
e
s
t

M
a
rd

e
n

T
Q

 7
5
1
 4

6
1

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

, 
K

M
2
4
0
 t
o
 

M
ile

b
u
s
h
 L

a
n
e

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/M
A

/C
2
8
8

0
8
/0

8
/2

0
0
6

U
n
d
e
r

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n

S
o
n
ia

 C
o
v
e
n
tr

y

2
8
9

W
e
s
t

N
o
rt

h
fl
e
e
t

T
Q

 8
6
4
 6

0
3

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

, 
B

e
a
u
m

o
n
t 

R
o
a
d
 a

n
d
 D

o
v
e
r 

R
o
a
d

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/G
R

/C
2
8
9

0
9
/0

8
/2

0
0
6

D
e
c
lin

e
d
 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 

a
n
 O

rd
e
r

M
a
ri
a

M
c
L
a
u
c
h
la

n

C
a
s
e

c
o
m

p
le

te

Page 41



2
9
0

E
a
s
t

L
y
d
d
e
n

T
R

 2
4
2
 4

4
8

E
R

1
2
1

C
la

im
e
d
 a

d
d
it
io

n
 t
o
 t
h
e
 

p
a
rt

ic
u
la

rs
 r

e
la

ti
n
g
 t
o
 B

ri
d
le

w
a
y
 

E
R

1
2
1

P
R

O
W

/D
O

/C
2
9
0

1
4
/0

8
/2

0
0
6

D
e
c
lin

e
d
 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 

a
n
 O

rd
e
r 

- 
n
o
 

A
p
p
e
a
l 
re

c
e
iv

e
d

L
a
u
ra

 W
ilk

in
s

C
a
s
e

c
o
m

p
le

te

2
9
1

E
a
s
t

L
y
d
d
e
n

T
R

 2
4
2
 4

4
8

E
R

1
2
1

C
la

im
e
d
 a

d
d
it
io

n
 t
o
 t
h
e
 

p
a
rt

ic
u
la

rs
 r

e
la

ti
n
g
 t
o
 B

ri
d
le

w
a
y
 

E
R

1
2
1

P
R

O
W

/D
O

/C
2
9
1

3
0
/0

8
/2

0
0
6

D
e
c
lin

e
d
 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 

a
n
 O

rd
e
r 

- 
n
o
 

A
p
p
e
a
l 
re

c
e
iv

e
d

L
a
u
ra

 W
ilk

in
s

C
a
s
e

c
o
m

p
le

te

2
9
2

E
a
s
t

L
it
tl
e
 C

h
a
rt

T
Q

 9
3
4
 4

6
6

A
W

1
0
8

C
la

im
e
d
 a

d
d
it
io

n
 t
o
 t
h
e
 

p
a
rt

ic
u
la

rs
 r

e
la

ti
n
g
 t
o
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

 

A
W

1
0
8

P
R

O
W

/A
S

/C
2
9
2

0
4
/0

9
/2

0
0
6

O
rd

e
r 

c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d
 

w
it
h
 m

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
s
 

fo
llo

w
in

g
 P

u
b
lic

 

In
q
u
ir
y

M
a
ri
a

M
c
L
a
u
c
h
la

n
C

a
s
e

c
o
m

p
le

te

2
9
3

E
a
s
t

B
ir
c
h
in

g
to

n
T

R
 3

0
4
 6

9
2

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

, 
Y

e
w

 T
re

e
 

G
a
rd

e
n
s
 t
o
 N

e
a
m

e
 W

o
o
d
s

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/T
H

/C
2
9
3

0
5
/1

0
/2

0
0
6

D
e
c
lin

e
d
 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 

a
n
 O

rd
e
r 

- 
n
o
 

A
p
p
e
a
l 
re

c
e
iv

e
d

L
a
u
ra

W
ilk

in
s
/M

a
tt

G
a
rv

e
y

C
a
s
e

c
o
m

p
le

te

2
9
4

W
e
s
t

M
a
rd

e
n

T
Q

 7
4
4
 4

7
4
 t
o
 

T
Q

 7
4
4
 4

7
7

C
la

im
e
d
 B

y
w

a
y
, 
T

ild
e
n
 L

a
n
e
 t
o
 

F
o
o
tp

a
th

 K
M

2
2
9

B
y
w

a
y

P
R

O
W

/M
A

/C
2
9
4

3
1
/1

0
/2

0
0
6

D
e
c
lin

e
d
 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 

a
n
 O

rd
e
r 

- 
A

p
p
e
a
l 

re
c
e
iv

e
d
. 
 C

a
s
e
 

w
it
h
 t
h
e
 P

la
n
n
in

g
 

In
s
p
e
c
to

ra
te

 -
 

A
p
p
e
a
l 
d
is

m
is

s
e
d

M
e
la

n
ie

 M
c
N

e
ir

C
a
s
e

c
o
m

p
le

te

2
9
5

E
a
s
t

T
e
y
n
h
a
m

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

, 
Z

R
2
3
4
 t
o
 

Z
R

2
3
4

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/S
W

/C
2
9
5

2
9
/0

1
/2

0
0
7

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e
 a

n
d
 

c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d

S
te

w
a
rt

 B
ig

g
s

C
a
s
e

c
o
m

p
le

te

2
9
6

E
a
s
t

W
h
it
s
ta

b
le

T
R

 1
0
6
 6

6
4

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

, 
M

id
d
le

 W
a
ll 

to
 

C
o
rn

w
a
lli

s
 C

ir
c
le

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/C
C

/C
2
9
6

2
0
/0

2
/2

0
0
7

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e
 a

n
d
 

c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d

L
a
u
ra

W
ilk

in
s
/M

a
tt

G
a
rv

e
y

C
a
s
e

c
o
m

p
le

te

2
9
7

E
a
s
t

L
it
tl
e
b
o
u
rn

e

T
R

 1
9
8
4
 5

7
2
5
 

to
 T

R
 2

0
6
0
 

5
7
5
8

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

, 
C

B
1
5
0
 t
o
 T

h
e
 

H
ill

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/C
C

/C
2
9
7

2
7
/0

3
/2

0
0
7

U
n
d
e
r

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n

M
e
la

n
ie

 M
c
N

e
ir

2
9
8

E
a
s
t

L
it
tl
e
b
o
u
rn

e

T
R

 1
9
1
0
 5

6
5
6
 

to
 T

R
 2

0
6
0
 

5
7
5
8

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

, 
C

B
1
5
2
 t
o
 T

h
e
 

H
ill

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/C
C

/C
2
9
8

2
7
/0

3
/2

0
0
7

U
n
d
e
r

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n

M
e
la

n
ie

 M
c
N

e
ir

2
9
9

E
a
s
t

W
h
it
s
ta

b
le

T
R

 1
0
5
 6

5
9

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

, 
G

le
b
e
 W

a
y
 t
o
 

th
e
 l
e
v
e
l 
c
ro

s
s
in

g
F

o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/C
C

/C
2
9
9

0
7
/0

6
/2

0
0
7

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e
 a

n
d
 

c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d

L
a
u
ra

W
ilk

in
s
/M

a
tt

G
a
rv

e
y

C
a
s
e

c
o
m

p
le

te

3
0
0

W
e
s
t

M
a
rd

e
n

T
Q

 7
1
7
 4

1
7
 t
o
 

T
Q

 7
5
1
 4

1
1

C
la

im
e
d
 R

e
s
tr

ic
te

d
 B

y
w

a
y
, 

S
h
e
re

n
d
e
n
 L

a
n
e
 t
o
 H

a
rt

s
 H

e
a
th

R
e
s
tr

ic
te

d
 B

y
w

a
y

P
R

O
W

/M
A

/C
3
0
0

0
4
/0

7
/2

0
0
7

D
e
c
lin

e
d
 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 

a
n
 O

rd
e
r 

- 
A

p
p
e
a
l 

re
c
e
iv

e
d
. 
 C

a
s
e
 

w
it
h
 t
h
e
 P

la
n
n
in

g
 

In
s
p
e
c
to

ra
te

 -
 

A
p
p
e
a
l 
w

it
h
d
ra

w
n

M
e
la

n
ie

 M
c
N

e
ir

C
a
s
e

c
o
m

p
le

te

3
0
1

W
e
s
t

S
w

a
n
s
c
o
m

b
e

T
Q

 6
0
5
 7

5
0

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

, 
P

ilg
ri
m

s
 R

o
a
d

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/D
A

/C
3
0
1

2
0
/0

7
/2

0
0
7

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e
 a

n
d
 

c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d

M
a
ri
a

M
c
L
a
u
c
h
la

n
C

a
s
e

c
o
m

p
le

te

Page 42



3
0
2

E
a
s
t

G
re

a
ts

to
n
e

T
R

 0
8
0
8
 2

2
8
8

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

, 
T

h
e
 P

a
ra

d
e
 t
o
 

M
e
rr

it
t 
R

o
a
d

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/S
H

/C
3
0
2

2
0
/0

8
/2

0
0
7

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e
 a

n
d
 

c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d

M
a
ri
a

M
c
L
a
u
c
h
la

n

C
a
s
e

c
o
m

p
le

te

3
0
3

E
a
s
t

Ic
k
h
a
m

T
R

 2
0
0
2
 5

6
7
7
 

to
 T

R
 2

0
5
4
 

5
6
2
9

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

, 
L
a
c
k
e
n
d
e
n
 t
o
 

G
a
rr

in
g
to

n
F

o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/C
C

/C
3
0
3

2
0
/0

8
/2

0
0
7

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e
 a

n
d
 

c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d

M
a
ri
a

M
c
L
a
u
c
h
la

n
C

a
s
e

c
o
m

p
le

te

3
0
4

E
a
s
t

L
y
m

p
n
e
,

H
y
th

e
T

R
 1

2
0
 3

5
1

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

, 
B

e
lc

a
ir
e
 

C
lo

s
e
 t
o
 H

a
rm

a
n
 A

v
e
n
u
e

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/S
H

/C
3
0
4

0
6
/0

9
/2

0
0
7

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e
 a

n
d
 

c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d

M
a
ri
a

M
c
L
a
u
c
h
la

n

C
a
s
e

c
o
m

p
le

te

3
0
5

W
e
s
t

M
a
rd

e
n
 &

 

H
o
rs

m
o
n
d
e
n

T
Q

 7
3
8
 4

2
2
 t
o
 

T
Q

 7
2
3
 4

2
6

In
c
lu

d
e
s

p
a
th

n
u
m

b
e
rs

 F
P

 

K
M

2
6
1
, 
F

P
 

K
M

2
5
8
, 
F

P
 

W
T

3
3
3
, 
F

P
 

W
T

3
3
2
 &

 

F
P

 W
T

3
3
1

C
la

im
e
d
 R

e
s
tr

ic
te

d
 B

y
w

a
y
, 

G
o
u
d
h
u
rs

t 
R

o
a
d
 t
o
 Q

u
e
e
n
 

M
e
a
d
s

R
e
s
tr

ic
te

d
 B

y
w

a
y

P
R

O
W

/M
A

&
T

W
/C

3
0

5
0
6
/1

2
/2

0
0
7

D
e
c
lin

e
d
 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 

a
n
 O

rd
e
r 

- 
A

p
p
e
a
l 

re
c
e
iv

e
d
. 
 C

a
s
e
 

w
it
h
 t
h
e
 P

la
n
n
in

g
 

In
s
p
e
c
to

ra
te

 -
 

A
p
p
e
a
l 
d
is

m
is

s
e
d

M
a
ri
a

M
c
L
a
u
c
h
la

n

C
a
s
e

c
o
m

p
le

te

3
0
6

W
e
s
t

D
a
rt

fo
rd

T
Q

5
0
9
7
/7

2
4
1

to

T
Q

5
1
0
4
/7

2
6
4

to

T
Q

5
0
9
8
/7

2
7
3

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

, 
T

ile
 K

iln
 L

a
n
e
 

to
 C

a
lv

e
rt

 D
ri
v
e

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/D
A

/C
3
0
6

0
5
/0

2
/2

0
0
8

D
e
c
lin

e
d
 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 

a
n
 O

rd
e
r 

- 
n
o
 

A
p
p
e
a
l 
re

c
e
iv

e
d

M
a
tt
h
e
w

 G
a
rv

e
y

C
a
s
e

c
o
m

p
le

te

3
0
7

W
e
s
t

S
n
o
d
la

n
d
 &

 

L
a
rk

fi
e
ld

T
Q

7
1
1
9
 6

1
3
1
 

to
 T

Q
 7

1
3
1
 

6
1
0
2

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

 r
u
n
n
in

g
 

b
e
tw

e
e
n
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

 M
R

4
4
 a

n
d
 

a
n
o
th

e
r 

c
o
n
n
e
c
ti
o
n
 w

it
h
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

 

M
R

4
4

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/T
M

/C
3
0
7

0
4
/0

4
/2

0
0
8

A
c
c
e
le

ra
te

d
 i
n
 l
in

e
 

w
it
h
 S

ta
te

m
e
n
t 
o
f 

P
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
 -

 u
n
d
e
r 

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n

S
o
n
ia

 C
o
v
e
n
tr

y

3
0
8

W
e
s
t

L
e
n
h
a
m

T
Q

 9
1
0
1
 4

9
9
5
 

to
 T

Q
 9

1
2
8
 

4
9
8
5

C
la

im
e
d
 B

ri
d
le

w
a
y
 f
ro

m
 B

u
ll 

H
ill

 

to
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

 K
H

4
0
5
, 
L
e
n
h
a
m

 

H
e
a
th

B
ri
d
le

w
a
y

P
R

O
W

/M
A

/C
3
0
8

0
1
/0

5
/2

0
0
8

O
rd

e
r 

C
o
n
fi
rm

e
d
 

(P
u
b
lic

 F
o
o
tp

a
th

 

s
ta

tu
s
) 

b
y
 

S
e
c
re

ta
r y

 o
f 
S

ta
te

 

fo
llo

w
in

g
 W

ri
tt
e
n
 

R
e
p
re

s
e
n
ta

ti
o
n
s

M
a
tt
h
e
w

 G
a
rv

e
y

C
a
s
e

c
o
m

p
le

te

3
0
9

W
e
s
t

S
u
n
d
ri
d
g
e

T
Q

 4
8
0
8
 5

3
4
5
 

to
 T

Q
 4

8
1
4
 

5
3
4
6

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

 f
ro

m
 N

e
w

 

R
o
a
d
 t
o
 B

ri
d
le

w
a
y
 S

R
2
5
9
, 

S
u
n
d
ri
d
g
e

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/S
E

/C
3
0
9

0
5
/0

6
/2

0
0
8

D
e
c
lin

e
d
 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 

a
n
 O

rd
e
r 

- 
A

p
p
e
a
l 

re
c
e
iv

e
d
. 
 C

a
s
e
 

w
it
h
 t
h
e
 P

la
n
n
in

g
 

In
s
p
e
c
to

ra
te

M
a
tt
h
e
w

 G
a
rv

e
y

3
1
0

W
e
s
t

H
o
lli

n
g
b
o
u
rn

e

T
Q

 8
4
2
2
 5

4
8
2
 

to
 T

Q
 8

4
3
4
 

5
5
0
1

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

 f
ro

m
 

G
re

e
n
w

a
y
 C

o
u
rt

 R
o
a
d
 t
o
 B

2
1
6
3
, 

H
o
lli

n
g
b
o
u
rn

e

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/M
A

/C
3
1
0

1
0
/0

6
/2

0
0
8

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e
 a

n
d
 

c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d

M
a
tt
h
e
w

 G
a
rv

e
y

C
a
s
e

c
o
m

p
le

te

Page 43



3
1
1

W
e
s
t

W
e
s
t

K
in

g
s
d
o
w

n

T
Q

 5
7
3
2
 6

3
2
5
 

to
 T

Q
 5

7
3
9
 

6
3
1
7

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

 f
ro

m
 H

e
v
e
r 

A
v
e
n
u
e
 t
o
 C

h
u
rc

h
 R

o
a
d
, 
W

e
s
t 

K
in

g
s
d
o
w

n

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/S
E

/C
3
1
1

1
8
/0

6
/2

0
0
8

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e
, 

o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
s

re
c
e
iv

e
d
 -

 c
a
s
e
 

w
ill

 b
e
 s

u
b
m

it
te

d
 

to
 t
h
e
 S

e
c
re

ta
r y

 o
f 

S
ta

te

M
a
ri
a

M
c
L
a
u
c
h
la

n

3
1
2

E
a
s
t

M
a
rg

a
te

T
R

 3
8
8
5
 7

1
9
6
 

to
 T

R
 3

8
8
7
 

7
1
1
3

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

 f
ro

m
 

K
n
o
c
k
h
o
lt
 R

o
a
d
 t
o
 T

h
e
 R

id
in

g
s
, 

M
a
rg

a
te

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/T
H

/C
3
1
2

2
2
/0

7
/2

0
0
8

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e
 a

n
d
 

c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d

M
a
ri
a

M
c
L
a
u
c
h
la

n
C

a
s
e

c
o
m

p
le

te

3
1
3

E
a
s
t

W
h
it
s
ta

b
le

T
R

 1
0
7
2
 6

4
7
9
 

to
 T

R
 1

0
9
8
 

6
4
9
9

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

 f
ro

m
 G

o
rr

e
ll 

W
o
o
d
 v

ia
 B

e
n
a
c
re

 W
o
o
d
 t
o
 S

t 

A
n
d
re

w
s
 C

lo
s
e
 a

n
d
 r

e
tu

rn
in

g
 t
o
 

G
o
rr

e
ll 

W
o
o
d

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/C
C

/C
3
1
3

0
6
/0

8
/2

0
0
8

C
a
s
e
 w

it
h
d
ra

w
n

M
e
la

n
ie

 M
c
N

e
ir

C
a
s
e

c
o
m

p
le

te

3
1
4

W
e
s
t

S
n
o
d
la

n
d

T
Q

 7
0
0
3
 6

1
8
3
 

to
 T

Q
 7

0
0
8
 

6
1
8
4

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

 f
ro

m
 B

ir
lin

g
 

R
o
a
d
 t
o
 B

in
g
le

y
 C

lo
s
e

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/T
M

/C
3
1
4

2
9
/0

8
/2

0
0
8

U
n
d
e
r

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n

M
a
tt
h
e
w

 G
a
rv

e
y

3
1
5

W
e
s
t

S
h
ip

b
o
u
rn

e

T
Q

 5
8
9
4
 5

0
9
3
 

to
 T

Q
 5

8
9
4
 

5
0
8
9

C
la

im
e
d
 B

ri
d
le

w
a

y
 f
ro

m
 M

T
5
0
 t
o
 

M
T

5
0

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/T
M

/C
3
1
5

0
6
/1

0
/2

0
0
8

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e
 a

n
d
 

c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d

M
a
tt
h
e
w

 G
a
rv

e
y

C
a
s
e

c
o
m

p
le

te

3
1
6

W
e
s
t

R
iv

e
rh

e
a
d

T
Q

 5
1
4
7
 5

6
2
4
 

to
 T

Q
 5

1
4
7
 

5
6
2
0

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

 f
ro

m
 

M
a
id

s
to

n
e
 R

o
a
d
 t
o
 S

t.
 M

a
ry

's
 

C
h
u
rc

h
F

o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/S
E

/C
3
1
6

1
3
/1

0
/2

0
0
8

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e

L
a
u
ra

 W
ilk

in
s

3
1
7

W
e
s
t

T
u
n
b
ri
d
g
e

W
e
lls

T
Q

 5
8
3
8
 3

9
3
7
 

to
 T

Q
 5

8
4
0
 

3
9
4
5
 a

n
d
 T

Q
 

5
8
4
4
 3

9
3
8

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

s
 f
ro

m
 

C
la

n
ri
c
a
rd

e
 R

o
a
d
 t
o
 M

o
u
n
t 

P
le

a
s
a
n
t 
R

o
a
d
 a

n
d
 C

h
u
rc

h
 R

o
a
d

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/T
W

/C
3
1
7

2
0
/1

1
/2

0
0
8

A
p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
 h

a
s
 

b
e
e
n
 a

c
c
e
le

ra
te

d
 

in
 l
in

e
 w

it
h
 

S
ta

te
m

e
n
t 
o
f 

P
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s

(d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t)

,

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e
, 

o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
s

re
c
e
iv

e
d

L
a
u
ra

 W
ilk

in
s

3
1
8

W
e
s
t

H
ild

e
n
b
o
ro

u
g
h

T
Q

 5
8
1
 4

9
1
 t
o
 

T
Q

 5
8
2
 4

9
2
 

a
n
d
 T

Q
 5

8
0
 

4
8
8
 t
o
 T

Q
 5

8
0
 

4
9
3
 a

n
d
 T

Q
 

5
8
0
 4

8
8
 t
o
 T

Q
 

5
7
9
 4

8
6

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

s
 f
ro

m
 

B
ri
d
le

w
a
y
 M

T
5
2
 t
o
 P

u
b
lic

 

F
o
o
tp

a
th

 M
T

3
7
 a

n
d
 f
ro

m
 P

u
b
lic

 

F
o
o
tp

a
th

 M
T

3
7
 t
o
 a

n
o
th

e
r 

c
o
n
n
e
c
ti
o
n
 w

it
h
 P

u
b
lic

 F
o
o
tp

a
th

 

M
T

3
7
 a

n
d
 f
ro

m
 B

ri
d
le

w
a
y
 M

T
5
2
 

to
 P

u
b
lic

 F
o
o
tp

a
th

 M
T

3
7

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/T
M

/C
3
1
8

2
4
/1

1
/2

0
0
8

U
n
d
e
r

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n

L
a
u
ra

 W
ilk

in
s

3
1
9

E
a
s
t

M
in

s
te

r

T
R

 3
0
5
7
 6

4
7
2
 

to
 T

R
 3

0
4
7
 

6
4
5
6

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

 f
ro

m
 M

o
n
k
to

n
 

R
o
a
d
 (

s
ta

rt
 o

f 
T

E
3
4
) 

to
 i
ts

 

ju
n
c
ti
o
n
 w

it
h
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

 T
E

3
3

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/T
H

/C
3
1
9

2
4
/0

4
/2

0
0
9

C
a
s
e
 a

c
c
e
le

ra
te

d
 -

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e
 a

n
d
 

c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d

M
a
ri
a

M
c
L
a
u
c
h
la

n

C
a
s
e

c
o
m

p
le

te

3
2
0

E
a
s
t

C
h
e
ri
to

n
,

F
o
lk

e
s
to

n
e

T
R

 1
9
0
3
 3

6
1
8
 

to
 T

R
 1

9
0
9
 

3
6
0
9

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

 f
ro

m
 t
h
e
 e

n
d
 

o
f 
V

a
le

b
ro

o
k
 C

lo
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 

n
o
rt

h
e
rn

 e
n
d
 o

f 
P

u
b
lic

 F
o
o
tp

a
th

 

H
F

4
3

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/S
H

/C
3
2
0

1
4
/0

5
/2

0
0
9

D
e
c
lin

e
d
 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 

a
n
 O

rd
e
r 

- 
w

it
h
in

 

A
p
p
e
a
l 
p
e
ri
o
d

L
a
u
ra

 W
ilk

in
s

Page 44



3
2
1

W
e
s
t

T
u
n
b
ri
d
g
e

W
e
lls

T
Q

 5
8
9
6
 4

0
3
9
 

to
 T

Q
5
8
9
3
 

4
0
4
5

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

 f
ro

m
 t
h
e
 T

o
p
 

G
a
te

 o
f 
G

ro
s
v
e
n
o
r 

P
a
rk

 t
o
 

Q
u
a
rr

y
 R

o
a
d

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/T
W

/C
3
2
1

2
5
/0

5
/2

0
0
9

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e
, 
c
a
s
e
 

s
u
b
m

it
te

d
 t
o
 

S
e
c
re

ta
r y

 o
f 
S

ta
te

 

fo
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n

M
a
tt
h
e
w

 G
a
rv

e
y

3
2
2

E
a
s
t

H
ig

h
 H

a
ld

e
n

T
Q

 9
0
6
9
 3

6
4
5
 

to
 T

Q
 9

2
2
9
 

3
6
6
4

A
T

1
6
4

C
la

im
e
d
 d

o
w

n
g
ra

d
in

g
 t
o
 a

 

F
o
o
tp

a
th

 t
h
e
 R

e
s
tr

ic
te

d
 B

y
w

a
y
 

A
T

1
6
4
 r

u
n
n
in

g
 f
ro

m
 R

e
d
b
ro

o
k
 

S
tr

e
e
t 
to

 H
a
rb

o
u
rn

e
 L

a
n
e

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/A
S

/C
3
2
2

1
1
/0

6
/2

0
0
9

A
p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
 d

o
e
s
 

n
o
t 
c
o
m

p
ly

 w
it
h
 

le
g
is

la
ti
o
n

C
a
s
e

c
o
m

p
le

te

3
2
3

E
a
s
t

H
a
rb

le
d
o
w

n

T
R

 1
2
9
 5

7
3
 t
o
 

T
R

 1
2
9
 9

5
7
7

C
B

4
8
5

C
la

im
e
d
 u

p
g
ra

d
in

g
 t
o
 a

 

R
e
s
tr

ic
te

d
 B

y
w

a
y
 p

a
rt

 o
f 
P

u
b
lic

 

F
o
o
tp

a
th

 C
B

4
8
5
 r

u
n
n
in

g
 f
ro

m
 

W
h
it
e
h
a
ll 

R
o
a
d
 t
o
 i
ts

 j
u
n
c
ti
o
n
 

w
it
h
 t
h
e
 N

o
rt

h
 D

o
w

n
s
 W

a
y

R
e
s
tr

ic
te

d
 B

y
w

a
y

P
R

O
W

/C
C

/C
3
2
3

0
7
/0

7
/2

0
0
9

D
e
c
lin

e
d
 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 

a
n
 O

rd
e
r 

- 
n
o
 

A
p
p
e
a
l 
re

c
e
iv

e
d

M
a
tt
h
e
w

 G
a
rv

e
y

C
a
s
e

c
o
m

p
le

te

3
2
4

E
a
s
t

W
h
it
s
ta

b
le

T
R

 1
0
8
2
 6

5
7
1
 

to
 T

R
 1

0
8
4
 

6
5
8
0

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

 f
ro

m
 G

re
e
n
 

L
a
n
e
 t
o
 H

a
rw

ic
h
 S

tr
e
e
t

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/C
C

/C
3
2
4

1
3
/0

8
/2

0
0
9

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e
 a

n
d
 

c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d

M
a
tt
h
e
w

 G
a
rv

e
y

C
a
s
e

c
o
m

p
le

te

3
2
5

E
a
s
t

M
ilt

o
n
 R

e
g
is

, 

S
it
ti
n
g
b
o
u
rn

e

T
Q

 9
0
0
6
 6

5
0
3
 

to
 T

Q
 9

0
1
1
 

6
4
9
4

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

 f
ro

m
 

M
id

d
le

tu
n
e
 A

v
e
n
u
e
 t
o
 V

ic
a
ra

g
e
 

R
o
a
d

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/S
W

/C
3
2
5

2
7
/0

8
/2

0
0
9

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e
 a

n
d
 

c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d

M
a
ri
a

M
c
L
a
u
c
h
la

n

C
a
s
e

c
o
m

p
le

te

3
2
6

E
a
s
t

B
ra

b
o
u
rn

e

T
R

 0
7
6
6
 4

0
1
4
 

to
 T

R
 0

7
4
0
 

4
0
4
2

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

 f
ro

m
 C

h
u
rc

h
 

R
o
a
d
 t
o
 P

u
b
lic

 F
o
o
tp

a
th

 A
E

2
8
5

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/A
S

/C
3
2
6

0
7
/1

2
/2

0
0
9

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e

M
a
ri
a

M
c
L
a
u
c
h
la

n

3
2
7

E
a
s
t

R
in

g
w

o
u
ld

w
it
h

K
in

g
s
d
o
w

n

T
R

 3
7
5
9
 4

8
1
1
 

to
 T

R
 3

7
7
1
 

4
8
1
1

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

 f
ro

m
 T

h
e
 

A
v
e
n
u
e
 t
o
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

 E
R

8
F

o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/D
O

/C
3
2
7

2
9
/1

2
/2

0
0
9

U
n
d
e
r

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n

M
a
ri
a

M
c
L
a
u
c
h
la

n

3
2
8

W
e
s
t

H
ild

e
n
b
o
ro

u
g
h

T
Q

 5
7
7
8
 4

7
5
0
 

to
 T

Q
 5

7
7
3
 

4
7
3
9

M
T

4
3

C
la

im
e
d
 a

m
e
n
d
m

e
n
t 
to

 t
h
e
 

a
lig

n
m

e
n
t 
o
f 
p
a
rt

 o
f 
P

u
b
lic

 

F
o
o
tp

a
th

 M
T

4
3

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/T
M

/C
3
2
8

0
5
/0

1
/2

0
1
0

U
n
d
e
r

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n

M
a
ri
a

M
c
L
a
u
c
h
la

n

3
2
9

E
a
s
t

D
y
m

c
h
u
rc

h
 &

 

B
u
rm

a
rs

h

T
R

 1
2
7
5
 3

1
9
1
 

to
 T

R
 1

2
1
5
 

3
3
1
7

C
la

im
e
d
 R

e
s
tr

ic
te

d
 B

y
w

a
y
 

ru
n
n
in

g
 f
ro

m
 A

2
5
9
 t
o
 B

o
to

lp
h
's

 

B
ri
d
g
e
 R

o
a
d

R
e
s
tr

ic
te

d
 B

y
w

a
y

P
R

O
W

/S
H

/C
3
2
9

1
7
/0

2
/2

0
1
0

U
n
d
e
r

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n

M
a
tt
h
e
w

 G
a
rv

e
y

3
3
0

E
a
s
t

S
h
e
p
h
e
rd

s
w

e
ll

w
it
h
 C

o
ld

re
d

T
R

 2
5
9
1
 4

7
7
9
 

to
 T

R
 2

5
9
4
 

4
7
5
2

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

 f
ro

m
 P

u
b
lic

 

F
o
o
tp

a
th

 E
R

8
0
/8

1
 (

M
o
o
rl
a
n
d
 

R
o
a
d
) 

to
 P

u
b
lic

 F
o
o
tp

a
th

 E
R

8
3

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/D
O

/C
3
3
0

0
2
/0

3
/2

0
1
0

U
n
d
e
r

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n

M
a
tt
h
e
w

 G
a
rv

e
y

3
3
1

W
e
s
t

A
y
le

s
fo

rd
 &

 

B
u
rh

a
m

T
Q

 7
1
6
9
 6

1
9
9
 

to
 T

Q
 7

2
4
7
 

5
9
0
4

M
R

4
6
5
,

M
R

4
5
9
,

M
R

4
3
0
 &

 

M
R

4
5
4

(p
a
rt

)

C
la

im
e
d
 u

p
g
ra

d
in

g
 t
o
 R

e
s
tr

ic
te

d
 

B
y
w

a
y
 s

ta
tu

s
 P

u
b
lic

 F
o
o
tp

a
th

s
 

M
R

4
6
5
, 
M

R
4
5
9
, 
M

R
4
3
0
 &

 

M
R

4
5
4
 (

p
a
rt

) 
a
n
d
 t
h
e
 a

d
d
it
io

n
 o

f 

fo
u
r 

R
e
s
tr

ic
te

d
 B

y
w

a
y
s

R
e
s
tr

ic
te

d
 B

y
w

a
y

P
R

O
W

/T
M

/C
3
3
1

2
3
/0

3
/2

0
1
0

A
w

a
it
in

g

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n

3
3
2

W
e
s
t

S
w

a
n
le

y

T
Q

 5
0
9
5
 6

8
1
5
 

to
 5

0
9
4
 6

8
1
4

C
la

im
e
d
 P

u
b
lic

 F
o
o
tp

a
th

 f
ro

m
 

A
z
a
le

a
 D

ri
v
e
 t
o
 L

a
d
d
s
 W

a
y

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/S
E

/C
3
3
2

2
5
/0

3
/2

0
1
0

A
w

a
it
in

g

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n

Page 45



3
3
3

W
e
s
t

S
e
v
e
n
o
a
k
s

T
Q

 5
3
5
4
 5

2
9
1
 

to
 T

Q
 5

3
5
4
 

5
2
9
6

C
la

im
e
d
 P

u
b
lic

 F
o
o
tp

a
th

 r
u
n
n
in

g

fr
o
m

 o
n
e
 p

u
b
lic

 r
o
a
d
s
id

e
 f
o
o
tp

a
th

to
 a

n
o
th

e
r 

in
 f
ro

n
t 
o
f 
th

e
 W

h
it
e
 

H
a
rt

 P
u
b
lic

 H
o
u
s
e
 (

T
o
n
b
ri
d
g
e
 

R
o
a
d
)

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/S
E

/C
3
3
3

2
6
/0

4
/2

0
1
0

A
w

a
it
in

g

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n

3
3
4

W
e
s
t

T
e
s
to

n

R
o

u
te

 1
 T

Q
 

6
9
7
8
 5

4
8
2
 t
o
 

7
0
1
7
 5

4
3
9
 

R
o

u
te

 2
 
T

Q

6
9
8
6
 5

4
6
5
 t
o
 

6
9
8
0
 5

4
6
1
 

R
o

u
te

 3
 T

Q
 

6
9
9
1
 5

4
7
9
 t
o
 

7
0
1
7
 5

4
5
9
 

R
o

u
te

 4
 
T

Q

7
0
0
6
 5

4
4
3
 t
o
 

7
0
1
7
 5

4
5
9

C
la

im
e
d
 B

ri
d
le

w
a
y
s
 k

n
o
w

n
 a

s
 

G
re

e
n
 W

a
lk

s
:-

R
o

u
te

1
-N

o
rt

h
p
o
le

 R
o
a
d
 t
o
 K

M
3
3
3

R
o

u
te

 2
 -

 R
o
u
te

 1
 t
o
 L

iv
e
s
e
y
 

S
tr

e
e
t

R
o

u
te

3
 N

o
rt

h
p
o
le

 R
o
a
d
 t
o
 K

M
3
3
3
 a

n
d
 

R
o
u
te

 4
R

o
u

te
 4

 R
o
u
te

 1
 

to
 K

M
3
3
3
 a

n
d
 R

o
u
te

 3
B

ri
d
le

w
a
y

P
R

O
W

/M
A

/C
3
3
4

2
7
/0

4
/2

0
1
0

A
w

a
it
in

g

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n

3
3
5

E
a
s
t

S
h
e
p
h
e
rd

s
w

e
ll

w
it
h
 C

o
ld

re
d

T
R

 2
5
8
4
 4

8
0
5
 

to
 T

R
 2

5
8
7
 

4
7
9
8

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

 f
ro

m
 E

y
th

o
rn

e
 

R
o
a
d
 t
o
 C

h
u
rc

h
 H

ill
F

o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/D
O

/C
3
3
5

0
1
/0

6
/2

0
1
0

A
w

a
it
in

g

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n

3
3
6

E
a
s
t

D
o
v
e
r

T
R

 3
1
9
9
 4

2
2
1
 

to
 T

R
 3

2
0
3
 

4
2
1
8

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

 f
ro

m
 

C
o
n
n
a
u
g
h
t 
R

o
a
d
 t
o
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

 

E
B

X
9
 (

G
o
d
w

y
n
e
 P

a
th

) 
ru

n
n
in

g
 

a
lo

n
g
s
id

e
 t
h
e
 p

ro
p
e
rt

y
 k

n
o
w

n
 a

s
 

C
a
s
tl
e
 R

is
e

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/D
O

/C
3
3
6

2
9
/0

7
/2

0
1
0

A
w

a
it
in

g

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n

3
3
7

W
e
s
t

W
e
s
t

K
in

g
s
d
o
w

n
 &

 

K
e
m

s
in

g

T
Q

 5
7
5
1
 6

0
9
5
 

to
 5

7
4
7
 5

9
3
4
 

&
 5

7
8
1
 6

0
4
0
 

to
 5

8
0
7
 6

0
6
7

C
la

im
e
d
 R

e
s
tr

ic
te

d
 B

y
w

a
y
 f
ro

m
 

T
in

k
e
rp

o
t 
L
a
n
e
 t
o
 P

ilg
ri
m

s
 W

a
y
 

a
n
d
 S

t 
C

le
re

 H
ill

, 
in

c
lu

d
in

g
 t
h
e
 

u
p
g
ra

d
in

g
 o

f 
p
a
rt

s
 o

f 
P

u
b
lic

 

F
o
o
tp

a
th

s
 S

D
2
8
3
 &

 S
D

2
8
4

R
e
s
tr

ic
te

d
 B

y
w

a
y

P
R

O
W

/S
E

/C
3
3
7

1
1
/0

8
/2

0
1
0

A
p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
 h

a
s
 

b
e
e
n
 a

c
c
e
le

ra
te

d
 

in
 l
in

e
 w

it
h
 

S
ta

te
m

e
n
t 
o
f 

P
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
  
- 

c
a
s
e
 

lin
k
e
d
 t
o
 

P
R

O
W

/S
E

/C
2
8
7

S
o
n
ia

 C
o
v
e
n
tr

y

3
3
8

W
e
s
t

K
in

g
s
w

o
o
d

T
Q

 8
4
2
6
 5

0
6
6
 

to
 T

Q
 8

4
1
4
 

5
0
1
5

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

 f
ro

m
 L

e
n
h
a
m

 

R
o
a
d
, 
K

in
g
s
w

o
o
d
, 
M

E
1
7
 1

L
Z

 t
o
 

F
o
o
tp

a
th

 K
H

3
1
2
 a

n
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

 

K
H

3
1
3
A

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/M
A

/C
3
3
8

1
7
/1

1
/2

0
1
0

A
w

a
it
in

g

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n

3
3
9

W
e
s
t

G
re

e
n
h
it
h
e

T
Q

 5
8
6
2
 7

5
1
5
 

to
 T

Q
 5

8
6
2
 

7
5
1
9

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

 f
ro

m
 t
h
e
 H

ig
h
 

S
tr

e
e
t 
to

 t
h
e
 F

o
re

s
h
o
re

 a
d
j.
 t
o
 

th
e
 S

ir
 J

o
h
n
 F

ra
n
k
lin

 P
.H

.
F

o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/D
A

/C
3
3
9

2
2
/0

2
/2

0
1
1

A
w

a
it
in

g

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n

3
4
0

W
e
s
t

S
w

a
n
s
c
o
m

b
e

&
 G

re
e
n
h
it
h
e

D
e
le

ti
o
n
 -

 T
Q

 

5
8
8
1
 7

4
1
9
 t
o
 

T
Q

 5
8
8
3
 7

4
1
9
 

A
d
d
it
io

n
 -

 T
Q

 

5
8
8
1
 7

4
1
9
 t
o
 

T
Q

 5
8
8
5
 7

4
1
6

D
S

1
0

C
la

im
e
d
 d

e
le

ti
o
n
 o

f 
p
a
rt

 o
f 

F
o
o
tp

a
th

 D
S

1
0
 r

u
n
n
in

g
 f
ro

m
 t
h
e
 

s
te

p
s
 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 t
h
e
 g

a
rd

e
n
s
 o

f 
7
3
, 

7
1
, 
6
9
 &

 6
7
 V

a
lle

y
 V

ie
w

 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 

a
d
it
io

n
 o

f 
a
 f
o
o
tp

a
th

 r
u
n
n
in

g
 f
ro

m
 

th
e
 s

te
p
s
 i
n
 a

 s
o
u
th

e
rl
y
 d

ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 

a
n
d
 e

a
s
te

rl
y
 t
o
 V

a
lle

y
 V

ie
w

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/D
A

/C
3
4
0

1
8
/0

7
/2

0
1
1

A
w

a
it
in

g

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n

Page 46



Y
e

a
r 

2
0

0
6

R
e

f.
 N

o
.

P
a

th
 N

o
P

a
ri

s
h

D
e

s
c

ri
p

ti
o

n
D

a
te

R
e

c
e

iv
e

d

S
ta

tu
s
 (

th
e

 s
ta

g
e

 t
h

e
 

a
p

p
lic

a
ti
o

n
 h

a
s
 r

e
a

c
h

e
d

)
W

it
h

d
ra

w
n

C
o

m
p

le
te

d
C

a
s

e
 O

ff
ic

e
r

1
2

4
4

A
E

4
5

1
A

ld
in

g
to

n
E

x
ti
n

g
u

is
h

m
e

n
t

2
7

/0
2

/2
0

0
6

O
rd

e
r 

c
o

n
fi
rm

e
d

 (
S

o
S

)
C

o
m

p
le

te
d

L
a

u
ra

 W
ilk

in
s

1
2

4
5

W
C

4
2

C
ra

n
b

ro
o

k
D

iv
e

rs
io

n
0

2
/0

3
/2

0
0

6
C

o
m

p
le

te
d

M
a

ri
a

 M
c
L

a
u

c
h

la
n

1
2

4
6

H
E

3
5

6
P

o
s
tl
in

g
D

iv
e

rs
io

n
0

7
/0

3
/2

0
0

6
C

o
m

p
le

te
d

L
a

u
ra

 W
ilk

in
s

1
2

4
7

K
M

1
6

4
H

u
n

to
n

D
iv

e
rs

io
n

2
1

/0
3

/2
0

0
6

C
o

m
p

le
te

d
M

a
ri
a

 M
c
L

a
u

c
h

la
n

1
2

4
8

C
W

5
2

W
h

it
s
ta

b
le

D
iv

e
rs

io
n

2
1

/0
3

/2
0

0
6

W
it
h

d
ra

w
n

1
2

4
9

K
H

4
0

5
L

e
n

h
a

m
D

iv
e

rs
io

n
0

5
/0

4
/2

0
0

6
C

o
m

p
le

te
d

S
o

n
ia

 C
o

v
e

n
tr

y

1
2

5
0

W
C

2
9

7
, 

W
C

3
0

2
S

a
n

d
h

u
rs

t
D

iv
e

rs
io

n
1

2
/0

4
/2

0
0

6
O

rd
e

r 
D

e
c
lin

e
d

C
o

m
p

le
te

d
S

o
n

ia
 C

o
v
e

n
tr

y

1
2

5
1

W
T

2
9

5
, 

W
T

2
9

3
, 

W
T

2
9

4
B

re
n

c
h

le
y
 &

 M
a

tf
ie

ld
D

iv
e

rs
io

n
2

3
/0

5
/2

0
0

6
O

rd
e

r 
C

o
n

fi
rm

e
d

 (
S

o
S

)
C

o
m

p
le

te
d

S
o

n
ia

 C
o

v
e

n
tr

y

1
2

5
2

A
E

4
5

0
, 

A
E

4
5

2
A

ld
in

g
to

n
D

iv
e

rs
io

n
2

4
/0

5
/2

0
0

6
O

rd
e

r 
c
o

n
fi
rm

e
d

 (
S

o
S

)
C

o
m

p
le

te
d

L
a

u
ra

 W
ilk

in
s

1
2

5
3

S
R

5
2

4
H

e
v
e

r
D

iv
e

rs
io

n
0

5
/0

6
/2

0
0

6
O

rd
e

r 
c
o

n
fi
rm

e
d

C
o

m
p

le
te

d
S

o
n

ia
 C

o
v
e

n
tr

y

1
2

5
4

H
E

2
7

6
B

S
a

lt
w

o
o

d
E

x
ti
n

g
u

is
h

m
e

n
t

2
2

/0
6

/2
0

0
6

O
rd

e
r 

C
o

n
fi
rm

e
d

 (
S

o
S

)
C

o
m

p
le

te
d

S
o

n
ia

 C
o

v
e

n
tr

y

1
2

5
5

A
W

1
7

0
H

o
th

fi
e

ld
D

iv
e

rs
io

n
2

1
/0

7
/2

0
0

6

In
s
p

e
c
to

r 
d

e
c
lin

e
d

 t
o

 

C
o

n
fi
rm

C
o

m
p

le
te

d
S

o
n

ia
 C

o
v
e

n
tr

y

1
2

5
6

W
C

3
7

G
o

u
ld

h
u

rs
t

D
iv

e
rs

io
n

0
1

/0
8

/2
0

0
6

O
rd

e
r 

m
a

d
e

 &
 c

o
n

fi
rm

e
d

C
o

m
p

le
te

d
S

o
n

ia
 C

o
v
e

n
tr

y

1
2

5
7

K
H

2
4

5
L

e
e

d
s

D
iv

e
rs

io
n

0
8

/0
8

/2
0

0
6

O
rd

e
r 

m
a

d
e

 &
 c

o
n

fi
rm

e
d

C
o

m
p

le
te

d
L

a
u

ra
 W

ilk
in

s

1
2

5
8

M
T

2
H

ild
e

n
b

o
ro

u
g

h
D

iv
e

rs
io

n
0

7
/0

9
/2

0
0

6
O

rd
e

r 
m

a
d

e
 &

 c
o

n
fi
rm

e
d

C
o

m
p

le
te

d
S

te
w

a
rt

 B
ig

g
s

1
2

5
9

M
R

4
9

3
A

y
le

s
fo

rd

E
x
ti
n

g
u

is
h

m
e

n
t

&
 C

e
a

ti
o

n
1

0
/1

0
/2

0
0

6
O

rd
e

r 
d

e
c
lin

e
d

C
o

m
p

le
te

d
S

o
n

ia
 C

o
v
e

n
tr

y

1
2

5
9

M
R

4
9

3
A

y
le

s
fo

rd
D

iv
e

rs
io

n
O

rd
e

r 
D

e
c
lin

e
d

C
o

m
p

le
te

d
S

o
n

ia
 C

o
v
e

n
tr

y

1
2

6
0

M
T

5
0

S
h

ip
b

o
u

rn
e

D
iv

e
rs

io
n

1
0

/1
0

/2
0

0
6

O
rd

e
r 

m
a

d
e

 &
 c

o
n

fi
rm

e
d

C
o

m
p

le
te

d
S

te
w

a
rt

 B
ig

g
s

1
2

6
1

A
W

1
5

6
P

lu
c
k
le

y
D

iv
e

rs
io

n
2

4
/0

8
/2

0
0

6
O

rd
e

r 
m

a
d

e
 &

 c
o

n
fi
rm

e
d

C
o

m
p

le
te

d
S

te
w

a
rt

 B
ig

g
s

1
2

6
2

A
T

2
0

5
W

o
o

d
c
h

u
rc

h
D

iv
e

rs
io

n
1

7
/1

1
/2

0
0

6
O

rd
e

r 
m

a
d

e
 &

 c
o

n
fi
rm

e
d

C
o

m
p

le
te

d
M

a
ri
a

 M
c
L

a
u

c
h

la
n

1
2

6
3

C
B

4
2

1
P

e
th

a
m

D
iv

e
rs

io
n

0
4

/1
2

/2
0

0
6

O
rd

e
r 

m
a

d
e

 &
 c

o
n

fi
rm

e
d

C
o

m
p

le
te

d
L

a
u

ra
 W

ilk
in

s

1
2

6
4

A
W

1
4

8
P

lu
c
k
le

y
D

iv
e

rs
io

n
0

3
/1

0
/2

0
0

5
2

8
/0

8
/2

0
0

6

1
1

0
6

K
H

4
0

2
L

e
n

h
a

m
D

iv
e

rs
io

n
2

1
/0

6
/2

0
0

2
C

o
m

p
le

te
d

L
a

u
ra

 W
ilk

in
s

1
2

6
5

Z
U

2
9

S
it
ti
n

g
b

o
u

rn
e

D
iv

e
rs

io
n

C
o

m
p

le
te

d
M

e
la

n
ie

 M
c
N

e
ir

D
e

ta
il

s
C

o
n

fi
rm

a
ti

o
n

R
e

g
is

te
r 

o
f 

a
p

p
li

c
a

ti
o

n
s

 u
n

d
e

r 
th

e
 H

ig
h

w
a

y
s

 A
c

t 
1

9
8

0

F
o

r 
fu

rt
h

e
r 

in
fo

rm
a

ti
o

n
 p

le
a

s
e

 c
a

ll 
0

1
6

2
2

 2
2

1
5

6
8

Page 47



Y
e
a
r 

2
0
0
7

R
e
f.

 N
o

.
P

a
th

 N
o

P
a
ri

s
h

D
e
s
c
ri

p
ti

o
n

D
a
te

R
e
c
e
iv

e
d

S
ta

tu
s

 (
th

e
 s

ta
g
e
 t
h
e
 

a
p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
 h

a
s
 r

e
a
c
h
e
d
)

W
it

h
d

ra
w

n
C

o
m

p
le

te
d

C
a
s
e
 O

ff
ic

e
r

1
2
6
6

C
C

1
6

C
a
n
te

rb
u
ry

S
1
1
6

E
x
ti
n
g
u
is

h
m

e
n
t

0
1
/0

2
/2

0
0
7

D
e
c
lin

e
d
 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 O

rd
e
r

C
o
m

p
le

te
d

S
o
n
ia

 C
o
v
e
n
tr

y
 /
 C

h
ri
s
 W

a
d
e

1
2
6
7

M
R

4
4

S
n
o
d
la

n
d

D
iv

e
rs

io
n
 &

 

e
x
ti
n
g
u
is

h
m

e
n
t

0
1
/0

2
/2

0
0
7

O
n
 H

o
ld

S
o
n
ia

 C
o
v
e
n
tr

y

1
2
6
8

M
R

1
7
8

O
ff
h
a
m

D
iv

e
rs

io
n
 &

 

e
x
ti
n
g
u
is

h
m

e
n
t

0
2
/0

3
/2

0
0
7

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e
 &

 c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d

C
o
m

p
le

te
d

M
a
ri
a
 M

c
L
a
u
c
h
la

n

1
2
6
9

Z
R

1
0
5

B
o
b
b
in

g
D

iv
e
rs

io
n

0
2
/0

4
/2

0
0
7

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e

S
o
n
ia

 C
o
v
e
n
tr

y

1
2
7
0

C
B

1
7
7

Ic
k
h
a
m

 &
 W

e
ll

D
iv

e
rs

io
n

1
7
/0

4
/2

0
0
7

O
rd

e
r 

 m
a
d
e

M
a
ri
a
 M

c
L
a
u
c
h
la

n

1
2
7
1

W
C

7
5

S
is

s
in

g
h
u
rs

t
T

C
P

A
 D

iv
e
rs

io
n

2
0
/0

4
/2

0
0
7

W
it
h
d
ra

w
n

1
2
7
2

C
C

1
8

C
a
n
te

rb
u
ry

D
iv

e
rs

io
n

0
2
/0

5
/2

0
0
7

A
w

a
it
in

g
 n

e
w

 u
p
d
a
te

d
 

a
p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n

L
a
u
ra

 W
ilk

in
s

1
2
7
3

A
W

2
0
0
A

B
e
th

e
rs

d
e
n

D
iv

e
rs

io
n

0
2
/0

5
/2

0
0
7

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e
 &

 c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d

C
o
m

p
le

te
d

M
a
ri
a
 M

c
L
a
u
c
h
la

n

1
2
7
4

A
W

2
1
7

G
re

a
t 
C

h
a
rt

D
iv

e
rs

io
n

0
2
/0

5
/2

0
0
7

W
it
h
d
ra

w
n

W
it
h
d
ra

w
n

1
2
7
5

S
D

2
4
6

A
s
h
-c

u
m

-R
id

le
y

D
iv

e
rs

io
n

0
2
/0

5
/2

0
0
7

O
rd

e
r 

M
a
d
e
 &

 C
o
n
fr

im
e
d

C
o
m

p
le

te
d

M
a
tt
h
e
w

 G
a
rv

e
y

1
2
7
6

N
S

2
2
9
A

L
u
d
d
e
s
d
o
w

n

E
x
ti
n
g
u
is

h
m

e
n
t

&
 C

re
a
ti
o
n

2
4
/0

5
/2

0
0
7

D
e
c
lin

e
d
 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 O

rd
e
r

C
o
m

p
le

te
d

M
a
tt
h
e
w

 G
a
rv

e
y

1
2
7
7

S
U

4
9

S
e
v
e
n
o
a
k
s

D
iv

e
rs

io
n

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e
 &

 c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d

C
o
m

p
le

te
d

M
a
ri
a
 M

c
L
a
u
c
h
la

n

1
2
7
8

A
W

5
B

e
n
e
n
d
e
n

D
iv

e
rs

io
n

C
o
m

p
le

te
d

L
a
u
ra

 W
ilk

in
s

1
2
7
9

Z
R

2
1
9

D
o
d
d
in

g
to

n
D

iv
e
rs

io
n

C
o
m

p
le

te
d

L
a
u
ra

 W
ilk

in
s

1
2
8
0

M
R

4
2
1

Ig
h
th

a
m

D
iv

e
rs

io
n

2
5
/0

6
/2

0
0
7

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e
 &

 c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d

C
o
m

p
le

te
d

M
a
tt
h
e
w

 G
a
rv

e
y

1
2
8
1

Z
R

4
4
9

S
ta

lis
fi
e
ld

D
iv

e
rs

io
n

2
6
/0

6
/2

0
0
7

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e
 &

 c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d

C
o
m

p
le

te
d

S
o
n
ia

 C
o
v
e
n
tr

y

1
2
8
1
a

Z
R

4
2
0
, 
Z

R
4
2
4

T
h
ro

w
le

y
D

iv
e
rs

io
n

2
2
/0

7
/2

0
0
7

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e
 &

 c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d

C
o
m

p
le

te
d

L
a
u
ra

 W
ilk

in
s

1
2
8
2

E
E

1
4
9

P
re

s
to

n
D

iv
e
rs

io
n

2
1
/0

6
/2

0
0
7

W
it
h
d
ra

w
n

M
a
ri
a
 M

c
L
a
u
c
h
la

n

1
2
8
3

T
M

4
2

W
e
s
tg

a
te

-o
n
-S

e
a

D
iv

e
rs

io
n

0
8
/0

8
/2

0
0
7

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e
 &

 c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d

C
o
m

p
le

te
d

S
o
n
ia

 C
o
v
e
n
tr

y

1
2
8
4

M
T

1
1
4

H
a
d
lo

w
D

iv
e
rs

io
n

0
1
/0

8
/2

0
0
7

D
e
c
lin

e
d
 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 O

rd
e
r

C
o
m

p
le

te
d

M
a
ri
a
 M

c
L
a
u
c
h
la

n

1
2
8
5

T
E

3
3

M
in

s
te

r
D

iv
e
rs

io
n

1
2
/0

9
/2

0
0
7

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e
 &

 c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d

C
o
m

p
le

te
d

L
a
u
ra

 W
ilk

in
s

1
2
8
6

C
H

6
2

R
e
c
u
lv

e
r

D
iv

e
rs

io
n
 &

 

e
x
ti
n
g
u
is

h
m

e
n
t

0
5
/0

9
/2

0
0
7

W
it
h
d
ra

w
n

1
2
8
7

S
U

3
S

e
v
e
n
o
a
k
s

D
iv

e
rs

io
n

1
2
/0

9
/2

0
0
7

D
e
c
lin

e
d
 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 O

rd
e
r

C
o
m

p
le

te
d

S
o
n
ia

 C
o
v
e
n
tr

y

1
2
8
8

Z
R

3
2

U
p
c
h
u
rc

h
D

iv
e
rs

io
n

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e

M
a
ri
a
 M

c
L
a
u
c
h
la

n

1
2
8
9

M
R

5
0
2

W
a
te

ri
n
g
b
u
ry

D
iv

e
rs

io
n

O
n
 H

o
ld

M
a
ri
a
 M

c
L
a
u
c
h
la

n

D
e
ta

il
s

C
o

n
fi

rm
a
ti

o
n

R
e
g

is
te

r 
o

f 
c
u

rr
e
n

t 
a
p

p
li
c
a
ti

o
n

s
 u

n
d

e
r 

th
e
 H

ig
h

w
a
y
s
 A

c
t 

1
9
8
0

F
o
r 

fu
rt

h
e
r 

in
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 p

le
a
s
e
 c

a
ll 

0
1
6
2
2
 2

2
1
5
6
8

L
a
s
t 
u
p
d
a
te

d
 0

8
/0

8
/2

0
1
1

Page 48



1
2
9
0

M
R

1
0
8
, 
M

R
4
8
8

D
it
to

n
D

iv
e
rs

io
n

2
4
/0

9
/2

0
0
7

M
R

1
0
8
-O

rd
e
r 

m
a
d
e
 &

 

c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d
  
 M

R
1
0
8
 

(O
a
k
e
n
 W

o
o
d
) 

-D
e
c
lin

e
d
 

to
 m

a
k
e
 O

rd
e
r 

fo
r 

p
a
rt

C
o
m

p
le

te
d

M
a
tt
h
e
w

 G
a
rv

e
y

1
2
9
1

K
M

2
9
0

S
ta

p
le

h
u
rs

t
D

iv
e
rs

io
n

2
3
/1

0
/2

0
0
7

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e
 &

 c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d

M
a
tt
h
e
w

 G
a
rv

e
y

Page 49



Y
e
a
r 

2
0
0
8

R
e
f.

 N
o

.
P

a
th

 N
o

P
a
ri

s
h

D
e
s
c
ri

p
ti

o
n

D
a
te

R
e
c
e
iv

e
d

S
ta

tu
s

 (
th

e
 s

ta
g

e
 t

h
e

 

a
p

p
lic

a
ti
o

n
 h

a
s
 r

e
a

c
h

e
d

)
W

it
h

d
ra

w
n

C
o

m
p

le
te

d
C

a
s
e
 O

ff
ic

e
r

1
2
9
2

Z
U

4
7

M
ilt

o
n
 R

e
g
is

, 

S
it
ti
n
g
b
o
u
rn

e
E

x
ti
n
g
u
is

h
m

e
n
t

1
9
/0

2
/2

0
0
8

c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d
 b

y
 S

e
c
re

ta
ry

 o
f 

S
ta

te
C

o
m

p
le

te
M

a
tt
h
e
w

 G
a
rv

e
y

1
2
9
3

M
R

3
5
0

P
la

x
to

l
D

iv
e
rs

io
n

2
1
/0

2
/2

0
0
8

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e
 &

 C
o
n
fi
rm

e
d

C
o
m

p
le

te
S

o
n
ia

 C
o
v
e
n
tr

y

1
2
9
3

M
R

3
9
2

S
h
ip

b
o
u
rn

e
D

iv
e
rs

io
n
s

2
1
/0

2
/2

0
0
8

S
b
m

is
s
io

n
 t
o
 S

o
S

 -
 

re
s
o
lu

ti
o
n
 b

y
 P

u
b
lic

 

In
q
u
ir
y
 (

J
u
n
e
 2

0
1
1
) 

(I
n
q
u
ir
y
 r

e
c
o
n
v
e
n
e
s
 A

u
g
 

2
0
1
1
)

S
o
n
ia

 C
o
v
e
n
tr

y

1
2
9
4

Z
R

4
3
9

T
h
ro

w
le

y
D

iv
e
rs

io
n

2
8
/0

2
/2

0
0
8

W
it
h
d
ra

w
n

M
a
tt
h
e
w

 G
a
rv

e
y

1
2
9
5

M
R

4
3
0

Iv
y
 H

a
tc

h
D

iv
e
rs

io
n

2
8
/0

2
/2

0
0
8

R
e
je

c
te

d

1
2
9
6

H
E

7
4

E
lh

a
m

D
iv

e
rs

io
n

2
9
/0

4
/2

0
0
8

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e
 &

 C
o
n
fi
rm

e
d

C
o
m

p
le

te
C

o
lin

 F
in

c
h
 &

 S
o
n
ia

 C
o
v
e
n
tr

y

1
2
9
7

N
S

1
8
5

C
o
b
h
a
m

D
iv

e
rs

io
n

0
1
/0

5
/2

0
0
8

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e
 &

 c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d

C
o
m

p
le

te
S

o
n
ia

 C
o
v
e
n
tr

y

1
2
9
8

M
U

3
T

o
n
b
ri
d
g
e

D
iv

e
rs

io
n

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e
 &

 c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d

C
o
m

p
le

te
M

a
ri
a
 M

c
L
a
u
c
h

la
n

1
2
9
9

T
R

X
3

R
a
m

s
g
a
te

D
iv

e
rs

io
n

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e
 &

 C
o
n
fi
rm

e
d

C
o
m

p
le

te
M

a
ri
a
 M

c
L
a
u
c
h

la
n

1
3
0
0

K
M

4
3
, 
K

M
4
2

E
a
s
t 
F

a
rl
e
ig

h
D

iv
e
rs

io
n

R
e
p
o
rt

S
o
n
ia

 C
o
v
e
n
tr

y

1
3
0
1

T
E

9
S

t 
N

ic
o
la

s
 a

t 
W

a
d
e

D
iv

e
rs

io
n

C
o
m

p
le

te

1
3
0
2

C
W

5
2

W
h
it
s
ta

b
le

D
iv

e
rs

io
n

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e
, 
c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d
 &

 

c
e
rt

if
ie

d
C

o
m

p
le

te
L
a
u
ra

 W
ilk

in
s

1
3
0
3

A
E

2
8
2

B
ra

b
o
u
rn

e
D

iv
e
rs

io
n

1
6
/0

6
/2

0
0
8

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e
 &

 C
o
n
fi
rm

e
d

C
o
m

p
le

te
S

o
n
ia

 C
o
v
e
n
tr

y

1
3
0
4

K
B

1
7

M
a
id

s
to

n
e

D
iv

e
rs

io
n

1
7
/0

6
/2

0
0
8

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e
 &

 C
o
n
fi
rm

e
d

C
o
m

p
le

te
S

o
n
ia

 C
o
v
e
n
tr

y

1
3
0
5

M
R

2
3
5

W
ro

th
a
m

E
x
ti
n
g
u
is

h
m

e
n
t

3
0
/0

7
/2

0
0
8

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e

S
o
n
ia

 C
o
v
e
n
tr

y

1
3
0
6

A
W

1
3
6

W
e
s
tw

e
ll

D
iv

e
rs

io
n

3
1
/0

7
/2

0
0
8

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e
 &

 C
o
n
fi
rm

e
d

C
o
m

p
le

te
S

o
n
ia

 C
o
v
e
n
tr

y

1
3
0
7

M
R

8
1

B
ir
lin

g
D

iv
e
rs

io
n

1
3
/0

8
/2

0
0
8

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e
 &

 C
o
n
fi
rm

e
d

C
o
m

p
le

te
S

o
n
ia

 C
o
v
e
n
tr

y

1
3
0
8

C
B

8
6

S
tu

rr
y

D
iv

e
rs

io
n

2
6
/0

8
/2

0
0
8

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e
 &

 C
o
n
fi
rm

e
d

C
o
m

p
le

te
M

a
ri
a
 M

c
L
a
u
c
h

la
n

1
3
0
9

Z
R

1
9
3

T
o
n
g
e

D
iv

e
rs

io
n

0
1
/0

9
/2

0
0
8

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e

M
a
tt
h
e
w

 G
a
rv

e
y

1
3
1
0

K
B

2
8

M
a
id

s
to

n
e

D
iv

e
rs

io
n

1
0
/1

2
/2

0
0
8

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e

M
a
tt
h
e
w

 G
a
rv

e
y

1
3
1
1

W
C

1
3
8

C
ra

n
b
ro

o
k

D
iv

e
rs

io
n

1
9
/1

2
/2

0
0
8

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e
 &

 c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d

C
o
m

p
le

te
M

a
tt
h
e
w

 G
a
rv

e
y

D
e
ta

il
s

C
o

n
fi

rm
a
ti

o
n

R
e
g

is
te

r 
o

f 
c
u

rr
e
n

t 
a
p

p
li
c
a
ti

o
n

s
 u

n
d

e
r 

th
e
 H

ig
h

w
a
y
s
 A

c
t 

1
9
8
0

F
o
r 

fu
rt

h
e
r 

in
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 p

le
a
s
e
 c

a
ll 

0
1
6
2
2
 2

2
1
5
6
8

L
a
s
t 
u
p
d
a
te

d
 0

8
/0

8
/2

0
1
1

Page 50



Y
e

a
r 

2
0

0
9

R
e

f.
 N

o
.

P
a

th
 N

o
P

a
ri

s
h

D
e

s
c

ri
p

ti
o

n
D

a
te

R
e

c
e

iv
e

d
S

ta
tu

s
 (

th
e

 s
ta

g
e

 t
h

e
 

a
p

p
lic

a
ti
o

n
 h

a
s
 r

e
a

c
h

e
d

)
W

it
h

d
ra

w
n

C
o

m
p

le
te

d
C

a
s

e
 O

ff
ic

e
r

1
3

1
2

W
T

2
9

7
, 

W
T

2
9

9
B

re
n

c
h

le
y

D
iv

e
rs

io
n

0
2

/0
1

/2
0

0
9

O
rd

e
r 

m
a

d
e

 &
 

c
o

n
fi
rm

e
d

M
a

ri
a

 M
c
L

a
u

c
h

la
n

1
3

1
3

S
R

3
9

6
W

e
s
te

rh
a

m
D

iv
e

rs
io

n
3

0
/0

1
/2

0
0

9
R

e
p

o
rt

M
a

ri
a

 M
c
L

a
u

c
h

la
n

1
3

1
4

S
R

4
4

2
P

e
n

s
h

u
rs

t
D

iv
e

rs
io

n
1

6
/0

2
/2

0
0

9
W

it
h

d
ra

w
n

1
3

1
5

A
E

5
1

5
R

u
c
k
in

g
e

 &
 B

ils
in

g
to

n
D

iv
e

rs
io

n
0

9
/0

3
/2

0
0

9
O

rd
e

r 
m

a
d

e
M

a
tt
 G

a
rv

e
y

1
3

1
6

C
B

1
5

B
le

a
n

D
iv

e
rs

io
n

0
1

/0
4

/2
0

0
9

U
n

d
e

r 
c
o

n
s
u

lt
a

ti
o

n
M

a
ri
a

 M
c
L

a
u

c
h

la
n

1
3

1
6

K
H

4
9

B
re

d
h

u
rs

t
D

iv
e

rs
io

n
O

rd
e

r 
c
o

n
fi
rm

e
d

M
a

ri
a

 M
c
L

a
u

c
h

la
n

1
3

1
7

W
C

5
A

G
o

u
d

h
u

rs
t

D
iv

e
rs

io
n

0
7

/0
4

/2
0

0
9

U
n

d
e

r 
c
o

n
s
u

lt
a

ti
o

n
M

a
ri
a

 M
c
L

a
u

c
h

la
n

1
3

1
8

K
M

1
1

9
B

o
u

g
h

to
n

 M
o

n
c
h

e
ls

e
a

D
iv

e
rs

io
n

2
3

/0
4

/2
0

0
9

O
rd

e
r 

C
o

n
fi
rm

e
d

C
o

m
p

le
te

L
a

u
ra

 W
ilk

in
s

1
3

1
9

H
M

2
9

B
ro

o
k
la

n
d

s
D

iv
e

rs
io

n
2

9
/0

4
/2

0
0

9
U

n
d

e
r 

c
o

n
s
u

lt
a

ti
o

n
E

d
w

a
rd

 D
e

n
n

e
 &

 S
o

n
ia

 C
o

v
e

n
tr

y

1
3

2
0

C
W

1
5

W
h

it
s
ta

b
le

D
iv

e
rs

io
n

3
0

/0
4

/2
0

0
9

A
w

a
it
in

g
 a

llo
c
a

ti
o

n

1
3

2
1

M
R

1
8

4
, 

M
R

1
7

7
T

ro
tt

is
c
lif

fe
T

C
P

A
 D

iv
e

rs
io

n
0

2
/0

7
/2

0
0

9

O
rd

e
r 

m
a

d
e

, 

c
o

n
fi
rm

e
d

 &
 c

e
rt

if
ie

d
C

o
m

p
le

te
S

o
n

ia
 C

o
v
e

n
tr

y

1
3

2
2

A
U

5
8

A
A

s
h

fo
rd

E
x
ti
n

g
u

is
h

m
e

n
t

1
6

/0
7

/2
0

0
9

A
w

a
it
in

g
 a

llo
c
a

ti
o

n

1
3

2
3

C
B

4
4

2
, 

C
B

4
3

2
P

e
th

a
m

D
iv

e
rs

io
n

2
3

/0
7

/2
0

0
9

A
w

a
it
in

g
 a

llo
c
a

ti
o

n

1
3

2
4

E
E

2
5

5
E

a
s
tr

y
D

iv
e

rs
io

n
0

3
/0

8
/2

0
0

9
A

w
a

it
in

g
 a

llo
c
a

ti
o

n

1
3

2
5

A
W

2
2

6
, 

A
W

2
2

6
A

K
in

g
s
n

o
rt

h

E
x
ti
n

g
u

is
h

m
e

n
t

&
 C

re
a

ti
o

n
0

8
/0

9
/2

0
0

9
A

w
a

it
in

g
 a

llo
c
a

ti
o

n

1
3

2
6

W
C

1
7

4
H

a
w

k
h

u
rs

t
D

iv
e

rs
io

n
0

8
/0

9
/2

0
0

9
A

w
a

it
in

g
 a

llo
c
a

ti
o

n

1
3

2
7

T
E

4
6

2
M

in
s
te

r,
 T

h
a

n
e

t
D

iv
e

rs
io

n
1

4
/0

9
/2

0
0

9

O
rd

e
r 

m
a

d
e

 &
 

c
o

n
fi
rm

e
d

C
o

m
p

le
te

M
a

ri
a

 M
c
L

a
u

c
h

la
n

1
3

2
8

A
W

1
5

0
P

lu
c
k
le

y
D

iv
e

rs
io

n
1

4
/1

0
/2

0
0

9
A

w
a

it
in

g
 a

llo
c
a

ti
o

n

1
3

2
9

C
B

1
5

1
A

L
it
tl
e

b
o

u
rn

e
D

iv
e

rs
io

n
1

4
/1

0
/2

0
0

9
A

w
a

it
in

g
 a

llo
c
a

ti
o

n

1
3

3
0

K
H

5
5

5
A

C
h

a
rt

 S
u

tt
o

n
D

iv
e

rs
io

n
1

4
/1

0
/2

0
0

9
A

w
a

it
in

g
 a

llo
c
a

ti
o

n

1
3

3
1

A
W

3
1

8
K

in
g

s
n

o
rt

h
C

re
a

ti
o

n
 O

rd
e

r
0

1
/0

8
/2

0
0

7
D

e
c
lin

e
d

W
it
h

d
ra

w
n

C
h

ri
s
 W

a
d

e

1
3

3
2

IP

H
M

4
, 

H
M

1
1

7
, 

H
M

1
1

5
, 

H
L

2
7

, 
 H

L
1

5
, 

H
L

1
4

L
y
d

d

D
iv

e
rs

io
n

,

C
re

a
ti
o

n
,

U
p

g
ra

d
e

,

E
x
ti
n

g
u

is
h

m
e

n
t

0
1

/1
0

/2
0

0
9

O
rd

e
rs

 m
a

d
e

M
a

tt
h

e
w

 G
a

rv
e

y

1
3

3
3

Z
R

2
4

U
p

c
h

u
rc

h
D

iv
e

rs
io

n
1

4
/1

2
/2

0
0

9
A

w
a

it
in

g
 a

llo
c
a

ti
o

n

D
e

ta
il

s
C

o
n

fi
rm

a
ti

o
n

R
e

g
is

te
r 

o
f 

c
u

rr
e

n
t 

a
p

p
li

c
a

ti
o

n
s

 u
n

d
e

r 
th

e
 H

ig
h

w
a

y
s

 A
c

t 
1

9
8

0

F
o

r 
fu

rt
h

e
r 

in
fo

rm
a

ti
o

n
 p

le
a

s
e

 c
a

ll 
0

1
6

2
2

 2
2

1
5

6
8

L
a

s
t 

u
p

d
a

te
d

 0
8

/0
8

/2
0

1
1

Page 51



1
3

3
4

M
R

2
5

1

B
o

ro
u

g
h

 G
re

e
n

 &
 

W
ro

th
a

m
T

C
P

A
 D

iv
e

rs
io

n
2

2
/1

2
/2

0
0

9

O
rd

e
r 

m
a

d
e

, 

c
o

n
fi
rm

e
d

 &
 c

e
rt

if
ie

d
M

a
tt
h

e
w

 G
a

rv
e

y

Page 52



Y
e

a
r 

2
0

1
0

R
e

f.
 N

o
.

P
a

th
 N

o
P

a
ri

s
h

D
e

s
c

ri
p

ti
o

n
D

a
te

R
e

c
e

iv
e

d
S

ta
tu

s
 (

th
e

 s
ta

g
e

 t
h

e
 

a
p

p
lic

a
ti
o

n
 h

a
s
 r

e
a

c
h

e
d

)
W

it
h

d
ra

w
n

C
o

m
p

le
te

d
C

a
s

e
 O

ff
ic

e
r

1
3

3
5

W
C

2
5

6
F

ri
tt

e
n

d
e

n
T

C
P

A
 D

iv
e

rs
io

n
2

5
/0

2
/2

0
1

0

O
rd

e
r 

m
a

d
e

 &
 

c
o

n
fi
rm

e
d

L
a

u
ra

 W
ilk

in
s

1
3

3
6

K
M

3
1

8
S

ta
p

le
h

u
rs

t
D

iv
e

rs
io

n
A

w
a

it
in

g
 a

llo
c
a

ti
o

n

1
2

7
4

A
W

2
1

7
G

re
a

t 
C

h
a

rt
D

iv
e

rs
io

n
1

2
/0

3
/2

0
1

0
A

w
a

it
in

g
 a

llo
c
a

ti
o

n

1
3

3
7

C
C

5
7

C
a

n
te

rb
u

ry
D

iv
e

rs
io

n
1

2
/0

4
/2

0
1

0
A

w
a

it
in

g
 a

llo
c
a

ti
o

n

1
3

3
8

W
T

3
4

7
H

o
rs

m
o

n
d

e
n

D
iv

e
rs

io
n

1
9

/0
3

/2
0

1
0

A
w

a
it
in

g
 a

llo
c
a

ti
o

n

1
3

3
9

K
H

2
1

0
H

o
lli

n
g

b
o

u
rn

e
D

iv
e

rs
io

n
2

7
/0

4
/2

0
1

0
A

w
a

it
in

g
 a

llo
c
a

ti
o

n

1
3

4
0

Z
R

3
4

9
, 

Z
R

3
5

0
N

e
w

n
h

a
m

D
iv

e
rs

io
n

A
w

a
it
in

g
 A

llo
c
a

ti
o

n

1
3

4
1

C
C

1
7

C
a

n
te

rb
u

ry
D

iv
e

rs
io

n
1

0
/0

6
/2

0
1

0

O
rd

e
r 

m
a

d
e

 &
 

C
o

n
fi
rm

e
d

C
o

m
p

le
te

L
a

u
ra

 W
ilk

in
s

1
3

4
2

IP

Z
S

4
5

, 
Z

S
5

3
, 

Z
S

5
2

, 

Z
S

3
8

L
e

y
s
d

o
w

n
D

iv
e

rs
io

n
O

rd
e

rs
 m

a
d

e
C

o
lin

 F
in

c
h

1
3

4
3

C
B

2
2

5
, 

C
B

2
2

5
A

A
d

is
h

a
m

 &
 B

a
rh

a
m

E
x
ti
n

g
u

is
h

m
e

n
t

A
w

a
it
in

g
 A

llo
c
a

ti
o

n

1
3

4
4

A
E

1
1

0
W

y
e

E
x
ti
n

g
u

is
h

m
e

n
t

0
7

/0
7

/2
0

1
0

A
w

a
it
in

g
 A

llo
c
a

ti
o

n

1
3

4
5

IP
E

E
3

5
1

E
y
th

o
rn

e

E
x
ti
n

g
u

is
h

m
e

n
t

a
n

d
 C

re
a

te
 b

y
 

O
rd

e
r

O
rd

e
rs

 m
a

d
e

M
a

tt
 G

a
rv

e
y

1
3

4
6

M
U

1
2

T
o

n
b

ri
d

g
e

E
x
ti
n

g
u

is
h

m
e

n
t

1
2

/0
8

/2
0

1
0

A
w

a
it
in

g
 A

llo
c
a

ti
o

n

 1
3

4
7

IP
T

R
3

1
M

a
n

s
to

n
D

iv
e

rs
io

n
1

2
/0

8
/2

0
1

0
A

w
a

it
in

g
 A

llo
c
a

ti
o

n

1
3

4
8

A
W

1
7

0
H

o
th

fi
e

ld
D

iv
e

rs
io

n
2

4
/0

9
/2

0
1

0
O

rd
e

r 
m

a
d

e
S

o
n

ia
 C

o
v
e

n
tr

y

1
3

4
9

K
H

5
4

1
, 

K
H

5
4

4
, 

K
H

5
4

2
E

a
s
t 

S
u

tt
o

n

D
iv

e
rs

io
n

 &
 

E
x
ti
n

g
u

is
h

m
e

n
t

3
0

/0
8

/2
0

1
0

A
w

a
it
in

g
 A

llo
c
a

ti
o

n

1
3

5
0

A
W

1
4

9
P

lu
c
k
le

y
D

iv
e

rs
io

n
2

1
/0

9
/2

0
1

0
A

w
a

it
in

g
 A

llo
c
a

ti
o

n

1
3

5
1

S
R

3
7

1
C

ro
c
k
h

a
m

 H
ill

D
iv

1
1

/1
1

/2
0

1
0

A
w

a
it
in

g
 A

llo
c
a

ti
o

n

1
3

5
2

M
R

5
2

, 
M

R
2

4
B

u
rh

a
m

D
iv

 &
 E

x
t

O
rd

e
r 

m
a

d
e

 &
 

c
o

m
fi
rm

e
d

L
a

u
ra

 W
ilk

in
s

1
3

5
3

Z
R

4
3

2
T

h
ro

w
le

y
D

iv
2

2
/1

1
/2

0
1

0
A

w
a

it
in

g
 A

llo
c
a

ti
o

n

D
e

ta
il

s
C

o
n

fi
rm

a
ti

o
n

R
e

g
is

te
r 

o
f 

c
u

rr
e

n
t 

a
p

p
li

c
a

ti
o

n
s

 u
n

d
e

r 
th

e
 H

ig
h

w
a

y
s

 A
c

t 
1

9
8

0

F
o

r 
fu

rt
h

e
r 

in
fo

rm
a

ti
o

n
 p

le
a

s
e

 c
a

ll 
0

1
6

2
2

 2
2

1
5

6
8

L
a

s
t 

u
p

d
a

te
d

 0
8

/0
8

/2
0

1
1

Page 53



Y
e

a
r 

2
0

1
1

R
e

f.
 N

o
.

P
a

th
 N

o
P

a
ri

s
h

D
e

s
c

ri
p

ti
o

n
D

a
te

R
e

c
e

iv
e

d
S

ta
tu

s
 (

th
e

 s
ta

g
e

 t
h

e
 

a
p

p
lic

a
ti
o

n
 h

a
s
 r

e
a

c
h

e
d

)
W

it
h

d
ra

w
n

C
o

m
p

le
te

d
C

a
s

e
 O

ff
ic

e
r

1
3

5
5

A
W

1
6

1
C

h
a

ri
n

g
D

iv
e

rs
io

n
0

7
/0

3
/2

0
1

1
A

w
a

it
in

g
 a

llo
c
a

ti
o

n

1
3

5
6

K
H

5
4

9
C

h
a

rt
 S

u
tt

o
n

D
iv

e
rs

io
n

1
1

/0
3

/2
0

1
1

A
w

a
it
in

g
 a

llo
c
a

ti
o

n

1
3

5
7

A
W

1
7

C
h

a
ri
n

g
D

iv
e

rs
io

n
2

4
/0

2
/2

0
1

1
A

w
a

it
in

g
 a

llo
c
a

ti
o

n

1
3

5
8

N
e

w
in

g
to

n
 L

ib
ra

ry
N

e
w

in
g

to
n

 (
R

a
m

s
g

a
te

)
T

C
P

A
 d

iv
e

rs
io

n
1

8
/0

5
/2

0
1

1
U

n
d

e
r 

c
o

n
s
u

lt
a

ti
o

n
M

a
ri
a

 M
c
L

a
u

c
h

la
n

1
3

5
9

A
W

3
5

C
h

a
ri
n

g
D

iv
e

rs
io

n
1

3
/0

5
/2

0
1

1
R

e
p

o
rt

L
a

u
ra

 W
ilk

in
s

1
3

6
0

A
W

6
5

E
g

e
rt

o
n

D
iv

e
rs

io
n

A
w

a
it
in

g
 a

llo
c
a

ti
o

n

1
3

6
1

Z
R

6
9

1
N

e
w

in
g

to
n

 (
S

w
a

le
)

E
x
ti
n

g
u

is
h

 &
 

C
re

a
ti
o

n
O

rd
e

rs
 M

a
d

e
L

a
u

ra
 W

ilk
in

s

1
3

6
2

S
R

6
7

4
C

o
w

d
e

n
D

iv
e

rs
io

n
2

7
/0

5
/2

0
1

1
A

w
a

it
in

g
 a

llo
c
a

ti
o

n

1
3

6
3

T
B

3
B

ro
a

d
s
ta

ir
s

D
iv

e
rs

io
n

0
8

/0
6

/2
0

1
1

A
w

a
it
in

g
 a

llo
c
a

ti
o

n

D
e

ta
il

s
C

o
n

fi
rm

a
ti

o
n

R
e

g
is

te
r 

o
f 

c
u

rr
e

n
t 

a
p

p
li

c
a

ti
o

n
s

 u
n

d
e

r 
th

e
 H

ig
h

w
a

y
s

 A
c

t 
1

9
8

0

F
o

r 
fu

rt
h

e
r 

in
fo

rm
a

ti
o

n
 p

le
a

s
e

 c
a

ll 
0

1
6

2
2

 2
2

1
5

6
8

L
a

s
t 

u
p

d
a

te
d

 0
8

/0
8

/2
0

1
1

Page 54



 b
y

 K
e

n
t 

C
o

u
n

ty
 C

o
u

n
c

il
 o

n
 b

e
h

a
lf

 o
f 

D
is

tr
ic

t 
a

n
d

 B
o

ro
u

g
h

 C
o

u
n

c
il

s

R
e

f.
 N

o
.

P
a

th
 N

o
B

o
ro

u
g

h
P

a
ri

s
h

D
e

s
c

ri
p

ti
o

n
D

a
te

R
e

c
e

iv
e

d
S

ta
tu

s
 (

th
e

 s
ta

g
e

 t
h

e
 

a
p

p
lic

a
ti
o

n
 h

a
s
 r

e
a

c
h

e
d

)
W

it
h

d
ra

w
n

C
o

m
p

le
te

d
C

a
s

e
 O

ff
ic

e
r

1
A

E
2

1
0

A
s
h

fo
rd

B
o

u
g

h
to

n
 A

lu
p

h
D

iv
e

rs
io

n
1

2
/0

8
/2

0
1

0

O
rd

e
r 

m
a

d
e

 &
 

c
o

n
fi
rm

e
d

S
o

n
ia

 C
o

v
e

n
tr

y
 /

 K
a

te
 B

e
s
w

ic
k

2
A

W
1

5
0

A
A

s
h

fo
rd

P
lu

c
k
le

y
D

iv
e

rs
io

n
2

3
/0

8
/2

0
1

0

O
rd

e
rs

 m
a

d
e

 &
 

c
o

n
fi
rm

e
d

S
o

n
ia

 C
o

v
e

n
tr

y
 /

 K
a

te
 B

e
s
w

ic
k

3

A
E

3
4

5
, 

A
E

6
4

7
, 

A
E

6
4

8
, 

A
W

2
9

6
A

s
h

fo
rd

S
e

v
in

g
to

n
 &

 

K
in

g
s
n

o
rt

h

D
iv

e
rs

io
n

,

c
re

a
ti
o

n
,

s
to

p
p

in
g

-u
p

2
2

/0
9

/2
0

1
0

U
n

d
e

r 
C

o
n

s
u

lt
a

ti
o

n
S

o
n

ia
 C

o
v
e

n
tr

y
 /

 K
a

te
 B

e
s
w

ic
k

4
A

E
2

7
8

, 
A

E
2

9
4

A
s
h

fo
rd

B
ra

b
o

u
rn

e
D

iv
e

rs
io

n
s

0
1

/0
6

/2
0

1
1

U
n

d
e

r 
C

o
n

s
u

lt
a

ti
o

n
S

o
n

ia
 C

o
v
e

n
tr

y

D
e

ta
il

s
C

o
n

fi
rm

a
ti

o
n

R
e

g
is

te
r 

o
f 

c
u

rr
e

n
t 

a
p

p
li

c
a

ti
o

n
s

 u
n

d
e

r 
th

e
 T

o
w

n
 a

n
d

 C
o

u
n

tr
y

 P
la

n
n

in
g

 A
c

t 
1

9
9

0

F
o

r 
fu

rt
h

e
r 

in
fo

rm
a

ti
o

n
 p

le
a

s
e

 c
a

ll 
0

1
6

2
2

 2
2

1
5

6
8

L
a

s
t 

u
p

d
a

te
d

: 
0

8
/0

8
/2

0
1

1

Page 55



Page 56

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

From:   Director of Customer and Communities 
To:  Regulation Committee 7 September 2011 
 
Subject: Gating Order – Un-named footpath to the rear of Henley Fields, 

Tenterden. 
 
Classification: Unrestricted 
 

 
Summary:   A report seeking a decision from the Regulation Committee on 
whether to continue the Henley Fields Gating Order in operation. 
 
 

 
 
Background 
 
1. 0    On 15 September 2008 a panel of the Regulation Committee resolved 
that a Gating Order should be made excluding the public from an un-named 
footpath to the rear of Henley Fields, Tenterden. The decision included a 
commitment to review the effectiveness of the Order after two years of 
operation. The Order became operational in April 2009. 
 

1.1    A review of the effectiveness of the Order has been carried out and is 
summarised in this report. On the basis of the review Members are asked to 
endorse the recommendation that the Gating Order remains in place to be 
periodically reviewed if and when circumstances in the area change.  
 
1.2    On the 1 April 2006 the Highways Act (Gating Orders) (England) 
Regulations 2006 came into force.  The regulations brought into effect 
amendments to the Highways Act 1980 providing the County Council, as the 
Highway Authority, with the power to make, revoke or vary gating orders.  The 
powers may be exercised in order to prevent crime or antisocial behaviour on 
or adjacent to the highway, if the Highway Authority are satisfied that 
premises adjoining or adjacent to the highway are affected by the persistent 
commission of crime or anti-social behaviour, and that it is facilitated by the 
existence of the highway. 
 
1.3   In September 2007 Kent Police and Ashford Community Safety Unit 
submitted an application for a Gating Order in respect of an un-named 
footpath to the rear of Henley Fields, Tenterden. 
 
1.4   The footpath is a public highway, approximately 334 metres in length 
with a metalled surface.  It links Silver Hill with Henley Fields at three 
locations, passing to the rear of properties along its length.  Close board 
fencing along the northern boundary of the path prevents good natural 
surveillance of the footpath from the adjacent properties.  The area to the 
south of the footpath is a mixture of garden and scrub bordering the 
Homewood School site.   The footways of Henley Fields provide an alternative 
to using the footpath.  They are of a similar length, width and gradient.  

Agenda Item 9

Page 57



 

 

 
1.6   Statistics relating to reported crime were submitted in support of the 
application and provided to Members in the original report to the Regulation 
Committee Panel dated 15 September 2008.  The statistics clearly 
demonstrated that persistent (enduring, constant, repeated) criminal and anti-
social behaviour occurred on, and was facilitated by, the existence of the 
footpath.  The statistics indicated that reported crime had increased 
significantly in 2006 and 2007. The reported anti-social and criminal activity 
included: persistent damage to fences, graffiti and missile throwing at houses.  
 
1.7    Statements from residents concerning instances of criminal damage and 
antisocial behaviour were also provided in support of the application.  It is 
clear from the residents’ statements that the level of anti-social and criminal 
behaviour was having a significant impact on their quality of life. 
 
1.8 Reported crime and anti-social behaviour in Henley fields, and 
specifically those properties adjacent to the footpath, represented a significant 
proportion of all reported criminal damage for the St Michaels ward.  This 
despite considerable police resource being devoted to detecting and deterring 
crime and anti-social behaviour in this area. 
 
Impact of the Gating Order. 
 
2.0   Mr M Hill the Elected Member for (Tenterden) has received 
correspondence from a constituent asking that the footpath is reopened. The 
author points to the impact of the closure and highlights: 
 

• The parking of vehicles on the footpath. 

• The placing of a trellis and plant pots at one of the gates. 

• The loss of amenity. 

• That street lights in the passage have remained on. 

• The moving of the gates and encroachment onto the highway by one of 
the businesses adjacent to the footpath. 

 
The author asks if crime has fallen since the closure, whether residents have 
taken advantage of the closure and whether drug dealing now takes place in 
the area. 
 
2.1  Analysis of recorded crime and antisocial behaviour in the Henley Fields 
area for the period  April 2009  to the  27 January 2011 indicates that only 
three calls have been made relating to houses backing onto the alley during 
this period. 

• One relating to an abandoned vehicle, not on the path,  

• One an information report not relating to the route, and  

• One report of antisocial behaviour (dated 23/4/09) coinciding with the 
completion of the installation of gates and fencing. 

 
2.2 In total there have been 15 calls relating to the St Michaels ward; 

• two of these relate to a house party nearby (not attached to the 
alleyway) 

Page 58



 

 

• two further calls relate to a domestic incident.  
There are calls relating to concern for welfare, traffic hazards, theft offences 
and information reports relating to abandoned vehicles. The reports could not 
be considered to be associated with or facilitated by the existence of the 
highway. Additionally the level of reports for the ward area is in line with the 
level of reports in the period prior to the introduction of the Gating Order. 
There appears to have been no displacement of the crime and anti-social 
behaviour in the area as a result of the introduction of the Order. 
There are no reports of drug dealing associated with the footpath. 
 
2.3   No public consultation was carried out in reviewing the effectiveness of 
the Gating Order, the review relying primarily on analysis of police records. 
Additional information of note has been received and should be considered in 
reaching a decision. 
 
2.4   A statement has been provided by PCSO Gipson-White setting out the 
very positive impact that the Gating Order has had on the policing of the area 
and the quality of life of residents. 
 
2.5   Six letters have been received from residents living adjacent to the path 
highlighting the very positive impact that the introduction of the Gating Order 
has had on their quality of life. 
 
2.6   A walk through of the alley way indicates that some trellis has been 
erected around one of the gates. This improves the aesthetics of the gate but 
does not interfere with access should it be required. 
 
2.7   The gates beside the fire station do appear to have been moved and 
there has been very clear encroachment by an adjacent property owner who 
has erected a close board fence within the highway.  
 
2.8   No maintenance has been carried out to the route since the introduction 
of the Gating Order as is evident from the overgrowth and accumulations of 
debris and vegetation on the surface of the route. 
 
2.9   It should be noted that the gating of a route does not remove the 
maintenance and protection responsibilities of the highway authority. The 
encroachment and overgrowth have therefore been reported to Kent 
Highways Services for attention. 
  
2.10   I believe that the Gating Order has been successful in achieving its 
primary objective of reducing crime and anti-social behaviour facilitated by the 
footpath. I recommend that the Order should continue in operation indefinitely, 
to be reviewed periodically should there be a material change in the area that 
suggests that it should be amended or revoked.  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 59



 

 

3. Recommendation 
 

(a) That the Gating Order continues in operation. 
 
(b) That the Order is subject to periodic review if and when 

circumstances in the area change. 
 

 
 
 
Graham Rusling 
PROW Operations Manager 
Customer and Communities 
Tel: 01622 696995 
Email: graham.rusling@kent.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 

Page 60



  

   

Update on Planning Enforcement Issues                  Item 10 
 

 

  

  

10Report by Head of Planning Applications Group to the Regulation Committee on 7
th
 

September 2011. 
 
Summary:  Update for Members on planning enforcement matters. 
 
Recommendation:  To endorse the actions taken or contemplated on respective cases.  
 

Local Member:  Given by case in Appendices 1 to 3 Unrestricted 

 
 

Introduction 

  
1. This report provides an update on enforcement and monitoring work carried out by the 

Planning Applications Group since the 17
th
 May 2011 Regulation Committee. 

 
2. Summary schedules of all current cases have been produced (see Appendices 1, 2 and 

3). They cover unauthorised breaches of planning control and those occurring on 
permitted sites, primarily waste-related. The emphasis is on live and active cases along 
with those resolved between Meetings. Those cases resolved or sufficiently progressed 
to be removed from our immediate workload are highlighted in bold. 

 

Report Format 

 
3. Cases have been summarised in the appended schedules and presented in this report 

under the following categories: 
 

• Achievements / successes [including measurable progress on existing sites] 

• New cases, especially those requiring Member endorsement for action 

• Significant on-going cases 

• Other cases / issues of interest and requests by Members 
 
4. Members may wish to have verbal updates at Committee on particular sites from the 

schedules, (ideally with prior notice) or reports returned to the next Meeting. The report 
continues to give details of general site monitoring and progress on chargeable 
monitoring for minerals development.  

 

Meeting Enforcement Objectives 

 
Co-ordinating Role 

 
5. I am continuing to receive a number of district enforcement cases, particularly from 

Sevenoaks District and Swale Borough Councils. Whilst returning or transferring those 
to the relevant District Authorities, I am still offering advice on enforcement strategy and 
on the wider controls and powers available. County Officers have adopted a supportive 
role and co-ordinated cases where appropriate. The Milton Creek case at Sittingbourne 
in Swale Borough (see number 12 of Schedule / Appendix 1) is a good example of that 
approach with a pooling of expertise and powers and a sharing of workloads between 
regulators. Landowners and operators, tend to yield and co-operate more quickly when 

Agenda Item 10

Page 61



  

   

Update on Planning Enforcement Issues                  Item 10 
 

 

  

  

they are presented with a united enforcement front.  
 
6. I reported to the last Meeting that the types of cases mentioned within paragraph 5 

above are largely mixed-use contraventions. These fall within district council jurisdiction, 
unless a primary (usually waste-related) County planning use is evident. Our 
Enforcement Protocol with Kent district councils and fairly recent case law in R (East 
Sussex County Council) v Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government 
and Robins (2010) require that ‘Unless the breach involves a purely ‘county matter’, the 
district council should then initiate any necessary enforcement action’. The County 
Council is obliged to relinquish such cases to the relevant district council. Nevertheless, 
we still attempt to assist in an advisory capacity.  

 
Consultation on draft National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 

 
7. The County Council has recently been consulted on the Government’s proposed 

streamlining of national planning guidance. The intention is to bring together all current 
Planning Policy Guidance (PPGs), Planning Policy Statement (PPSs) and related 
supplementary guidance into one all-embracing and simplified document. The aim is to 
reduce over a thousand combined pages down to around fifty. 

 
8. The County Council will produce one co-ordinated response and contribute to various 

Peer Group responses, such as the Planning Officers Society (POS) and the National 
Association for Planning Enforcement Officers (NAPE).   

 
9. Of relevance to this Committee, is the proposed removal of PPG 18 ‘Enforcing Planning 

Control’. This forms the common and agreed basis for planning enforcement. It informs 
what might be expected of the service and proscribes how local authorities should carry 
out the function in a balanced and proportionate way. It also promotes consistency and 
fairness.   

 
10. Whilst the aim of streamlining national planning policy is acknowledged, it would 

nonetheless take away a detailed body of guidance, relied upon by staff engaged in 
enforcement action. That support is particularly important at Public Inquiry. Indeed, 
County Council Proofs of Evidence are always seated in such policy guidance, which is 
relied upon as a pre-agreed framework for our case. I am concerned that, added to 
limited mention of planning enforcement in the Localism Bill, a policy vacuum is starting 
to emerge in this challenging field of planning.  

 
11. Two bullet points concerning planning enforcement have already been sent to the 

Planning Officers Society as part of a collegiate response to the Government’s 
consultation. They are:  

 

• Enforcement in relation to minerals and waste planning is an important issue and the 
NPPF should provide a high level policy framework for planning enforcement issues; 
and 

• The removal of a well-rehearsed and detailed body of planning policy and guidance 
would be acutely felt at Public Inquiries, particularly in the minerals and waste 
enforcement field.  It is likely that the increased ambiguity that the loss of more 

Page 62



  

   

Update on Planning Enforcement Issues                  Item 10 
 

 

  

  

detailed policy and guidance would cause would engender a more adversarial 
approach in that forum. 

 

12. I would add that a loss of common policy ground among local planning authorities would 
very likely lead to inconsistency of approach in enforcement matters. That could 
potentially weaken the overall service.  

 
13. Should the confirmed NPPF not include sufficient policy context for planning 

enforcement, the County Council would need to fall back on the emerging Minerals & 
Waste Development Framework (MWDF) and our agreed Enforcement Protocol. In 
anticipation of this, I reported to the last meeting on the following draft policy which is 
proposed for inclusion within the document:   

 
“The County Council will carry out its planning enforcement functions within the terms of 
its own Enforcement Protocol (and any subsequent variations) and specifically for 
waste-related matters, in light of the European Union Waste Framework Directive.”  
 

14. If eventually enshrined as County Council policy, this would give in a sense the 
opportunity for a local version of the current PPG18 (Enforcing Planning Control), 
expanded to include case law precedents and examples of good practice gleaned from 
peer group networks. Either way, the Regulation Committee would have a pivotal role in 
endorsing and fine-tuning such policy guidance. The support of Members to a set of 
operational principles would undoubtedly prove crucial in underpinning any enforcement 
action taken.    

 
Consultation on proposed revisions to village green status.  

 
15. A further consultation concerns Village Green Policy. This comes under the remit of this 

Committee and has general planning aspects. Under the Chairman’s guidance a 
response will be made to DEFRA through a combination of the Planning Applications 
Group and Public Rights of Way and Commons Registration. 

 
Consultation by Natural England on new enforcement powers 
 

16. A general consultation by Natural England (NE) is also current. It concerns a new 
enforcement regime to protect wildlife and the natural environment, including Sites of 
Special Scientific Interest (SSSI). This would also cover breaches of the Environmental 
Impact Assessment (Agriculture) Regulations.  

 
17. Until recently, NE advise that the only options available to tackle most breaches of 

regulations were either to issue warning letters and cautions or to proceed to full criminal 
prosecution. That has changed in the wake of the decision by DEFRA to enable Natural 
England to impose “civil sanctions” against alleged illegal activities and order the 
restoration of environmental damage. A ‘half-way’ house would be to accept voluntary 
enforcement undertakings where legislation has been breached. 

 
18. I intend to reply in a positive vein, since complementary and enhanced powers of this 

kind can only improve the level and scope of environmental protection that is currently 

Page 63



  

   

Update on Planning Enforcement Issues                  Item 10 
 

 

  

  

available.  It would also help to share the public enforcement burden in the sensitive 
environments that qualify for these new sanctions.  

 
EA training initiative 

 
19. The Environment Agency has been re-structuring and re-deploying its more specialist 

personnel. It was therefore thought opportune by them to invite their planning 
counterparts to a workshop session on planning liaison and enforcement issues. I 
welcome this invitation since it will allow some consultation issues over planning 
applications to be aired and for the now improved enforcement relationship to be further 
cemented.  
 
 Case focus 

 
20. Since the last Meeting resources have been focussed on 6 sites where formal 

enforcement action has been taken, 3 cases where investigations are underway and a 
further 2 cases have been satisfactorily progressed. Amongst formal monitoring visits on 
permitted sites there have been 13 chargeable and 19 non-chargeable visits. 

 

 

Achievements / Successes [including measurable progress on sites] 

 

Shaw Grange, Charing (Member: Richard King) 
 
21. Members are very familiar with this site (see summary details under Appendix 1, 

Schedule 1, No. 1). It has been acquired by the County Council after a long enforcement 
battle with the previous owner and I can now report that it has essentially been restored. 
The former landfill section has been lined across its surface, then covered with soil, 
smoothly contoured and seeded with a wild flower mix. Tree-planting will take place in 
the coming growing season, from October onwards. Gaps in the site perimeter fence are 
currently being bridged. Leachate is also under active review. The aim is to create a 
landscape asset from a former contravention site, close to local residents. I shall keep 
Members informed of the progress in absorbing the site back into its sensitive AONB 
setting.   

 

 

Four Gun Field, Otterham Quay Lane, Upchurch (Member: Keith Ferrin) 
 
22. A further achievement since the last Meeting concerns this long standing case of alleged 

waste-related activities on this former lawful brickfield site, at Upchurch. Summary 
particulars are given under Appendix 1, Schedule 1, No. 10.  

 
23. The site remains quiet and inactive. The County Council’s Enforcement Notice has been 

confirmed and the remaining items of compliance are now the subject of planning 
applications to Swale Borough Council (SBC). These seek to retain certain site 
infrastructure (the site office, turning area, wheel-spinner and so on). A consultation has 
been received and my reply is attached for Members endorsement. SBC is the 
determining authority and now the first port of call for any question as to what planning 

Page 64



  

   

Update on Planning Enforcement Issues                  Item 10 
 

 

  

  

use might be carried out under the B2 (General Industrial) Lawful Use on site. The 
Enforcement Notice is available to prevent the kind of unacceptable use described within 
its terms, which should now be in the past. All other planning and enforcement aspects 
now fall to SBC to manage and control.      

 
24. I shall inform Members of the outcome of the current planning applications submitted to 

SBC. Otherwise, apart from attending case conferences at SBC Offices, under the 
chairmanship of their Chief Executive, I am looking to draw back from the case in favour 
of other sites. I shall however maintain meaningful contact with the Borough Council and 
local residents, until a more permanent planning solution is found at the site. I shall 
assist in that endeavour, in the public interest but SBC is now the all-purpose lead 
authority in the case (i.e. development management, forward planning, enforcement and 
environmental health). 

 

New Cases, especially those requiring action / Member support 

 

25. Three new cases have arisen since the last Meeting. They include: the former Chelsfield 
Ammunition Depot, Shacklands Road, Shoreham (see Appendix / Schedule 1, no. 7); 
Unit 15A, Ridham Dock Industrial Estate, Nr Sittingbourne (see Appendix / Schedule 1, 
no. 13) and finally, Easy Load, Dartford Heath (see Appendix / Schedule 2, no. 2). 

 
26. These alleged contraventions have been (or are being) investigated and addressed as 

summarised within the attached schedules.  

 

Significant on-going cases    
 
27. I would refer Members to the ‘Achievements’ section from paragraphs 21 to 24. Two 

very notable and demanding cases – Shaw Grange and Four Gun Field - have been 
brought to a reduced and more manageable level in the context of the general 
enforcement workload reported elsewhere in these papers.  

 

Other cases / issues of interest and requests from Members 
 
28. I would refer Members to the extended section on ‘Meeting Enforcement Objectives’ 

between paragraphs 5 to 19 of this report, concerning our advisory and co-ordinating 
role in complex multi-agency cases. Also, the raft of consultations and the responses 
sent or contemplated in fields of interest to this Committee 

 

Monitoring  

 

Monitoring of permitted sites and update on chargeable monitoring 
 
29. In addition to our general visits to sites as a result of planning application work, we also 

undertake routine visits to formally monitor sites.  Since the last Regulation Committee, 
we have made a further 13 chargeable monitoring visits to mineral and waste sites and 
19 non-chargeable visits to sites not falling within the chargeable monitoring regime.  

 

Page 65



  

   

Update on Planning Enforcement Issues                  Item 10 
 

 

  

  

 

 

Resolved or mainly resolved cases requiring monitoring 
  
30. Alongside the chargeable monitoring regime there is also a need to maintain a watching 

brief on resolved or mainly resolved enforcement cases which have the potential to 
recur.  

 
31. Cases are periodically removed to make way for others when the situation on site has 

been stabilised; restoration or acceptable restoration has been achieved, a district or 
Environment Agency (EA) remit confirmed (or with action being a realistic possibility by 
them). Another occasion is where a planning application would address the various 
issues and there is the realistic prospect of one being submitted. Cases then go onto a 
‘reserve’ data base, with an in-built monitoring commitment; ready to be returned to the 
Committee’s agenda should further enforcement issues emerge or a positive planning 
solution becomes available. An example this time is Longton Woods, Detling (see 
Schedule 1, Appendix 1 and No.2).  

 

32. There is a running list of sites which fall within this category, against which priorities are 
drawn and enforcement monitoring checks are made.  

 

Conclusion 
 
33. The cases reported conform to an emerging pattern. On the one hand, set-piece cases 

such as Shaw Grange and Four Gun Field are coming to a tentative close. On the other; 
difficult district enforcement matter cases are being increasingly referred to us. These 
are being assessed for a County locus and if missing returned (or transferred to the 
appropriate authority) in favour of a consultative and advisory role. That support, drawing 
on our expertise and experience in major and complex enforcement cases has proved 
decisive on a number of occasions. However, our involvement has to be circumspect in 
planning legal terms, given the case law quoted under paragraph 6 of this report and 
tempered by the demands of our own County Matter enforcement workload.  

 

Recommendation 
 

34. I RECOMMEND that MEMBERS: 
 
(i) ENDORSE the actions taken or contemplated on the respective cases set out in 

paragraphs 5 to 24 above and those contained within Schedules 1 and 2 of 
Appendices 1 and 2. 

 

  
Case Officers:   Robin Gregory                                                                     01622  221067        
 
Background Documents: see heading  

 

Page 66



 

 

 

 

Regulation Committee – 7
th 

September 2011          Appendix 1  

 

Active Enforcement Cases 

  

Schedule 1: Contraventions on (part) unauthorised sites 

 
 

  

Site & Case Reference 

 

 

Alleged Breach 

 

Objectives / Actions 

 

Progress 

 

Notes / Remarks 

 

 

 

 

1 

 

 

Ashford 

 

DC3/AS/03/COMP/0090 

Shaw Grange, Charing 

 

(Member: Richard King) 

 

 

 

 

Previous multiple breaching 

of landfill permissions, 

Enforcement Notices and 

High Court Injunctions. 

  

 

 

 

To secure restoration of the 

site in the public interest. 

 

 

 

The landfill site has now 

been sealed, restored, 

contoured and seeded with 

a wild flower mix. The site 

is being left to settle, with 

leachate under active 

review. Gaps in the 

perimeter fencing are 

being bridged. 

 

 

 

The neighbouring 

residential park has been 

kept informed of progress 

and any ‘day-to-day’ 

disturbance has been dealt 

with promptly. Final tree 

planting will take place 

from October onwards. 

P
a
g
e
 6

7



 

 

 

 

 

  

Site & Case Reference 

 

 

Alleged Breach 

 

Objectives / Actions 

 

Progress 

 

Notes / Remarks 

 
 

 

 

2 

 

Maidstone 

 

DC3/MA/11/COMP/ 

Longton Woods, 

Detling 

 

(Member: Ms Jenny 

Whittle) 

 

 

 

 

The alleged depositing of 

waste materials in woodland 

 

 

 

 

To investigate and establish 

whether the reported activity 

falls within the County 

Council’s planning 

enforcement remit. 

 

 

 

 

Access to the woodland is 

through a metal gate 

leading directly from the 

A249. The gate was found 

to be insecure and two 

small stockpiles of mixed 

waste materials fly-tipped 

just inside the entrance. 

 

 

 

 

The landowner was advised 

to remove the material and 

secure the site. That has 

now happened and the site 

is restored. I shall therefore 

remove from these papers. 

 

 

 

 

3 

 

Sevenoaks 

 

DC3/SE/11/COMP/ 

Marwood House 

Crockenhill 

 

(Member: Roger Gough) 

 

 

 

 

The importation, depositing, 

land raising and storage of 

waste materials on 

agricultural land. 

 

 

 

 

To investigate and establish 

whether the reported activity 

falls within the County 

Council’s planning 

enforcement remit. If not, to 

advise and assist in brokering 

a solution to the site given its 

scale and impact. 

 

 

 

 

Sevenoaks DC (SDC) 

have jurisdiction over the 

site, given the equestrian 

development and caravan 

park with ancillary 

storage. Importation of 

construction spoil has 

ceased. 

 

 

 

 

The County Council’s and 

EA joint intervention has 

brought importation to a 

halt. Nevertheless, it is for 

SDC to consolidate the 

position, under any advice 

they may request from KCC 

and the EA.   

 

P
a
g
e
 6

8



 

 

 

 

  

Site & Case Reference 

 

 

Alleged Breach 

 

Objectives / Actions 

 

Progress 

 

Notes / Remarks 

 

 

4 

 

 

 

DC3/SE/11/COMP/ 

Willow Farm 

Crockenhill 

 

(Member: Roger Gough) 

 

The importation and 

depositing of waste 

materials to raise the land. 

 

 

To investigate and establish 

whether the reported activity 

falls within the County 

Council’s planning 

enforcement remit. 

 

 

Waste materials have been 

imported and deposited on 

the land to develop 

(district sanctioned) 

earthbunds to form 

enclosures in the form of 

manure pits to store animal 

waste generated internally 

on the farm landholdings 

prior to being spread on 

the farmland as a fertilizer. 

 

 

This represents a district 

rather than County Council 

case. It has therefore been 

returned to SDC to regulate 

together with the 

Environment Agency. There 

has been no further 

complaint and I shall 

therefore remove from 

these schedules.   
 

 

5 

 

 

 

 

SE/10/03196/FUL. 

Brasted Sandpits 

Brasted 

 

(Member: Richard Parry) 

 

 

Delayed restoration of a 

former sand quarry with 

some unauthorised infilling. 

 

To achieve restoration to 

original levels, in compliance 

with the County Council’s 

confirmed Enforcement 

Notice. 

 

The EA pursued the errant 

tipping through the courts, 

resulting in the site being 

sold to the adjoining Golf 

Club. A planning 

application has since been 

submitted to SDC for a 9 

hole par 3 Golf Course, 

completion of restoration 

and a Golf Academy. 

 

County Council officers 

were consulted by SDC on 

the original set of proposals 

and replied in a positive 

vein. That application has 

since been superseded and 

our views invited once 

more. I intend to reply 

largely as before and 

commend this creative 

solution to delayed 

restoration of a former sand 

quarry.  

 

P
a
g
e
 6

9



 

 

 

 

  

Site & Case Reference 

 

 

Alleged Breach 

 

Objectives / Actions 

 

Progress 

 

Notes / Remarks 

 

 

6 

 

 

DC3/SE/11/COMP/ 

Mussenden Lane 

Horton Kirby 

 

(Member: Roger Gough) 

 

 

The importation and 

depositing of waste 

materials on agricultural 

land. 

 

 

To investigate and establish 

whether the reported activity 

falls within the County 

Council’s planning 

enforcement remit. 

 

 

Small stockpiles of inert 

waste materials from 

external ground works 

were found deposited on 

the land without authority. 

Sevenoaks D.C. and the 

Environment Agency are 

both investigating the 

activity.  

 

 

Whilst the case fell within 

the planning remit of 

Sevenoaks DC, the errant 

stockpiles of spoil were 

removed by the landowner 

under advice from the 

County Council. It remains 

for SDC and the EA to 

monitor continued 

compliance. I shall 

therefore remove from 

these schedules. 

  

 

7 

 

 

 

 

 

Former MOD Chelsfield 

Ammunition Depot, 

Shacklands Road, 

Shoreham 

 

(Member: Roger Gough) 

 

 

Shoreham Parish Council 

reported to KCC the 

presence of a mobile crusher 

at the above site. It is located 

within the Metropolitan 

Green Belt and AONB. 

 

To investigate and establish 

whether the reported activity 

falls within the County 

Council’s planning 

enforcement remit. 

 

 

Investigations have taken 

place. The crusher was 

being stored and not used. 

There was no detectable 

waste management use 

and jurisdiction remains 

with Sevenoaks DC. 

  

 

The site has a complex 

planning history and 

includes recent complaints 

of non-compliance with the 

B8 Lawful Use for storage 

& distribution. That 

however is a SDC matter to 

deal with. I now intend to 

remove from these 

schedules.  

  

P
a
g
e
 7

0



 

 

 

  

Site & Case Reference 

 

 

Alleged Breach 

 

Objectives / Actions 

 

Progress 

 

Notes / Remarks 

 

 

 

 

8 

 

Shepway 

 

DC3/SH/10/COMP/A02 

Keith Cornell Waste Paper 

Ltd, Lympne Industrial 

Park, Lympne 

 

(Member: Ms Susan 

Carey) 

 

 

 

 

 

Alleged unauthorised waste-

related recycling use on 

industrial land resulting in 

local residential complaints 

of noise and fire risk. 

 

 

 

To achieve a reduction in the 

current amenity impacts 

through voluntary restraint, 

pending submission of a 

retrospective planning 

application. 

 

 

 

 

The operator has 

voluntarily re-located the 

noisy bottle recycling use 

away from those affected. 

Indeed, local residents 

have submitted noise logs 

confirming a definite 

benefit. However, they 

also report a continuing 

and general noise problem. 

The applicant’s own noise 

adviser points to enhanced 

acoustic fencing at the 

estate perimeter, as the 

likely solution. 

 

 

 

 

Negotiations are proceeding 

with the estate landowner 

for enhanced amenity 

fencing. Meanwhile, a draft 

retrospective application has 

been received for comment 

by officers.  A potential 

solution to this vexed issue 

is slowly emerging. I would 

seek contingency support 

however for the service of 

an Enforcement Notice, 

should a viable solution 

flounder. 

 

9 

 

 

 

DC3/SH/11/COMP/A02 

Moores Turf & Topsoil 

Brenzett 

 

(Member: Ms Carole 

Waters) 

 

 

Waste material stockpiles 

encroaching into the 

countryside without 

authority. 

 

 

To arrest and retract the 

alleged breach.  

 

 

 

The alleged breach has 

been urgently addressed 

within the time frame of a 

recent and now granted 

Lawful Use  Certificate for   

inert waste processing on 

site.  

 

 

Compliance has been 

reached, without the need 

for any formal enforcement 

action. The Lawful Use and 

related boundaries have 

been carefully drawn and 

should ensure an overall 

improvement in the 

organisation and standard of 

operation at the site. I shall  

continue to monitor the site. 

 

P
a
g
e
 7

1



 

 

 

 

 

  

Site & Case Reference 

 

 

Alleged Breach 

 

Objectives / Actions 

 

Progress 

 

Notes / Remarks 

 

 

 

 

10 

 

 

Swale 

 

DC3/SW/04/COMP/0059 

Four Gun Field, Upchurch 

 

(Member: Keith Ferrin) 

 

 

 

 

Alleged waste activities on a 

former brickfield site with 

an associated lawful use.  

 

 

 

To ensure that no waste-

related use is carried out on 

site, particularly given its 

sensitivity close to housing. 

 

 

 

 

 

Compliance is now being 

sought with the County 

Council’s confirmed 

Enforcement Notice. That 

is by means of planning 

applications submitted to 

Swale BC for retention of 

site infrastructure. 

 

 

 

 

The case is reported in more 

detail between paragraphs 

22 and 24 of these papers.  

 

 

11 
 

DC3/SW/11/COMP/ 

APM Metals 

Sittingbourne 

 

(Member: Mike Whiting) 

 

 

Unusual site traffic 

movements disrupting peak-

hour flows.  

 

To urgently alleviate the 

problem. 

 

Swale BC hold jurisdiction 

but the operator was 

contacted by County 

officers and a practical 

solution found. Phased use 

of the site was organised 

by radio, using remote 

parking spots. 

 

 

Essential site improvements 

(required by the EA) have 

restricted operational space 

on site, decanting site 

vehicles onto the road. The 

operator was quick to 

respond, though an element 

of the problem remains. 

Works are not yet complete 

but the EA are applying the 

necessary pressure. 

 

P
a
g
e
 7

2



 

 

 

 

  

Site & Case Reference 

 

 

Alleged Breach 

 

Objectives / Actions 

 

Progress 

 

Notes / Remarks 

 

 

12 
 

DC3/SW/11/COMP/ 

Milton Creek 

Sittingbourne. 

 

(Member: Mike Whiting) 

 
 

 

Over stacking and stock-

piling of site materials 

causing collapse of the creek 

bank structure, resulting in 

the blockage of water flow 

within the creek and 

obstruction to navigation.  

This partly involves alleged 

trespass onto Medway Ports 

Authority land.  

 

 

To see whether enforcement 

of the district planning 

permission for production of 

‘growing media’ (i.e. soil-

based compost) at the site, 

warrants the further 

intervention of the County 

Council? 

 

A joint meeting involving 

officers from KCC, Swale 

B.C., the Environment 

Agency and Medway Ports 

Authority has prompted an 

on-going investigation into 

the problem. There is no 

direct County Council 

remit but a team co-

ordinating role has been 

adopted. 

 

 

The pooling of powers from 

a range of regulatory bodies 

should prove sufficient to 

ensure a reversal of damage 

on site and in the water 

channel. Swale BC holds 

the lead and the EA, 

Medway Ports Authority 

and SBC Technical Services 

have the task of finding an 

engineering solution to the 

overall problem. I shall keep 

Members informed of 

progress, as SBC drive the 

case. 

 

 

13  

 

KCC/SW0194/2011 

SITA UK Limited 

Unit 15A  

Ridham Dock Industrial 

Estate 

 

(Members:  Mr M.Whiting 

& Mr A.Whillicombe) 

 

 

Alleged unauthorised wood- 

shredding.  

 

To seek to regularise the on-

site wood-shredding 

activities thorough 

submission of a retrospective 

planning application. 

 

SITA secured the use of 

the site earlier this year 

and stopped the activity. 

They then applied for 

permission. The case is 

was due to be considered 

at yesterday’s Planning 

Applications Committee, 

with a recommendation for 

conditional planning 

permission.  

  

 

I shall inform Members of 

the outcome of the 

application at the Meeting.  

 

 

P
a
g
e
 7

3



 

 

 

 

 

 

Schedule 2: Alleged breaches on Permitted Minerals & Waste Sites     Appendix 2 
 

 
  

Site & Case Reference 

 

 

Alleged Breach 

 

Objectives / Actions 

 

Progress 

 

Notes / Remarks 

 

 

 

 

1 

 

Ashford 

 

DC3/AS/COMP/ 

Ripleys Scrap Metal 

Recycling  

Tennyson Road 

Ashford 

 

(Member:George 

Koowaree) 

 

 

 

 

Over-stacking of permitted 

metal stockpiles and related 

additional noise and 

disturbance. 

 

 

 

To urgently bring the 

stockpiles back down and in 

compliance.   

 

 

 

The company Managing 

Director has taken 

personal ownership of the 

problem. He traced the 

issue to some outdated site 

machinery and made other 

site adjustments. He has 

further met with those 

living next to the site and 

offered an enhanced 

‘buffer-strip’, with road 

surfacing, improved 

landscaping and gated 

private access.   

 

 

 

 

The current over-stacking is 

being addressed by the 

operators, including the 

acceleration of investment 

into more modern and 

capable machinery. The 

largely voluntary ‘side’ 

improvements are in the 

form of a draft planning 

application, which is due to 

be submitted shortly.  I shall 

keep Members informed of 

these proposals, which are 

styled very much within the 

spirit of the current 

Localism Bill.  

 

P
a
g
e
 7

4



 

 

 

  

Site & Case Reference 

 

 

Alleged Breach 

 

Objectives / Actions 

 

Progress 

 

Notes / Remarks 

 

 

 

 

2 

 

Dartford 
 

DA/10/1232 

Easy Load Ltd 

Dartford Heath 

 

(Member: Jan Ozog) 

 

 

 

 

Alleged unauthorised use of 

soil screening machine on 

site.  

 

 

It has also been reported that 

the cross-sectional height of 

machinery, very recently 

permitted has been breached, 

creating a potential noise, 

dust and visual problem. 

 

 

 

To have the screener 

removed.  

 

 

 

To assess the alleged 

additional amenity impacts 

being caused, to see if they 

are acceptable within 

planning terms. Failing that, 

to ensure that the recently 

permitted elevations are 

honoured. 

 

 

 

 

The screener is due to be 

removed in favour of the 

permitted ‘Trommel’ 

recycling machine. 

 

 

 

The permission granted in 

March 2011gives the 

opportunity for higher waste 

recovery rates and improved 

controls on site. That 

potential benefit however, is 

at risk of being over-

shadowed by the alleged 

breach of the new 

permission. Should a 

retrospective application not 

be supportable by officers, I 

would seek Members 

support for the service of 

Breach of Condition Notices 

to correct any site 

irregularities. 

 

 

 

 

3 

 

Tonbridge & Malling 

 

DC3/TM/08/COMP/0013 

Aylesford Metals Co. Ltd, 

Mill Hall, Aylesford 

 

(Member:  Peter 

Homewood) 

 

 

 

Complaints from local 

residents of out of hours 

working and visual amenity 

impacts from the over- 

stacking of scrap.  

 

 

 

To ensure compliance with 

the base planning permission 

and related Enforcement 

Notice. 

 

 

 

Re-location holds the key 

to resolving issues on site. 

A suitable site has now 

been identified and a 

planning application for 

relocation is imminent.  If 

granted, a legal agreement 

would secure an end to the 

present use of Mill Hall. 

 

 

 

 

The site is being closely 

monitored whilst re-location 

is sought. Officers are 

acting as a bridge and 

solving any issues between 

the operator and local 

residents as they arise.  

 

 

P
a
g
e
 7

5



 

 

 

  

Site & Case Reference 

 

 

Alleged Breach 

 

Objectives / Actions 

 

Progress 

 

Notes / Remarks 

 

 

4 

 

TM/09/3231 

New Earth Composting 

Facility, Blaise Farm 

Quarry, Kings Hill, West 

Malling, Kent, ME19 4PN 

 

(Members: Mrs S Hohler, 

Mrs T Dean and Mr R 

Long) 

 

 

 

Alleged breaches of 

planning permission relating 

to odour nuisance in parts of 

Offham, Kings Hill and 

West Malling since the 

beginning of 2010 (and 

ongoing). 

 

Alleged breach of 

Environmental Permit. 

 

 

To investigate concerns and 

ensure that the terms of the 

planning permission are 

complied with.  The EA 

would separately enforce the 

terms of the Environmental 

Permit (the main odour 

controls) 

 

A submission has also been 

made pursuant to condition 5 

of planning permission 

TM/09/3231 to regularise a 

number of discrepancies 

between the permitted and 

“as built” facility and provide 

for improved ventilation 

control.  This is currently the 

subject of consultation with 

relevant parties. 

 

 

The application has been 

supplemented since May 

2011 and the number of 

complaints has reduced 

significantly in recent 

months, as further 

improvements have been 

implemented at the site.   

 

Officers expect to report 

this application to KCC’s 

Planning Applications 

Committee on 11 October 

2011.  Further information 

on these issues will be 

included in the relevant 

Planning Applications 

Committee report. 

 

 

A close working relation-

ship is being maintained 

with relevant parties and it 

is hoped that any future 

complaints will continue to 

become less frequent until 

they become exceptions 

rather than the rule (as we 

would expect from any well 

run waste management 

facility). 

 

 

7 

 

TM/08/175        

Gallaghers Ltd 

Workhouse Lane Pit, 

Ryarsh. 

 

(Mrs Sarah Hohler) 

 

 

 

Alleged breach of site 

restoration scheme through 

the introduction of new 

materials on site.  

 

To halt the activity. 

 

On receiving complaints 

from local residents, the 

company were approached 

and importation of 

materials was stopped. 

 

Swift intervention by 

officers has dealt with the 

matter. The site will be 

monitored though to prevent 

any recurrence. I am 

unaware of any further 

disruption of this sort.  

 

 

 

 

P
a
g
e
 7

6



 

 

 

 

Schedule 3: Alleged breaches on Permitted County Council Developments    Appendix 3 
 

 
  

Site & Case Reference 

 

 

Alleged Breach 

 

Objectives / Actions 

 

Progress 

 

Notes / Remarks 

 

 

 

 

1 

 

Swale 
 

Tunstall School 

Bredgar 

 

(Members: Mike Whiting 

& Alan Willicombe) 

 

 

 

 

Alleged breach of planning 

permission, concerning 

informal car parking in front 

of the Listed School 

building, which itself is 

within a Conservation Area. 

 

 

 
To help alleviate the parking 

issue at the site and within its 

village context.  

 

Whilst the School are not 

actually in breach of any 

planning permission, we are 

continuing to monitor the 

situation. 

 

 

 

Given the lack of progress 

since the last unsuccessful 

planning application, it is 

clear that no one party is in 

a position to remedy the 

school parking problem on 

their own, and therefore a 

group of local 

representatives is needed 

to try and broker a 

mutually acceptable 

solution.  

 

 

 

 

In the meantime, the 

Diocese and the Education 

Authority are considering 

improving upon their earlier 

submitted planning package 

to incorporate some 

properly managed parking 

on the school site with high 

quality landscape planting 

to complement the 

Conservation Area setting. 

 

I have being investigating 

progress and I shall report 

on any positive moves 

forward at the Meeting. 

 

 

P
a
g
e
 7

7



P
a
g
e
 7

8

T
h

is
 p

a
g

e
 is

 in
te

n
tio

n
a
lly

 le
ft b

la
n
k



Sharon Thompson 

Head of Planning Applications  
1 

                      APPENDIX 4 
 

Rob Bailey 

Planning Services 

Swale Borough Council 

East Street 

Sittingbourne 

Kent. ME18 3HT 

 Planning Applications Group  

 First Floor, Invicta House 

 County Hall 

 Maidstone 

 Kent ME14 1XX 

 Tel:   01622 221067 

 Fax:   01622 221072 

 Texbox:  08458 247905 

 e-mail: robin.gregory@kent.gov.uk 
Ask for:  Robin Gregory 

Your Ref:  Case 16772 
Our Ref:  PAG/SW/04/COMP/0059 

Date:  30 August 2011 

 
Dear Mr Bailey, 
 

Re:  Application SW/11/0866 Stationing of portable office / rest-room.  

Application SW/11/0867  Formation of areas of hard-standing, siting of wheel-

spinner, CCTV cameras and stanchion,  

Four Gun Field, Otterham Quay Lane, Upchurch 
 
Introduction 
 
Thank you for your consultation on the two current retrospective planning applications for this site. 
They have been made to your Authority as they have been linked by the applicant to the B2 
Lawful Use originally granted by Swale Borough Council. The County Council defers to you as the 
determining authority.   
 
The County Council’s Role 
 
The County Council has had an association with the site for over 8 years; the first-half in fending-
off potential planning contraventions and the second-half, in taking conclusive enforcement action. 
I attach a copy of our confirmed Enforcement Notice for your convenience.  
 
Enforcement Notice 
 
The Enforcement Notice prohibits any material change of use (within the terms proscribed) from 
the B2 Lawful Use (and part-residential) to an independent waste management use and related 
‘facilitating’ development (i.e. the means used to carry out the unauthorised use). It is this latter 
part, which the planning applications are attempting to address. There was the option on the part 
of the owner / occupiers to remove the items listed under the Enforcement Notice or alternatively 
to yield to planning control through means of these applications. If they had taken neither course, 
they would have opened themselves to prosecution by the County Council.   
 
Validation 
 
The County Council did not have sight of the applications during the validation stage. That has 
unfortunately allowed a number of alleged inaccuracies to creep into them. Those in the County 

Page 79



Sharon Thompson 

Head of Planning Applications  
2 

Council’s opinion are at odds with the Planning Enforcement Appeal Decision and recent High 
Court rulings.   
 
Items covered in relation to the Enforcement Notice 
 
The County Council confirms that the applications cover the correct operational development on 
site but the fence-meshing is not included. It remains on site in breach of the Enforcement Notice. 
The County Council awaits urgent confirmation of either its immediate removal or urgent inclusion 
within the current applications. It is not permitted development; it is caught by the Notice and is 
unlawful.  
 
Similarly, the proposed internal ‘dog-leg’ to the main compound footprint (so as to avoid the 
residential corner of the site) would require the erection of new fencing. Minor operational 
permitted development rights would undoubtedly be claimed (see 1.5 of the Supporting 
Statement); however the side-track may be a highway (there is also a nearby public footpath), 
potentially limiting the height of any fence to 1 metre. That would be inadequate for purpose. 
Anything higher in those set of circumstances would potentially require planning permission.  
 
Content of applications 
 
The applications contain only basic information. There is one drawing identifying the position of 
items on site.  There are no elevational drawings, with reliance instead on photographs and no 
cross-sectional engineering detail of the hard-surface turning area. Should Borough Members be 
minded to grant permission, this lack of precision would make enforcement more difficult. 
 
The Supporting Statement 
 
The supporting statement strays within section 3, from explanation of the proposals into planning 
legal comment on the applicant’s perception of the appeal dismissal against service of the County 
Council’s Enforcement Notice and the outcome of the High Court Appeals. The County Council 
does not wish to become drawn into these arguments within the context of regularising 
applications for site infrastructure. That would need to take place through more appropriate 
channels. Nevertheless, the applicant has chosen to introduce the subject in a public arena and 
some comment from the County Council is required.   
 
The use on site  
 
The lawful use of the site is for B2 General Industrial (an open-use version). B2 ‘concrete 
crushing’ has not been ‘legally established’ on site, as asserted. Only an unlawful use, as 
described within the Enforcement Notice has been carried out. Unlawful remnants of that use 
remain. It is acknowledged however, that the applications seek to regularise that position, in the 
context of the B2 lawful use. 

Notwithstanding that, the County Council would question, an implied and automatic 'return' to 
concrete crushing. There would be many ‘hoops’ to go through before approaching that point. For 
instance, any such use would need to steer away from the terms of the Enforcement Notice.  The 
current applications would need to be granted in their entirety, including the mesh-fencing. Any 
‘secondary’ permission(s) to secure required safeguarding (e.g. screening bunds, enhanced 
fencing and even enclosure within a building) would also need to be in place. Environment Agency 

Page 80



Sharon Thompson 

Head of Planning Applications  
3 

Permitting; Medway Council registration and regulation of mobile plant and machinery and WRAP 
(Waste and Resource Action Programme) compliance would also be required, along with 
adherence to the Noise Abatement Order.  
 
The Enforcement Appeal established that amongst other matters, any such use would have to be 
WRAP compliant. In addition to a full set of planning permissions that clearly has in mind a 
properly organised, safeguarded, managed, specified and conducted use. The WRAP Protocol 
has been dismissed in the application as 'irrelevant'. The opposite is true in the context of the 
currently proposed use. It would have an integral part to play in evaluating the planning status of 
any such use within the B2 Lawful Use and in ensuring the standard of operation required.  
 
Planning conditions if granted 
 
Swale Borough Council is the determining authority on the applications and also for any conditions 
to be attached, if granted.  To assist however, a number of areas for conditions spring to mind. 
 
Firstly, to call in any information that is missing (e.g. construction detail of the hard surface). 
Secondly, to tie the operator to the terms of the applications as submitted (with any negotiated or 
required amendments). Thirdly, to incorporate within a condition the understanding of the use to 
which the operational development would apply (B2 General Industrial) and then specify that the 
B2 use asserted in the applications would not be automatic; rather it would be subject to the 
qualifying ‘hoops’ listed in the last paragraph of page 2 above. The grounds would be ‘for the 
avoidance of doubt and understanding of the context of the operational development the subject 
of these planning permissions’ (or something similar). The County Council has used this 
construction a number of times.  Informatives would be unenforceable. 
 
In addition, operational maintenance of the site surface to and from the wheel-spinner and 
prevention of mud and debris onto the highway could be conditioned, allied with controls of a 
similar nature. Direction of the CCTV cameras into the site would be an example. All of that might 
fall short of hours of working and noise and dust control but any further level of safeguarding 
development required by amenity regulators might conceivably offer a second layer of control. 
Further advice on available controls may be sought from the County Council in that scenario.  
  
Grounds if refused 
 
If either or both of the planning applications are refused, the owner / occupiers would have a duty 
to comply with the County Council’s Enforcement Notice in the same measure. The reasons for 
issuing the Enforcement Notice (see section 4 of the document) may assist in formulating grounds 
of refusal, should that emerge as your recommendation or the will of the Committee.  
 

I trust that this consultee return assists Borough Members in determining the two applications 
 
Yours sincerely, 
 
 
 
 
For Head of Planning Applications 

Page 81



Page 82

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 83



Page 84

This page is intentionally left blank



 1 

      APPENDIX 5 
 

 

IMPORTANT - THIS COMMUNICATION AFFECTS YOUR PROPERTY 

 

TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT 1990 (as amended) 
 

 

 

ENFORCEMENT NOTICE 
 

ISSUED BY: KENT COUNTY COUNCIL 
 
 
 
1. THIS NOTICE is issued by the Kent County Council because it appears to 

them that there has been a breach of planning control, within paragraph (a) 
of section 171A(1) of the above Act, at the land described below.  They 
consider that it is expedient to issue this notice, having regard to the 
provisions of the development plan and to other material considerations.  
The Annex at the end of this notice and the enclosures to which it refers 
contain important additional information. 

 
2. THE LAND TO WHICH THE NOTICE RELATES 

 

Land at Four Gun Field, Otterham Quay Lane, Upchurch, Kent as shown 
edged thick black on the attached plan. 

 

3. THE BREACH OF PLANNING CONTROL ALLEGED 
 

Without planning permission, the material change of use of the land from 
that described within the Certificate of Lawfulness of Existing Use or 
Development dated 8 May 2001 (as granted on appeal), and the material 
change of use of an additional and smaller area of land (shown within a 
dotted line on the attached plan) from a former residential use, to a sui 
generis waste management use by the carrying out on the land of the 
following waste management activities and related facilitating development:  
 

(a) The importation of waste materials and associated plant and 
machinery for the processing of waste, together with their storage on 
the land; 

(b) The processing of waste concrete and other waste materials by 
crushing, grinding, screening or other operation leading to a size 
reduction of the waste; 

(c) The exportation of size-reduced waste materials.  

(d) The screening and size separation of waste materials and their 
exportation from the site. 

(e) The use of the site for the transfer of waste materials. 

(f) On-site development facilitating the above waste management 
activities, including excavation of the bank of material on site, 
creation of an area of hard surfacing, concrete bases and lighting 
structures, installation of a wheel spinner, weighbridge and the 

Page 85



 2 

stationing and use of office accommodation, welfare facilities, waste 
containers, skips, storage tanks, noise monitoring and dust 
suppression equipment, green fence meshing, perimeter 
landscaping, CCTV cameras and stanchion and residential 
accommodation for the site security guard.  

  

4. REASONS FOR ISSUING THIS NOTICE 
 

It appears to the Council that the above breach of planning control has 
occurred within the last ten years and that in the context of the 
development plan, central government guidance and emerging regional 
policy the development conflicts with relevant policies as summarised 
below:  
 

 

Countryside intrusion 

 
(a) the development represents an unacceptable intrusion into the 

countryside at this sensitive location, which is protected for its own 
sake. It adversely affects rather than conserves, maintains or enhances 
the area and is therefore contrary to Government advice contained 
within PPS7 ‘Sustainable Development within Rural Areas (2004); 
Adopted Kent and Medway Structure Plan (2006) Policies SS8, EN1, 
QL1 and WM2 and Policies SPII, SPV, E1 and E6 of the Swale 
Borough Local Plan First Review Re-Deposit Draft July 2005 and 
Policies SP2, SP5, E1 and E6 of the (pre-publication) Draft Swale 
Borough Local Plan (2008) 

 
 

Erosion of Strategic Gap  
 
(b) the development represents an unacceptable urban intrusion into the 

Medway Towns and Sittingbourne Strategic Gap; a vulnerable area of 
open and undeveloped countryside between Rainham and Upchurch. It 
contributes to the erosion of this protected section of the Thames 
Gateway Planning Area, designated to maintain the separation of the 
Medway Towns and Sittingbourne urban areas. Such an intrusion is 
contrary to Adopted Kent and Medway Structure Plan (2006) Policies 
SS3 and QL4; emerging Regional Plan Policy W17 and Policies TG1, 
E1 and E7 of the Swale Borough Local Plan First Review Re-Deposit 
Draft and Policies TG1, E1 and E7 of the Draft Swale Borough Local 
Plan (2008). 

 

 

Does not demand a rural location 
  

(c) the siting of the development is inappropriate in that it does not 
demand a rural location within the terms of Adopted Kent and Medway 
Structure Plan (2006) Policy SS8 and is adversely impacting upon the 
character, amenity and functioning of the area, particularly adjoining 
residential interests and those using the adjoining Public Right of Way 
and sections of the Saxons Shore Way. This situation is contrary to 
Policy QL1 of the Kent & Medway Structure Plan (2006), Kent Waste 
Local Plan Policies W18, W22, W27 and Policies RC1, E1 and E6 of 
the Swale Borough Local Plan First Review Re-Deposit Draft and 
Policies RC1, E1 and E6 of the Draft Swale Borough Local Plan (2008). 

 

Page 86



 3 

 

 

Not an identified waste location  

 
(d) the site is not identified in the Kent Waste Local Plan as being suitable 

in principle for waste related activities. The activity is in fact causing 
material and unsustainable amenity and environmental impacts on the 
locality and wider afield including in part the servicing of the site 
through potential routeing of Large / Heavy Goods Vehicles through the 
Villages of Upchurch and Lower Halstow, other rural roads and along 
sections of the Saxons Shore Way. The activity is also remote from 
groupings of similar and compatible uses. Overall the development is 
contrary to Policies W7, W9, W18, W19 and W22 of the Kent Waste 
Local Plan.   

 

No overriding case of need  

 
(e) there is no apparent case of need for waste related activities at this 

particular site, to override and justify the adverse material harm being 
caused to the environmental quality and amenity of the area. The waste 
management activities at this location fail to represent the best balance 
between the most efficient and most sustainable method of managing 
the waste streams involved. The underlying sustainability principles of 
the BPEO (Best Practicable Environmental Option) are not reflected in 
the scheme. This state of affairs is contrary to Adopted Kent and 
Medway Structure Plan (2006) Policy WM2 and Policy W6 of the Kent 
Waste Local Plan.  

 

Unsustainability 
 

(f) the  waste management activities at Four Gun Field are not located ‘in 
the right place’ in the context of paragraph 2 of PPS10 (Planning for 
Sustainable Waste Management) and run counter to the principles of 
the waste hierarchy laid down in the Executive Summary of the Waste 
Strategy for England 2007 and contained within Policy WM1 of the 
Kent and Medway Structure Plan (2006). They are further contrary to 
emerging Regional Plan Policy W17; Kent Waste Local Plan Policies 
W7 and W9 and Policy E1 of the Swale Borough Local Plan First 
Review Re-Deposit Draft and Policy E1 of the Draft Swale Borough 
Local Plan (2008). 

 

Amenity impacts to surrounding interests 

 
(g) unacceptable impacts are being caused to residential amenity by virtue 

of noise, dust, odour, fumes, vibration and visual and light intrusion. 
These impacts are disrupting the tranquillity and quality of life of local 
residents to an unacceptable degree. That in turn is contrary to Kent 
and Medway Structure Plan Policies QL1 and NR5; Kent Waste Local 
Plan Policies, W7, W9, W18, W22 and W25 and Policy E2 of the 
Swale Borough Local Plan First Review Re-Deposit Draft and Policy E2 
of the Draft Swale Borough Local Plan (2008). 

 
(h) the pattern of the breach and its potential to be further intensified, is 

placing local residents and the community as a whole, in an increasing 
state of fear and apprehension, concerning the level of amenity impacts 
that may arise, their exposure to them, together with associated health 
risks and damage to their quality of life and wellbeing. Such a state of 
affairs is contrary to: ‘The Key Planning Objectives‘of PPS10 (Planning 

Page 87



 4 

for Sustainable Waste Management), which seeks amongst other 
matters ‘….to secure the recovery of waste without endangering human 
health …. to reflect the concerns and interests of communities’ 
(paragraph 3) by considering  ‘..the cumulative effect on the wellbeing 
of the local community ….and its social cohesion’ (paragraph 29) and 
overall to ensure that  ‘the location of …..[waste] development is 
acceptable’ taking account of the fact that ‘health can be material to 
such decisions’ (paragraph 30). The activity is further contrary to Policy 
QL1 of the Kent & Medway Structure Plan (2006), particularly regarding 
the provision of a healthy, safe and secure environment; Policy W18 of 
the Kent Waste Local Plan (1998) and Policy E2 of the Swale Borough 
Local Plan First Review Re-Deposit Draft and Policy E2 of the Draft 
Swale Borough Local Plan (2008).   

  
(i) unacceptable impacts are being caused to rural amenity by virtue of 

noise, dust, odour, fumes, vibration and visual and light intrusion. 
These impacts are disrupting the tranquillity and quality of life of users 
of this countryside setting, including along the adjoining Public Right of 
Way, in turn subjected to traversing vehicles and plant & machinery 
from the excavation of site banking and along sections of the Saxons 
Shore Way, forming part of some of the available access routes. Such 
impacts are contrary to: Policy QL17 of the Kent & Medway Structure 
Plan (2006) and Policies W22 and W27 of the Kent Waste Local Plan. 

 

Highway Impacts  
 
(j) rural access routes from the north, north-east, east and south-east of 

the site are not well related to the primary and secondary route 
network. In addition, the north-eastern coastal route and some local 
servicing would be directed through Upchurch Village and potentially 
Lower Halstow Village, which is contrary to Policy TP15 of the Kent & 
Medway Structure Plan (2006); Policies W7, W9 and W22 of the Kent 
Waste Local Plan; and Policy T1 of the Swale Borough Local Plan First 
Review Re-Deposit and Policy T1 of the Draft Swale Borough Local 
Plan (2008).  

 
(k) the uncontrolled movement of Large / Heavy Goods Vehicles travelling 

to and from the site, from the north, north-east, east and south-east is 
capable of affecting in a materially adverse way the amenity (by virtue 
of noise, dust, smell, vibration and other emissions) of those coming 
into contact with the vehicles, including, cyclists, pedestrians and those 
resident along such access routes, particularly through the Villages of 
Upchurch and Lower Halstow and along sections of the Saxons Shore 
Way. Such impacts are contrary to Kent & Medway Structure Plan 
(2006) Policy EN14 and QL17; Policies W7, W9, W18, W22 and W27 
of the Kent Waste Local Plan; Policy RC7 of Swale Borough Local Plan 
First Review Re-Deposit Draft and Policy RC7 of the Draft Swale Local 
Plan (2008).  

 

Groundwater / surface water protection 
 
(l) the uncontrolled importation, storage, handling and processing of waste 

on the site, in the absence of a properly constructed operating base 
with impermeable surface and integral drainage is placing surface and 
groundwater resources at unnecessary risk from contamination 
(including through the medium of surface water run-off), which is 
contrary to Kent and Medway Structure Plan (2006) Policy NR5 and 
Kent Waste Local Plan Policies W19 and W20 and Swale Borough 

Page 88



 5 

Local Plan First Review Re-Deposit Draft Policy E2 and Policy E2 of 
the Draft Swale Borough Local Plan (2008). 

 
The Council does not consider that planning permission should be granted 
since planning conditions could not overcome these material planning 
objections. The rights and interests of the landowner(s) have been 
balanced against those people affected by the alleged breach. It is 
considered that proportionate controls are being used to protect the 
enjoyment of local amenity and the quality of residential life and therefore 
no breach under the human rights act is caused in serving this Notice. 
 

 
5. WHAT YOU ARE REQUIRED TO DO 
 

(a) to cease: 
 

(i)  The importation of waste materials and associated plant and 
machinery for the processing of waste, together with their 
storage on the land. 

(ii) The processing of waste concrete and other waste materials 
by crushing, grinding, screening or other operation leading to 
a size reduction of the waste. 

(iii) The exportation of size-reduced waste materials, other than 
to meet the requirements of 5(b) of this Notice. 

(iv) The screening and size separation of waste materials and 
their exportation from the site, other than to meet the terms 
of 5(b) of this Notice. 

(v) The use of the site for the transfer of waste materials.  

(vi) The carrying out of development facilitating the above waste 
management activities, including excavation of the bank of 
material on site, the laying of waste materials to create areas 
of hard surfacing, the use of high-intensity site lighting, the 
stationing and use of office accommodation and welfare 
facilities, containers, skips and storage tanks, the installation 
of amenity safeguarding measures and equipment, CCTV 
camera surveillance and residential accommodation for the 
site security guard.  

 
Time for compliance: 1 day from the date when this Notice takes 
effect. 
 

(b) to remove from the land stockpiles of imported waste materials. 
 

Time for compliance: 2 months from the date when this Notice takes 
effect. 

 
(c) to remove from the land the area of hard surfacing, concrete bases 

and lighting structures, the wheel spinner, weighbridge, office and 
residential accommodation and welfare facilities, containers, skips, 
storage tanks, noise monitoring and dust suppression equipment, 
CCTV cameras and stanchion and green fence meshing. 

 
Time for compliance: 2 months from the date when this Notice takes 
effect. 

 

Page 89



 6 

(d) to remove plant and machinery and vehicles associated with the 
waste management uses alleged in this Notice. 

 
Time for compliance: 2 months from the date when this Notice takes 
effect 

 
(e)  in meeting steps 5 (b) to (d) above:  
 

(i) material required to be removed from the land under 5 (b) 
and 5 (c) above shall be taken to a site permitted to accept 
such waste; 

 
(ii) all vehicles used shall approach and leave the site via 

Otterham Quay Lane / A2, avoiding use of Canterbury Lane, 
Wallbridge Lane and Upchurch Village (see attached ‘Road 
Traffic Compliance Route Plan’); 

 
(iii) removal shall take place in a manner such that the carrying of 

mud and debris onto the public highway is minimised; 
 

(iv) all departing materials shall be sheeted; 
 

(v) activities shall only take place between 0700 to 1800 hours on 
weekdays and 0700 to 1300 hours on Saturdays.  There shall 
be no vehicular movements on Sundays or Public Holidays. 

 
 

6. WHEN THIS NOTICE TAKES EFFECT 
 

This Notice takes effect on the 20 June 2008 unless an appeal is made 
against it beforehand. 

 
 
 
Dated:  ………………………………………………………… 
 
 
 
Signed:   ………………………………………………………… 
 
 
By authorised signatory on behalf of:         County Secretary 

Legal Services 
The Kent County Council 
Sessions House 
County Hall 
Maidstone 
Kent 
ME14 1XQ 
 

Ref: LS/83872/359 

Page 90


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	Minutes , 13/06/2011 Regulation Committee Member Panel
	Minutes , 28/06/2011 Regulation Committee Member Panel
	Minutes , 12/07/2011 Regulation Committee Member Panel
	Minutes , 19/07/2011 Regulation Committee Member Panel

	6 Transport Appeal Statistics
	7 Update on Village Green Issues
	8 Update on the Definitive Map Team casework
	Item 08 Appendix 1
	Item 08 Appendix 2

	9 Gating Orders - Un-named footpath to the rear of Henley Fields, Tenterden
	10 Update on Planning Enforcement Issues
	Item 10 Appendices 1,2,3
	Item 10 Appendix 4
	Item 10 Appendix 5 Plan
	Item 10 Appendix 5


